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ARIEH
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
AUX International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the "Group”), | am pleased to present the
Company's annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
“Year").

During the Year, the Group navigated a complex macroeconomic
environment marked by slowing global growth, structural shifts,
interest rate volatility, and weakened exchange rates. The real
estate sector in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC" or
“China”), being a key economic pillar, continued its adjustment
phase, impacting the property management sector. This has led to
a decline in the number of new contracts entered into by the Group
and the rise of operational costs. To address these challenges, the
Group strategically discontinued its lifestyle entertainment business
(the "Discontinued Operation”), which contributed to a net profit
increase of HK$7.3 million and a total profit of HK$24.0 million for
the Year.

Despite the protracted downturn in China’s real estate sector,
the Group's property management business remained
resilient. Revenue from the property management segment
recorded a modest decline of HK$3.2 million, bringing it to
HK$295.1 million. Such decline reflects the Group's strategic
emphasis on prioritising higher-margin projects and expanding
its presence in the industrial parks projects during the Year.
Although the number of managed projects decreased, the
Group's total gross floor area under management increased
slightly to 9.6 million square metre as at 31 March 2025,
compared to 9.2 million square metre as at 31 March 2024.

To enhance operational efficiency, the Group has streamlined
its value-added services in property management by focusing
on offerings that deliver greater value to property owners.
Specifically, the Group scaled back resource-intensive home
living product retailing to redirect efforts towards bespoke
services better aligned with client needs. Consequently,
revenue from the property management related value-added
services segment declined by HK$30.0 million, from HK$65.5
million to HK$35.5 million during the Year.

As the refinement of the Group’s service portfolio continued,
total revenue for the Year decreased by HK$33.2 million to
HK$330.6 million (2024: HK$363.8 million). Nevertheless, the
Group's focus on higher-margin projects has led to an
improved cost structure. As a result, profit from the property
management segment and the property management related
value-added services segment (together, the “Continued
Operations”) recorded only a marginal decrease of HK$2.7
million from HK$29.2 million to HK$26.5 million for the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about
the long-term potential of the property management industry.
With the Group continuing to be recognized for its service
quality, we believe opportunities will emerge for companies that
can deliver efficiency, innovation, and value-added solutions as
market dynamics evolve and expectations for quality living and
integrated services continue to rise.

To this end, the Group will continue to strengthen its foothold in
high-margin segments, particularly in the management of
industrial parks. The Group also intends to deepen its
engagement with property owners and tenants by leveraging
technology to enhance service delivery, transparency, and
customer experience.

In response to market challenges, we will prioritize risk
management, operational efficiency, and project portfolio
optimization to ensure cash flow security and enhance returns
from managed projects. Our unwavering commitment to the
Company's shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and stakeholders
remains central to our strategic direction. Amid persistent
market uncertainties and evolving global dynamics, we remain
focused on prudent resource management, operational
excellence, and disciplined value-creation opportunities.

Looking ahead, our dedication to delivering sustainable long-
term value remain unwavering. We will closely monitor
macroeconomic developments, leveraging agility and strategic
foresight to adapt to structural shifts. Our objective is to
diversify the Group's income base by capitalizing on favorable
trends and pursuing investments aligned with our long-term
vision.

(3} AUX International Holdings Limited / R = i Bl 2 BB R AR

R 2

RERAK AEEENXEETENRR
ERBNDBBHEELBREE-BEETHH
KA RE HELDGERAREARE N B
ERHERET ﬁ$ilm%ﬁ2%%%%
BEARA - RMAMBEABSRE A
ENERBESTRNEXRSLARES %ﬁ

Bt AEEFAFSEZEENS EMNRSR
T 5 ﬁ%%EI%IEEEEED
AEBLAEE-—TINREXEIREAFPHN
EH UERAMREERBERN RBHAE
MERELEFPER-

EHETHEKE  BRAKELEEEREREE
BEEMEMERMEAREL: Mﬁﬁﬁim
REIRSEEZBEANDHR - HMAHAR
ABRR(TBRDME M HENEEAREDR
ERMEBOAORZL - EFENTEH T
HEMMAE SN2 RGRESD BHMH
BEBEZEINBENERERE ZHMNES
MELENEERERS -

RERK BMBORRHRAFENRE
ﬁﬁ ﬁWHWWW& %%@%E gl
REEZEMERERLREREBEE(-
ﬁﬁmEﬁE‘EEfﬁﬂimﬁLXﬁ
B EERSR BN RERERAEE

WANEREZ T -



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

On behalf of the Board, | wish to extend our sincere gratitude
to our valued Shareholders for your continued support and
confidence in our vision and strategic direction, which underpin
our success. We also deeply appreciate the dedication of our
employees, whose commitment to corporate governance,
transparency, and integrity remains vital to our progress.

Mr. Zheng Jiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREENREDSN

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

During the Year, the Group operated in a persistently
challenging business environment, primarily attributable to the
continued downturn in the real estate sector in China. The
sustained cooling of the property market contributed to a
decline in the commencement of new development projects,
which adversely affected the operating conditions of the
Group's property management segment.

Notwithstanding these sector-specific headwinds, the Group
remained resolute in its commitment to prudent management
and strategic realignment to safeguard long-term business
sustainability. As part of its strategic transformation, the Group
decided in 2023 to discontinue its lifestyle entertainment
business in Hong Kong. This decision was made with a view to
optimising resource allocation and reinforcing the Group's
strategic focus on its core competencies in property
management and related value-added services in the PRC.
During the Year, the closure of the Discontinued Operation
was completed, including completion of all required statutory
procedures and delivery of vacant possession of the relevant
leased premises.

Through this repositioning, the Group aims to enhance
operational efficiency, sharpen its growth trajectory, and
capitalize on opportunities in higher-growth segments.

Continuing Operations

As of 31 March 2025, the number of projects managed by
Shuyi Property Management Services Co., Ltd (“Shuyi
Property”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, decreased to 57 projects from 69 projects as of 31
March 2024, while the aggregate contracted gross floor area
increased from 9.2 million square metre to 9.6 million square
metre.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDN

The reduction in the number of projects under management
as of 31 March 2025 was primarily attributable to the decline in
short-term property management engagements, such as sales
office and pre-sale management services, as well as the
gradual phasing out of projects requiring intensive manpower.
With the industry-wide contraction persisting throughout the
Year, the Group has proactively pursued the optimization of
its project portfolio, with a strategic emphasis on securing
higher-value contracts, such as industrial park management
contracts which generate higher revenue and allow greater
operational efficiency. As a result, the Group recorded
revenue from the property management segment of
approximately HK$295.1 million for the Year, representing a
modest decline compared to approximately HK$298.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 ("FY2024").

Revenue from the property management related value-added
services segment declined by HK$30.0 million, from
approximately HK$65.5 million for FY2024 to approximately
HK$35.5 million for the Year. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the Group's strategic decision to reallocate
resources away from retailing home living products, which
required significant operational support and manpower, to
concentrate on delivering higher-value services better aligned
with the needs of property owners.

In line with the decrease in the Group's property management
related value-added services, the cost of inventories sold
attributable to the Continuing Operations decreased by
HK$30.8 million to approximately HK$32.3 million during the
Year.

As a result, profit for the year generated from the Continuing
Operations decreased by HK$2.7 million from approximately
HK$29.2 million in FY2024 to approximately HK$26.5 million
for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREENREDSN

OPERATING COSTS

Property cleaning expenses

The property cleaning expenses decreased by HK$8.8 million
to approximately HK$59.3 million, representing a decrease of
12.9% for the Year (FY2024: approximately HK$68.1 million).
The decrease was mainly due to the changes in the Company's
property management project portfolio, which resulted in a
drop in the number of projects requiring extensive cleaning
services.

Staff costs

The staff costs comprised salaries, wages, discretionary
bonuses and other benefits including retirement benefit costs
and other allowances and benefits payable to permanent and
part time staff. The staff costs incurred from the Continuing
Operations decreased by HK$6.7 million from approximately
HK$130.4 million in FY2024 to approximately HK$123.7 million
for the Year due to the reduction in the number of property
management projects managed and security staff hired as the
Group subcontracted out most of its security services during
the Year.

Utilities expenses and repair and maintenance expenses
The utilities expenses and repair and maintenance expenses
incurred from the Continuing Operations increased by
approximately HK$1.8 million to HK$28.5 million, representing
an increase of 6.7% for the Year (FY2024: approximately
HK$26.7 million). The increase was primarily attributable to the
increase in the aggregate contracted gross floor area
managed by Shuyi Property, which was driven by the Group's
continued efforts in extending its service coverage across a
growing number of industrial park projects.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses incurred from the Continuing
Operations increased by approximately HK$8.4 million to
HK$42.6 million for the Year, representing an increase of 24.6%
(FY2024: approximately HK$34.2 million). Such expenses included
gardening costs, security costs and other miscellaneous expenses.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in security costs
of HK$12.3 million during the Year as the Group subcontracted
out most of its security services during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's total current assets and
current liabilities were approximately HK$396.5 million (31
March 2024: approximately HK$448.9 million) and
approximately HK$264.1 million (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$178.4 million) respectively, while the current ratio was
about 1.5 times (31 March 2024: 2.5 times).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group maintained cash at bank and
in hand of approximately HK$103.8 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$298.7 million). In the foreseeable future, the
Group expects to fund its capital expenditures, working capital
and other capital requirements from cash generated from its
operations and other financing means which the Company
may from time to time consider appropriate.

Total interest-bearing borrowing of the Group as at 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$56.9 million (31 March 2024:
HK$58.4 million), which comprised mainly the amount due to a
related company of HK$53.6 million that is repayable in May
2025 at an interest rate of 2.8% per annum granted to Shuyi
Property, for short term cash flow arrangement in Shuyi
Property. The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing
total interest-bearing borrowings by total equity, as at 31
March 2025 was 0.2 (31 March 2024: 0.3). As at the date of this
report, such amount due to a related company was fully
repaid.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group manages its capital to safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to Shareholders through maintaining the equity and
debt in a balanced position.

As at 31 March 2025, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity of approximately HK$250.7 million (31
March 2024: approximately HK$230.0 million) and loans from
the controlling shareholder of the Company of approximately
HK$38.3 million (31 March 2024: HK$104.8 million). Except for
the lease liabilities, the Group had no interest-bearing bank
borrowings, debt securities or other capital instruments as at
31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB WE DT

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND
JOINT VENTURES AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures or
significant investments held during the Year.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any pledged
assets (31 March 2024: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group intends to conduct more comprehensive
evaluations of its growth strategies, assessing the potential for
broadening its revenue base by venturing into various
investment prospects across diverse sectors, including trading,
property management, information technology, brand
development and other industries, which may or may not
include any assets and/or business acquisitions or disposals by
the Group, and will consider all options. Any such plans will be
subject to review and approval by the Board and compliance
with the applicable requirements under The Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) where
appropriate. The costs of any such acquisitions will be met
with cash generated from the operations of the Group and
other financing means which the Group may consider
appropriate from time to time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risks arising from RMB. Foreign
exchange risks arise from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in RMB for the
entities with a functional currency in HKD. The Group did not
use any forward contracts to hedge its foreign currency
exposure during the Year. The Group will from time to time
review and adjust its hedging and financial strategies based
on exchange rate movements in RMB and HKD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDN

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed approximately 873
employees (31 March 2024: 952 employees). The Group offers
competitive remuneration packages to its staff, including share
option scheme, mandatory provident fund scheme and
discretionary bonus.

PROSPECTS

The Group will maintain its strategic focus on the property
management segment, remaining confident in its ability to
deliver consistent profitability notwithstanding the broadened
moderation in China’s real estate sector. In alignment with its
long-term vision, the Group has successfully completed the
orderly closure of its lifestyle entertainment operations in
Hong Kong, which enabled a more streamlined allocation of
capital and resources to business areas with stronger growth
trajectories and higher value-creation potential.

Looking ahead, the Group is committed to delivering high-
quality comprehensive property management services across a
diverse portfolio, encompassing residential, commercial,
industrial, and healthcare facilities. The Group reinforces its
commitment to innovation and value-added services within its
property management offerings while actively exploring
strategic opportunities to expand business horizons.

The Group remains fully dedicated to enhancing shareholder
value through prudent management, brand enhancement, and
operational excellence. With solid client relationships and an
unwavering emphasis on service quality, the Group is well-
positioned to pursue sustainable growth and deliver enduring
returns to its shareholders, despite the challenging
macroeconomic environment.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (31 March 2024: nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBZ2GE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zheng Jiang (% 5T), aged 60, is the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director of the Company and has joined the
Group since May 2015. He is currently a director and deputy
chairman of AUX Group Co., Ltd.* (2B 7= Hf &£ B & R 2 7))
("AUX Group Co."), a China Top-500 enterprise with business
operations in multiple industries, primarily in air conditioner
manufacturing, power equipment, healthcare and finance. He
had been a director and the deputy chairman of Ningbo
Sanxing Medical Electric Co., Ltd. (B R ZEEBE SR/ K0
A PR A 7]), a Chinese electrical meter manufacturer and health
care service provider listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601567) (“Ningbo Sanxing Medical”), since its
listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in June 2011 until
March 2014 when he vacated such offices by rotation. He has
over 29 years of experience in corporate management. He is
the brother of Mr. Zheng Jianjiang, the controlling Shareholder
and a non-executive Director of the Company. He is also the
sole legal and beneficial owner and sole director of Ze Hong
Limited, which legally and beneficially owns 10% of the issued
share capital of Huiri Limited, which in turn is interested in
337,950,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”), representing
approximately 68.55% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

Mr. Chan Hon Ki (FR & ), aged 46, is an executive Director,
the chief executive officer and the joint company secretary of
the Company and has joined the Group since May 2015. He
holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from University of
Canterbury, New Zealand and a master of Business
Administration from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
Institute of Certified Management Accountants, Australia. Mr.
Chan has over 20 years of experience in the field of auditing
and accounting. He was an independent non-executive director
of Wah Ho Holdings Group Ltd (stock code: 9938) from
December 2019 to August 2024 and an independent non-
executive director of Chen Lin Education Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1593) from November 2019 to June 2021.
Both companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSAREEB2BE

Ms. Shen Guoying (it B %), aged 54, is the executive Director
of the Company and has joined the Group since May 2015.
She is currently the chief executive officer in healthcare of
Ningbo AUX Healthcare Group Co., Ltd, and the chairman of
Ningbo Sanxing Medical. She holds a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy awarded jointly by The Open University of China
(R E# E /R K 2) and Beijing Technology and Business
University (1t ;8 T 7 K ). She is a senior accountant (1= & &
&1 Bl) in the PRC. She has over 30 years of experience in finance
management.

Ms. Chen Lingxiao (Ff % B ), aged 40, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 1 September 2022. She
is currently the director of the treasury department of AUX
Group Co. She holds a bachelor’s degree in finance management
from China Jiliang University. She has over 15 years’ experience
in finance and treasury management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zheng Jianjiang (¥ B T ), aged 63, is the founder and
currently the chairman of the board of directors of AUX Group
Co., a conglomerate with business in manufacturing of electrical
and household appliance, health care and finance investment
and an executive director of Ningbo Sanxing Medical. Mr.
Zheng is a senior economist of the PRC. Mr. Zheng is a
controlling Shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of
the Company, interested through his controlled corporations
in 337,950,000 Shares, representing approximately 68.55% of
the Company’s total issued share capital. Mr. Zheng is the
brother of Mr. Zheng Jiang, the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director. Mr. Zheng was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 1 January 2024, and was re-
designated as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
December 2024.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSAREEB2BE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (7% B8 Bl), aged 63, is the independent
non-executive Director of the Company and has joined the
Group since May 2015. Mr.
postgraduate diploma in laws by the University of London. He

Poon was awarded the

holds a master's degree in international accounting, a
bachelor's degree in laws and a bachelor’'s degree in business
studies. He obtained a management training certificate from
China Europe International Business School (F BX Bl B} T 5 £
Bt ) in 2016. He is a member of the Canadian Institute of Mining,
Metallurgy and Petroleum. He is a fellow of CPA Australia Ltd.,
the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, a fellow of
The Chartered Governance Institute, and a fellow of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and a member of its
Technical Consultation Panel. Mr. Poon has years of experience
in finance, compliance, and listed companies management.

Mr. Poon has served as an independent non-executive director
of Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1292) from September 2011 to
June 2023 and an independent non-executive director of
Yuanda China Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2789) from April 2011 to September 2023. From
June 2017 to December 2021, he served as an independent
non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 196) and from July 2013 to
March 2021, as independent non-executive director of Tonly
Electronics Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1249, subsequently delisted). He has also served
as an independent non-executive director of Yankuang Energy
Group Company Limited (formerly known as Yanzhou Coal
Mining Company Limited, listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1171) from June 2017 to June 2023. Currently, Mr. Poon
serves as (i) an executive director, the vice president and the
company secretary of Huabao International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 336); and (ii) an independent non-executive
director of the following public companies listed on the Stock
Exchange: Sunac China Holdings Limited (stock code: 1918),
Sany Heavy Equipment International Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 631), China Isotope & Radiation
Corporation (stock code: 1763), Greentown Service Group
Company Limited (stock code: 2869) and Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd (stock code: 2362). Mr. Poon
has been serving as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company since May 2015.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSAREEB2BE

Mr. Bau Siu Fung (ffl /> ), aged 58, is the independent non-
executive Director of the Company and has joined the Group
since May 2015. Mr. Bau holds a bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration in Accountancy and Finance. Mr. Bau has more
than 22 years of experience in accounting and auditing field.
Mr. Bau is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. From September 2018 to May 2021, Mr.
Bau was an executive director, the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Chen Lin Education Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1593), and from June 2018 to August
2024, he was an independent non-executive director of FSM
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1721). Since March 2023, Mr.
Bau has been serving as an independent non-executive director
of Ruichang International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1334).
All of the aforementioned companies are companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chau Siu Lun (88 JK ), aged 60, is qualified as solicitor
in Hong Kong and England and Wales. Mr. Chau is currently
the partner of Haiwen & Partners LLP, vice president of Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute, and an independent
non-executive director of Great Wall Motor Company Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2333).
Mr. Chau's practice areas focuses on Hong Kong capital
market and regulatory and compliance advisory work for Hong
Kong listed companies. He is also actively involved in
providing advice to listed companies on takeovers and
privatisations, corporate restructuring, corporate governance,
information disclosure, compliance on anti-money laundering
and ESG. Mr. Chau graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor of Arts degree (Honors), and obtained a
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chau was admitted as fellow of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute with the designations of
Chartered Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional
in 2020. He holds the qualification of Certified Anti-money
Laundering Specialist. He has been a council member of the
Institute since 2021, and had served as vice-chairman of
Qualification Committee from 2022 to 2023. In 2024, he was
the vice-chairman of Professional Development Committee
and in 2025 is currently the chairman of the Membership
Committee of the Institute. Mr. Chau joined Herbert Smith
Freehills LLP in 1997, became a partner of the firm in 2006, and
served as the head and chief representative of the firm's
Beijing representative office from 2011 to November 2022.
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Corporate Governance Report

TXREREWS

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company recognises the importance of corporate
transparency and accountability. The Company is committed
to achieving a high standard of corporate governance and
leading the Group to attain better results and improve its
corporate image with effective corporate governance procedures.

The Board is of the opinion that the Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended
31 March 2025.

The Company has adopted The Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct for securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries with all Directors and
they have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Board provides leadership, guidance and strategic
decisions to the Group's activities and oversees its financial
performances. The Board has delegated its powers to the
management for the Group's daily management and operations.

As of 31 March 2025, the Board comprised four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. Throughout the year ended 31 March
2025, at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
possessed the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise, which
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the number
of independent non-executive Directors represents more than
one-third of the Board. As such, there existed a strong
independent element in the Board, which effectively exercised
independent judgement.

Mr. Chau Siu Lun was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 23 August 2024. Mr. Chau
has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 15 July 2024 and has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Jiang (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Hon Ki

Ms. Shen Guoying

Ms. Chen Lingxiao

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zheng Jianjiang
(re-designed from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director with effect from 1 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
Mr. Bau Siu Fung
Ms. Lou Aidong
(retired from office with effect from 23 August 2024)
Mr. Chau Siu Lun
(appointed with effect from 23 August 2024)

The brief biographical details of the current Directors are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 15 to 18.

Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
the Directors have no other financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with one another.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director, a written confirmation of his or her independence to the
Company pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the relevant guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development courses and seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has
arranged training for Directors in the form of seminars and
provision of training materials. All Directors have provided
their training records to the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERR

According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors for the year ended 31 March

REEFEHNOCE EFBE_FT_1
F-AZT " BLEEEINBINEN

2025 is as follows: I 8

Attended seminars

HEMFS

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zheng Jiang B Ik4&E v
Mr. Chan Hon Ki BROZEH %k & v
Ms. Shen Guoying B3 2+ v/
Ms. Chen Lingxiao BR % B &+ v/
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Zheng Jianjiang BfEX T A& v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok & BB kA& v
Mr. Bau Siu Fung B8 %k A& v
Mr. Chau Siu Lun 3k B ot v
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the positions of the chairman B EZ_-_ZT_-_AF=A=+—-HBLFE  *
and the chief executive officer were held separately. The role of FE RITHAEH BB TR AL EE =
chairman was held by Mr. Zheng Jiang and the role of chief & —Bi@B B )T X EEFE - MTERLH — B
executive officer was held by Mr. Chan Hon Ki. The chairmanis BHBREEEERF ZFAETEREE
responsible for the leadership and governance for the Board ZEZ2€ MO BAHANEBEAEEEBK K
while the chief executive officer is responsible for the day-to-day H &® & ®E £ H o

management of the Group's business.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer is defined and established in writing.

The service contracts of each of the current executive and
non-executive Directors have an initial term of three years with
effect from 15 May 2015 (in respect of Mr. Zheng Jiang, Mr.
Chan Hon Ki and Ms. Shen Guoying), 1 December 2022 (in
respect of Ms. Chen Lingxiao), and 1 December 2024 (in
respect of Mr. Zheng Jianjiang). These contracts shall be
renewed and extended automatically for successive terms of
one year upon expiry of the then-current term until terminated
by him or her by giving not less than three months’ written
notice expiring at the end of the initial term of his or her
appointment or any time thereafter to the Company, or by the
Company by giving not less than three months’ written notice
expiring at the first anniversary of the initial term of his or her
appointment or any time thereafter to him or her.
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Each of the current independent non-executive Directors has
been appointed to the Board for an initial term of three years
commencing from 15 May 2015 (in respect of Mr. Poon Chiu
Kwok and Mr. Bau Siu Fung) and 23 August 2024 (in respect of
Mr. Chau Siu Lun), which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year upon expiry of
the then-current term until terminated either by him by giving
not less than three months’ written notice expiring at the end
of the initial term of his or her appointment or any time
thereafter to the Company, or by the Company by giving not
less than three months’ written notice expiring on the first
anniversary of the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter to him or her.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are governed by the Company's articles
of association (the “Articles of Association”). The appointment
of each of the Directors is subject to his re-election at an
annual general meeting upon retirement. The Articles of
Association provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of
3, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation at least once every 3 years.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Ms. Shen Guoying, Ms. Chen Lingxiao and Mr.
Poon Chiu Kwok shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Ms. Shen Guoying, Ms. Chen Lingxiao
and Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok , each being eligible, will offer
himself or herself for re-election at the same meeting.
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BOARD MEETING

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or
through electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to CG Code provision C.5.1, the Board should meet
regularly and board meetings should be held at least four
times a year.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the Director shall abstain from voting on the
relevant resolutions and he/she shall not be counted as a
quorum in the Board meeting discus sing the matter concerned.

Set out below are details of the attendance record of each of
the Directors at the Board and committee meetings of the
Company held during the year ended 31 March 2025:

Attendance to meetings

EEEER
ExgTHem AT mhBlAl AEEER
“WM&%L&WW%E EEAHABA X
ERETARAATALEGHE -
RELXEATAMBRXFCSIGK EFE
FEHERE MEFEETEZTSEAE
DR e
MEEREEERTEENXREELRF

BENSER MEFER/Z BN F R

BE X W%%LMﬁm&ﬁiﬁmﬁi
CERLAMBEABRERERE AARF
EANZ N
TXEINBZESFHFEARABRE_T -5
FZA=Z+T-"BLFEMBINEEER
ZEggRNHFECLHEFRE:

HEE R

Attendance/Number of Meetings Held

LE/BTEENY
Regular Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
cHEZE ENZEE REZ8¢ iMzseg kRER
Name of Directors ESH? €3 EE EE EE -1
Executive Directors 41788
Mr. Zheng Jiang g Ixx 44 NATER N 10 10
Mr. Chan Hon Ki REALE 414 NARER NAT &R /1 i
Ms. Shen Guoying S 44 NATER 11 NATER 171
Ms. Chen Lingxiao REBETTL 44 NATER NATE R NALER 1/1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Zheng Jianjiang B2Ik4E 44 NAT NAT @ R NAT @ B 10
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTEE
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok ERELE 4/ 44 Ul " "
Mr. Bau Siu Fung BEEE 4/4 4/4 11 171 17
Ms. Lou Aidong ; Rt 44 U4 NALRER 171 NATER
Mr. Chau Siu Lun FRBEE 44 24 10 17 1/1
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GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2025 is scheduled to be held on 22 August
2025.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the audit committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “"Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”). All
Board committees perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference which are available to
Shareholders on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 3 January 2014 with
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. For the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee comprised
three members, namely Mr. Bau Siu Fung (Chairman), Mr.
Poon Chiu Kwok and Mr. Chau Siu Lun, all being independent
non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include,
among others, (i) providing an independent view of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, internal control, compliance
and risk management systems of the Group; (ii) overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board; (iii) developing and reviewing the policies
and practices on corporate governance with legal and regulatory
requirements and requirements under the Listing Rules; and (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to the employees and Directors.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out as follows:

Reviewed with the senior management and finance-in-
charge and/or the external auditors of the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, the
accuracy and fairness of the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and interim financial
report for the six months ended 30 September 2024
respectively;

Met with the external auditors and reviewed their work
and findings relating to the annual audit for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and the effectiveness of the audit
process;

Reviewed with management and finance-in-charge the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group;

Conducted annual review of the disclosed continuing
connected transactions of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024;

Approved the internal audit plan for the year ended 31
March 2023 and internal audit report for the year ended
31 March 2024;

Reviewed the external auditors’ independence, approved
the engagement of external auditors and recommended
to the Board on the re-appointment of external auditors;

Reviewed the financial reporting and compliance
procedures and the report from the management on the
Company's internal control systems and processes; and

Noted the new requirements on the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide under the Listing Rules
and highlighted the amendments under the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report of
the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Audit Committee has been appointed by the Board to
perform the corporate governance function. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee performed the
following major works:

- Reviewed the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations to
the Board;

- Reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

- Reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- Reviewed the compliance of the Securities Dealing Code;

- Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

- Reviewed the Group's process of disclosure, including
assessing and verifying the accuracy and materiality of
inside information and determined the form and content
of certain required disclosures; and

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 3 January
2014, with specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Nomination Committee comprised a total of five members,
being two executive directors, namely Mr. Zheng Jiang
(Chairman) and Ms. Shen Guoying, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok, Mr. Bau
Siu Fung and Mr. Chau Siu Lun. Accordingly, a majority of the
members were and continue to be independent non-executive
Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee

include making recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.
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A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the financial year ended 31 March 2025 is
set out as follows:

° Reviewed and discussed the existing structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board to ensure that it
has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements for the business of the
Group and that it is in compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

° Make recommendations to the Board for the re-election
of existing directors.

The recommendations on director appointment and re-
election were made in accordance with the Company's policy
for the nomination of Directors and took into account the
diversity aspects (including, without limitation, age, cultural
and educational background, professional expertise and
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) under the
board diversity policy. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Board Diversity Policy” in this Corporate Governance
Report. In particular, the Nomination Committee had taken
into consideration the perspectives, skills and experience that
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok could bring to the Board as an independent
non-executive Director, including without limitations his extensive
experience in finance, compliance, and listed companies
management.

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok is holding directorships in seven listed
companies as at the date of this Corporate Governance report.
As an independent non-executive director of all but one of
these companies, he is generally not involved in the day-to-
day operations and management of the businesses of such
companies. Mr. Poon has annually disclosed to the Company
the number and nature of offices held in listed companies and
other significant commitments. As a professional, he is
competent in time management and has sound knowledge
and skills to effectively discharge his duties in those positions.
The Board considers that Mr. Poon is able to devote sufficient
time to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 3 January
2014, with specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Remuneration Committee comprised a total of five members,
being two executive Directors, namely Mr. Zheng Jiang and
Mr. Chan Hon Ki, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chau Siu Lun (Chairman), Mr. Poon Chiu
Kwok and Mr. Bau Siu Fung. Accordingly, a majority of the
members were and continue to be independent non-executive
Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include, among others, (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a set of formal and transparent procedures for developing
policies on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; and (iii) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of executive Directors and members of senior management
(which may include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of office or appointment, as appropriate).

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out as
follows:

° Assessed the performance of executive Directors;

o Reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company;

o Approved the terms of service contract of the executive

Director appointed during the year;

o Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration packages (including discretionary bonus)
of Directors and senior management of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2025; and

o Reviewed matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17, including, among others, the applicable
requirements under the relevant parts of the Listing
Rules as amended, and resolved that no share option
should be granted under the existing share option
scheme given the prevailing external and internal
circumstances.
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Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of
the annual remuneration of the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:

BRELEERTAUTAKE
2T -_RHFE=Z/A=+—H
EREERANEINEES

Number of

individuals
Remuneration band ¥ M 42 B A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,700,000 1,000,001 /& 7T & 1,700,000 7% JT 1

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board currently has two female Directors out of eight
Directors and is committed to maintaining gender diversity at
the Board level. At present, the Board considers an
appropriate balance of diversity of the Board is maintained
and has not set any other measurable objectives. The
Company has also taken, and continues to take steps to
promote diversity at all levels of its workforce. As at 31 March
2025, total workforce of the Company comprised 66% male
and 34% female. The Group has achieved the objective of
maintaining a relatively balanced gender ratio. Based on the
Board’s review, there was no mitigating factor or circumstance
which makes achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) more challenging or less
relevant. The Company will continue to strive to achieve an
appropriate balance of gender diversity in the workforce as
well as the Board according to business needs and future
development so as to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board in the future.

The Board has established a board diversity policy. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Under the policy, the selection of Board candidates shall be
based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to
the Company’s business model and specific needs, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity for the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors.

RABRERH ESehLtREFTEK-

Number of Directors E=EE H

6 p—
5 —
4—
3 j—
: |
) .

0

Male Female ED NED INED Below 45 45-55 56-63
5 z HITEE  FPTEE BUFPTES 45BRBAT  45EESS5HE  56BEE635%
Gender 13l Designation  B{u Age Group F#R# 7l

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the remunerations paid or
payable to the external auditor in respect of its audit and
related services provided to the Group were approximately
HK$2,570,000.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2025. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The statement of the independent auditors of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's
Report on pages 119 to 121.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The Company has established the Audit Committee and the internal
audit department to conduct analysis and independent assessments
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the
Audit Committee is responsible for communicating any material
issues to the Board.

During the Year, the Group appointed an external independent
professional to:

o assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of workshops and interviews; and

o independently perform internal control review and assess
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by the external independent professional to
enhance the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board.
Based on the findings and recommendations of the external
independent professional as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in order to
comply with Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules as well as Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The internal
control mechanism includes information flow and reporting
processes, confidentiality arrangements, disclosure procedures,
and staff training arrangements, etc.

BEkEERRDEE

EEg MR EAAEARFEREEERE R
AEBERREREMAREEHNRELENE
Ky -ZEREEHEE i%ﬁﬁ#/mﬁ%ﬂiﬁzL
REBHBENRR MERERERRE

R LEJZJ%TEf’EHj/\f%ﬁﬁéF%@?JE’H% 8

ARARMNEBERZE G A EZAF
BARAEREERABEZERLNE N
METOMTEBLIGE EREMEERXN
BHCRRME KERARES §EME
f%KEIEEqu %B%?:V&ﬁﬁf“E#&H‘&

EITHZ2ER BIBAENRKR Hilst
éﬂ&ﬁf% BErR-pttms- %T??,\
CSRENERNEREESHEZTSER

RAFE AEEBZE-RBIBBILEE
AL

s BB R I KA BRI
EFEASEEORR: &

e BUETANRERFHIIGEAE
B # L B B TR N A AP S 1R I B B o

BUYUEBEBLIGRERDERTERZED

NEZEgG LI IEBILIEEALTHRE
ZARSASERREERABELEGHE
EREAEERBRAOANBEZERERSE E

EMANNETFCREEZTERM - REHN
FMBEIEXZALTHNAEERIREZUANRE
REZEEBEeNER BEFeRRAMEER
RREEHERRRTED -

AEBEHREBEREMANEE R RIZAI
= ’EEF?-L‘AE?J:?E%E,'J%BEM&M
7 KB B &P EXIVAER Wiﬁ el i o)
REERAEBEERF RELZHE HER
FFREIFIEZHESE-

Annual Report 2025 4 R 31



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2016. While the Board has the overall
responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal
controls are maintained, management is responsible for
designing and implementing an internal control system to
manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments.
Our risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the
Board and management to manage the risks of the Group
effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the
Audit Committee, which oversees risk management and
internal audit functions.

Principal Risks

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the following principal
risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.
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OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate
governance structure with operational management and
controls performed by operations management, coupled with
risk management monitoring carried out by the finance and
compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by the external independent professionals.
The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all
identified major risks of the Group. The risk register provides
the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s action
taken to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at
least annually based on its likelihood of occurrence and
potential impact upon the Group. The risk register is updated
by management as the risk owners with the addition of new
risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least
annually, after the annual risk evaluation has been performed.
This review process can ensure that the Group proactively
manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners
have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert to
those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow-up action in an efficient manner.

The Group's risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the
Group's risk management framework will be evaluated at least
annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update
the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is
committed to ensuring that risk management forms part of the
daily business operation processes in order to align risk
management with corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management annually and further enhance the Group's
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Details of the ESG-related risks of the Group are set out in the
ESG Report contained in this annual report.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025, both the Audit Committee
and the Board were not aware of any material internal control
defects and were satisfied that the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group have been effective and
adequate.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY

The joint company secretaries of the Group are Ms. Tsang Kwok
Shan Sandy and Mr. Chan Hon Ki. Each of Ms. Tsang and Mr.
Chan has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy for the Company which
took effect from January 2014. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
will take into account the Company's future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions and other factors which the
Directors deem relevant such as the prevailing market
conditions and global economic situation.

The dividend payout ratio would be calculated based on
certain per cent of the net profit recorded during the financial
year, with a view to retaining sufficient funds and capital for
operational uses and future investment opportunities and
ensuring that all possible acquisitions could be properly
financed. The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

The payment of dividends is also subject to any restriction
under the laws of Hong Kong, the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communications between the shareholders and the Board.
Annual general meeting of the Company shall be held each
year and at the place as may be determined by the Board.
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SHAREHOLDER’'S COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with all Shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining
a high level of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels,
including (a) the annual and extraordinary general meetings
which provide a forum for Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Board; (b) printed corporate documents mailing to
Shareholders; (c) announcement(s) disseminating the latest
activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange; and (d) the Company's website providing an
electronic means of communication.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ communication policy during the year ended
31 March 2025. Having considered the multiple channels of
communication and Shareholders’ engagement in the general
meeting held during the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board is
satisfied that the Shareholders’ communication policy has been
properly implemented during this year and is effective.
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Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
("EGM")

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles of Association, an
EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
has the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
at the headquarters of the Company in Hong Kong, which is
presently situated at Unit 1605, 16/F., Emperor Group Centre,
288 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition and signed by the
requisitionist(s). The request will be verified with the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Board will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request has
been verified as not in order, the Shareholders will be advised
of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened
as requested. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for
the attention of the company secretary at the Company'’s
headquarters in Hong Kong.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders
at Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles
of Association for including a resolution at an EGM. The
requirements and procedures are set out above in the
paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting”.
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INTRODUCTION

AUX International Holdings Limited (hereafter called “"AUX" or
the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “"Group”,
“"we", "our” or "us"”) are committed to providing high-quality
services, and to maintaining its competitive position of
property management business in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") as the Group's vision and mission. The
Group is committed to being a responsible corporate
institution. While making a great effort to achieve its corporate
goals, the Group also hopes to seek societal benefits in order

to achieve sustainable development in all aspects.

In view of this, this Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report (the "ESG Report” or ”
the balance between three aspects: corporate needs, social
needs and environmental concerns. The Group understands

Report”) will focus on

that including the elements of sustainable development in
corporate strategies has now become a trend. We will
communicate with different stakeholders actively in order to
understand the needs of all parties, and to manage the ESG
issue comprehensively. The Group will consider relevant short-
term and long-term factors while implementing the plan for
sustainable development, which includes the challenges we
are facing, responsibilities to stakeholders, global trends,
regulations and risk management, etc. We believe that in
today’s constantly changing business environment, a company
must take responsibility for ESG issues in the long run in order
to succeed.

Through careful and in-depth understanding of the risks and
opportunities of ESG issues the Group is facing, the Group will
actively fulfil its corporate social responsibilities, abiding by
local laws, providing a suitable working environment for the
employees. It would also pay attention to social issues
including responsible procurement, avoiding drug abuse,
environmental protection, volunteer activities, etc. We will also
contribute to environmental protection starting with waste
reduction. As a part of society, the Group will strive to
contribute to society and work together to create a better
environment in the community.

Lastly, regarding the Group's ESG policy and performance for
the financial year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the
"Reporting Period” or “FY 2024/2025"). The Board of Directors
(the "Board”) are pleased to present the ESG Report
2024/2025 of the Group.
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ABOUT THE ESG REPORT

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report aims to provide an overview of our
performance with respect to environmental protection, social
involvement, engagement with stakeholders and sustainable
development during FY 2024/2025. The reporting scope is
determined based on the materiality and significance of ESG
impacts on the Group. Thus, this ESG Report summarises the
ESG practices and performance of the property management
business in the PRC (“Property Management Segment”).
Based on the overall consideration of the Group's strategy,
the business of the Group's Lifestyle Entertainment Segment
("Lifestyle Entertainment Segment”) located in Hong Kong has
been closed during the Reporting Period. The information
contained herein is helpful to know about and evaluate the
Group’s ESG performance in routine business in the PRC.

Reporting Principles

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code” (the
"Code") set out in Appendix C2 to the “"Main Board Listing
Rules” (the “Listing Rules”) issued by the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In preparing the
ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international
standards and emission factors specified in the guidance
materials on ESG issued by the Stock Exchange for computing
the relevant key performance indicators (“KPIs"). Consequent
to the termination of the Lifestyle Entertainment Segment, the
disclosure method has been recalibrated, with data for the last
reporting period now confined exclusively to the Property
Management Segment.

The ESG Report complies with all provisions of “mandatory
“comply or explain”, as well as the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, consistency and balance,
details of which are set out below:

disclosure” or
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Materiality

In addition to internal factors, such as corporate value,
strategy and core competence, the Group has also
communicated with internal and external stakeholders on a
regular basis. It has considered the ESG strategies of other
industries to achieve sustainable development. The Group has
identified the following categories that have or may have a
significant impact on the Group's ESG performance:

o Property service industry in the PRC;

o Property management market in the PRC;

° Present or future environment and society;

o Financial performance or operation of the Group; and

J Evaluation, decision and action of the Group's

stakeholders.

The application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” of the ESG Report.

Quantitative

The data set out in the ESG Report is derived from the Group's
archived documents, records and statistics. The KPlIs disclosed
in the ESG Report are supported by quantitative data and
measurable standards. The source of all applicable data,
calculation tools, methods, references and conversion factors
applied are disclosed in the emission data presented in the
ESG Report.
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Consistency

For comparative purposes of ESG performance from year to
year, the Group adopts consistent approaches to data
collection, calculation and reporting, where reasonable, across
all fiscal years, and records significant changes in detail for the
relevant components. In the ESG Report, the intensity of the
relevant KPls, unless otherwise indicated, figures of the
Property Management Segment in the PRC are calculated
based on the average number of property projects’ of the
Reporting Period.

Balance

The ESG Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group's
performance within the Reporting Period, avoiding selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the reader.

Feedback

The Group has covered the key issues concerned by different
stakeholder groups through continuous communication with
the stakeholders. We welcome opinions and suggestions on
the ESG performance of the Group, which can be sent to the
Group's email: info@auxint.com.

b The number of property projects during the Reporting Period was 57 (FY
2023/2024: 66).

40

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR

— M

RTBUEREFE ZESGRE AEE RN
EEBATESEMBRFEDEEA —EH
BEEE HAERERRNTE L FAL

BREEB>EENERNE S - X AKNESG
BEF BAIFEEOER FELRF
Bt B9 W) 5B TR > B A A BE B SR AR RN R

H%(TJ%Z T EERBERTAMEERER®
TTH‘I—#"
RESGHERHMAEEBERSE HE AN K
BHAEBR @R EREEENR
FRABEETEPENRE MR L
WK -
BERRHE
AEEELRBERIBENENFEER

CTREBAFEFHNATITRABFINEREH
AMNEREE - BRMEBOENEEAEEXN
ESGEREMEREMER WEADEHEZER
MEZIAEERNE T B FEinfo@auxint.com °

! REHEAMEBENRE BS7TB(ZTE ==/
T _NEBMBFEE: 661E)



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE #HE8RERKRS

ABOUT AUX INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED

Its headquarters is located in Ningbo, we offer property
management services and management-related value-added
services in 14 cities in the PRC, namely, Ningbo, Chengdu,
Hangzhou, Jiujiang, Nanchang, Nanjing, Qingdao, Shanghai,
Tianjin, Changsha, Huzhou, Maanshan, Fenghua and
Zhengzhou, providing specialised property management
services for commercial areas, residential areas, villas, office
buildings, industrial areas, etc. The Property Management
Segment mainly provides management services for residential
properties, and its services also cover non-residential
properties such as office buildings, shopping malls, medium
and high-end residential buildings, hospitals and industrial
parks.
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Vision

To steadily carry out property management businesses and
maintain high-quality services, so as to develop AUX into a
world brand and provide the maximum sustainable value for
stakeholders.

Mission
Create and lead an intelligent life, and cultivate excellent
talents.

Goal
Dedicated to improving the quality of property management
services.

The Board

As of the date of this ESG Report, the Board comprises the
following Directors:
Executive Directors Independent Non-executive
Directors

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
Mr. Bau Siu Fung
Mr. Chau Siu Lun

Mr. Zheng Jiang (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Hon Ki

Ms. Shen Guoying

Ms. Chen Lingxiao

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zheng Jianjiang

STATEMENT BY THE BOARD

The Group recognises the importance of ESG for sustainable
corporate development and ensures the relevant ESG policies
are effectively implemented in its operations. The Board of the
Group is primarily responsible for monitoring ESG governance
issues relating to the Group and monitoring the formulation
and implementation of relevant policies and measures by the
management and relevant departments. The Board also
requires the Group's management to report to the Board on
ESG-related issues and subsequent developments in a timely
and proactive manner, such as significant deviations from
expected targets in ESG performance indicators, serious ESG
incidents, changes in regulatory requirements, etc.
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The Board is responsible for:
o appointing the Group's key persons responsible for
managing ESG issues;

o approving ESG strategies, action plans and goals;

J monitoring the progress and performance of ESG-related
measures;

o approving the implementation of ESG-related measures

and monitoring the resources required;

J raising appropriate ESG-related questions, inquiries and
recommendations to management; and

o reviewing and approving annual ESG reports.
The management is responsible for:
o identifying and assessing the Group's ESG risks and

opportunities and reporting to the Board,;

o developing ESG strategies, action plans, goals and
arranging relevant work accordingly;

° ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal monitoring systems are in place;

. providing guidance for the implementation of ESG
policies and measures;

o reporting to the Board on the progress and performance
of ESG; and
o reviewing the annual ESG report and submitting it to the

Board for approval.
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The functional departments are responsible for:
o coordinating and implementing the specific ESG policies
and measures;

o reporting ESG work and performance indicators to the
management regularly;

J collecting the information and data on the Group’s ESG
performance; and

o preparing the annual ESG report and report to the
management.

The Board will continue to monitor the ESG-related work and
keep abreast of the latest ESG disclosure requirements and
regulations of the Stock Exchange. The Board will also ensure
that all departments work closely to achieve the goal of
operational compliance and shoulder social responsibility, and
set clearer ESG goals for the Group in the future to better
meet the expectations of stakeholders.

PARTICIPATION OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively seeks every opportunity to understand our
stakeholders and guarantees the regular improvement of our
services. We firmly believe that our stakeholders play a vital
role in maintaining the success of our business.

44
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Stakeholders
B4 E

Issues Concerned

HEEE

Communication and Feedback

BEMNE &

Stock Exchange
Bt 32X PR

Government

B

Suppliers

HERB

Investors

REE

Media & Public
HEHEKR

Customers

BE

Employees

BT

Community

i+ E

Compliance with the Listing Rules,
and timely & accurate announcement

M ETRA R EERG DS

Compliance with laws and regulations,
prevention against tax evasion, and
social welfare

EREEREEST
=

- [ Lk 26 B M

Payment schedule and demand stability

NREEER FBRETE

Corporate governance system,
business strategy and performance,
and investment return

NAIERER EBHR
& [ #

=S

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human rights

NAER RERE  AE

Service quality, reasonable price,
service values, employee protection
and working safety

REEE BERaE REEE
ETREMILZD

Interests and welfare, employee

remuneration, training and development,

working hours, working environment

BaEMEN BITHM FilEER.

THEHSE THERE

Community environment, employment
and community development,
social welfare

R RER

BEMERER L&

Meeting, training, website update and
announcement

e HY BUEFNAL

Government inspection, tax declaration and
other information

BFmE MEPRRMEAMER

Business communication, purchase agreement,
e-mail and telephone connection
%ﬁ%@ KEaK- R EIN
é JH %

Organising and participating in seminars,
shareholders’ meetings, issuing financial
reports and other announcements

HBM2EMTE BRRRE
BT HEREREMBRS

Publishing newsletters on the corporate
website

/NIl R

Field investigation, after-sales services

REER EERRK

Training, interviews with employees, internal
memos, employee’s suggestion box
Bl BT mE#K-

NEMETE BIEHEM

Community development activities,
volunteering activities of employees,
community welfare subsidy and donation

HERERESH BIRETEHM
1t [ 18 N 8 RS A8 R
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group periodically conducted surveys of internal and
external stakeholders, including management, employees,
major customers and major suppliers, to identify and assess
material ESG issues so as to determine the impacts of such
issues on the Group's business operation, environment and
society. Based on the Group's reporting scope and business
characteristics as well as the feedback from stakeholders, the
Group has identified the relevant material ESG issues and
evaluated them through a scoring system.

During the Reporting Period, although the Group adjusted its
business scope and operations, such adjustments did not have
a significant impact on the material ESG issues of
stakeholders. Therefore, the Group maintains its adoption of
Materiality Matrix used in the last reporting period.

EEMFM

AEBEHERABNIEHROE(REE

BE BT FEFFRTEHER)ET
AE AR R EEAXNWESGHE & - EE
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ERAEEERNESGHE B U D &l Y
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BEMA BEASEXTHRENRZEED
AEMBAE EZXFARBRILEHFMHEN
ERESGRAELAEAFE R A5 H
rE Lt BAREHARBNEZEFNMGE-

Materiality Matrix = Z M 468 5 47

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS'
ASSESSMENTS & DECISIONS
il OR

Low LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL & SOCIAL IMPACTS High
& RE RENHLETENERREE =

46

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = i Bl M 2 BB R A R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE #HE8RERKRS

Number ESG Issues

Number ESG Issues

fR% ESGHEE % ESG® &

1 Air emissions 9 Employment
P& R HE PR & =

2 Greenhouse gas emissions 10 Occupational health and safety
B E R B BExREER R

3 Hazardous waste 11 Development and training
BEEBEEY R RE

4 Non-hazardous waste 12 Labour standards
BEBERY & T % 8l

5 Energy consumption 13 Supply chain management
BE R (£ A e g g IR

6 Water consumption 14 Product and service responsibility
KE IR E A EmEkREEE

7 Environment and natural resources 15 Anti-corruption
RERRKAER R&S

8 Climate change 16 Community investment
R & 21 HEKRE

As shown above, the social ESG issues are of high materiality
to the Group based on the materiality assessment and the
survey conducted with internal and external stakeholders by
the Group. In particular, as the Group's business is principally
engaged in the provision of property management services,
the materiality of customer satisfaction is particularly
emphasised to ensure that the services provided can satisfy
the expectations of customers.

In the future, the Group will be more proactive in maintaining
communication with stakeholders and collecting advice from
them through different channels to conduct more
comprehensive analysis and continue to promote the Group's
sustainable development plan.

mMEMTR AEBELBH A RINEFTH
FETHEZEIGIAE Brderm
MESGHEEBUAEBENEEERS - A8
ME BRAKRENEBUARRDEER
EBRET AUBHNAEAFAEFPFAEENE
2 -UBEAERORBTEREETFZ

HIE o

TR AEERERENEIFOERS
BR O BBIARARBREETERAET
FrEmOM BEHEEAEBEZARSE
HRETE -

Annual Report 2025 4 ]

47



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE #HERER/KRS

48

ENVIRONMENTAL

For the Group, we understand that a healthy
environment is the basis for economic development and
social well-being. As a responsible organisation, the
Group will pursue environmental protection, strictly
comply with the existing laws and regulations related to

environmental protection, and properly handle and

dispose of all materials to avoid adverse impacts on

health or the environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify

any crucial incidents of non-compliance relating to

environmental problems.

A1.

Emissions

The Group is also committed to promoting
environmental protection during its daily
operations. All operating units of the Group have
implemented eco-friendly measures to reduce
carbon dioxide emissions during operations.

Air Emissions

In view of the Group's business focusing on
property management services, our business
activities do not involve any key air emissions
arising from the use of gas fuel or automobile fuel.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions are a leading
cause of global warming, which leads to sharp
climate changes and poses a tremendous threat to
the global ecosystem. The Group understands that
although we have no direct GHG emissions, we
inevitably generate indirect GHG emissions during
energy and water resources utilisation. In view of
this, the Group, as an organisation with corporate
social responsibility, considers the reduction of
GHG emissions as a focus in its daily operations.
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The GHG emissions of the Group mainly come from
purchased electricity consumption for business
activities in various cities, as well as the indirect
GHG emissions generated by the treatment of
waste paper, employees’ business air travel and the
treatment of fresh water and sewage consumption.
Moreover, the sewage discharged mainly comes
from the daily water consumption of property
owners. We discharge wastewater in a way
stipulated by the municipal government, and
maintain the pipelines, valves and other equipment
related to the sewage discharge and exhaust
systems on a regular basis to guarantee their
normal operation.

In addition, we promote green construction in each
of the property projects under our management as
the best remedy for the GHG emissions generated
due to our business activities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
generate material direct GHG emissions (scope 1).
The majority of the GHG emissions were energy-
indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) generated by
purchased electricity consumption, and have
increased by 15.2% compared to the last reporting
period. Although the total number of properties
decreased in FY 2024/2025, this reduction primarily
involved hospitals that only provide cleaning
services and do not incur electricity expenses.
Meanwhile, the newly added properties consist of
new residential development projects, which have
contributed to the upward trend in purchased
electricity consumption data. Additionally, the
remaining 1.2% of emissions were other indirect
GHG emissions (scope 3), where the business air
travel, paper waste and fresh water dropped
significantly due to effective measures contributing
to the overall decline in the scope 3 emissions. The
details of GHG emissions during the Reporting
Period are summarised as follows:
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Scope Source of GHG emissions Emissions(tCO.e)?
gE BERBREBRERR FHREM_StiEE):?
FY 2024/2025 FY 2023/20243
—*-0m/ ===/
—ZFE_-F —_=F=
BRFE MR EFE:
Scope 1 Direct GHG emissions N/A N/A
#E — BEERERBYMN T E A i@ R
Scope 2 Energy indirect GHG emissions
&E= BER A OR E R BB B W
i. Purchased electricity 63,628.4 55,249.5
L SNEEE
Scope 3 Other indirect GHG emissions
E= H ity [ 5208 = R 88 BE W
i. Paper waste 31.3 30.4
i BE A
ii. Business air travel 10.2 16.4
i R A RSN A B
iii. Treatment of fresh water and sewage processing* 699.7 959.1
iii. R 7K gz I A0 05 K BE
Total GHG emissions 64,369.6 56,255.4
BRERBHENEE
Total GHG emission intensity (tCO,e/property projects) 1,129.3 852.4

BERBHNEBELEM _SLmESE WEEAB)

20

GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, including but not limited to, the “Sixth Assessment
Report” issued by Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC),
the "Notice on the Release of 2023 Power Carbon Footprint Factor
Data”( B 7 % #2023 F & 1 ik B BF B 7 4 M 2 %) issued by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, “"How to prepare an
ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange, “Annual Report 2023/24" issued by Water
Supplies Department of Hong Kong, “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report 2023-24" issued by Drainage Service Department of
Hong Kong, ICAO Carbon Emissions Calculator (ICEC) by International
Civil Aviation Organization.

Consequent to the termination of the Lifestyle Entertainment Segment,
the disclosure method has been recalibrated, with data for the last
reporting period now confined exclusively to the Property Management
Segment.

According to the latest 2023/24 figures released by the Hong Kong Water
Supplies Department and the latest 2023/24 figures released by Hong
Kong Drainage Services Department, the per unit electricity consumption
for processing water and sewage in Hong Kong was 0.256 kg CO2/m? and
0.22 kg CO2/m?, respectively. As it is difficult to obtain relevant figures in
the PRC, the above figures are set to be consistent with those in the PRC.
Due to limitations in data collection, the per unit electricity consumption
for processing water and sewage in the PRC will refer to the latest figures
published by the Hong Kong Water Supplies Department and the Hong
Kong Drainage Services Department.
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The Group promotes the conservation of electricity
and water in the area of property projects, and
promotes environmental protection measures, in
order to minimise the impact of business on the
environment. In addition, the Group implements
various solutions in the sustainable energy
efficiency plan to reduce the generation of GHG,
including but not limited to the implementation of
greening within the area of property projects,
posting signs to remind employees to save
electricity and water, and the use of energy-saving
LED lights in property projects.

Looking ahead, given that energy use is the main
source of the Group’s GHG emissions, the Group
will continue to strengthen energy conservation
monitoring measures, ensuring that all electrical
appliances are properly turned off when not in use
and that all lights and air conditioners are turned
off outside office hours, to avoid unnecessary
consumption of electricity.

Target for GHG Emissions

The Group will be devoted to the promotion of
resource conservation when providing property
management services, so as to minimise the
indirect GHG emissions arising from the operation
of the Group by continuously taking practical
measures. During the Reporting Period, as
mentioned, the increased handover of new
residential development projects resulted in higher
electricity consumption. Consequently, overall
GHG emissions increased, preventing us from
achieving the targets set in the last reporting
period. Looking ahead, we will strive to uphold the
principles of sustainable development. The Group
is committed to reducing or maintaining the GHG
emissions intensity between 90% to 120% of the
level of the baseline year ended 31 March 2025 in
the next reporting period.
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Waste Management

During the Reporting Period, no hazardous waste
was found in the operations. While total non-
hazardous waste consumption increased marginally
by 3.1%, the intensity surged by 19.4% owing to the
reduction in the number of total property projects
in FY 2024/25. A summary of the non-hazardous
waste statistics for the Reporting Period is
presented as follows:

BEYEE

RESHE 2ERBRTHLY
FEEBRYNELE -HARAEF
BEEYEHEFREIMEMIN% B
BR T/ T _AWKREF
EMEREBRERD  HEZEA
J:%194%°i&¢ﬁﬁﬁqﬁi & ®
MR BEHR DT

Non-hazardous waste (kg)

BEREEN(AT)
FY 2024/2025 FY 2023/20243
—g-_nm/S ZE=-=/
—_Z2_"Fh —FE -

BB FE B R F R

Total non-hazardous waste

BEEEEVRE

Total non-hazardous waste intensity (kg/property projects)

BEEENEBRE(RFT/M%¥EAE)

The Group has entrusted the local qualified waste
transportation agency to transport and dispose of
the non-hazardous waste produced by the property
owners, and enabled the recycling of waste. All
waste has been disposed of in compliance with
local laws and regulations. Recycled materials
concentration points have been set in the service
areas to carry out collection, classified management
and declaration of statutory hazardous waste and
recyclable waste.

As for the domestic garbage discarded every day
by users in the residential areas, the Group has set
up waste recycling bins to collect recyclable waste,
and arranges special staff to classify and store the
recycled waste separately every day, and deliver
the recycled waste regularly to the waste transfer
station or the solid waste recycling treatment plant.
However, due to constraints in collecting the total
amount of non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group, the Group did not report the full amount of
relevant waste.
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For non-hazardous waste, the Group disclosed
paper consumption from the operation during the
Reporting Period. The Group will continue to
strengthen the waste classification, recovery and
disposal process, and attempt to reduce the impact
of its business on the environment. In order to
alleviate the pressure on landfills and promote
environmental friendliness within the Group, the
Group has implemented various measures to
encourage recycling office supplies and other
materials, eliminating over-consumption of
unnecessary products, and prioritising waste
avoidance, reuse and recycling over disposal.

Waste Management Goals

The Group will be devoted to the promotion of
waste reduction at source within the residential
estates under its management and strengthen the
waste management process in its business
operations to minimise the impact of the Group's
business operations on the environment. With all
efforts exerted, the Group has succeeded in
meeting the target set to control its waste
generated. To uphold the principles of sustainable
development, the Group is committed to reducing
or maintaining the intensity of non-hazardous waste
between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline
year ended 31 March 2025 in the next reporting
period.
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A2. Use of Resources
The Group undertakes to become a resource-
saving and environment-friendly enterprise and
make our contributions to environmental
protection. To reduce energy consumption, we
have taken the initiative to perform energy-saving
measures in our business activities.

Energy consumption

The Group's energy consumption is predominantly
sourced from indirect energy consumption
associated with purchased electricity. During the
Reporting Period, total energy consumption and
intensity registered increases of approximately
5.8% and 22.6% respectively, compared to the last
reporting period. The substantial surge in intensity
can be attributed to the decrease in the number of
property projects.

A2. B R FE H

AEBEEABKS —BHEER
EHEREERFNEE UAHRR
=27 BREEREBER &
MEBREBK BT RITE R
OB

BE R H #E

REBMERBEREETE R R
INEEHEBEOEERERER-
HREHAN AEEBERBEREAS
EEERE—(EARS BHHES 5
O #5.8% K 22.6% - BB A&
AT EARYEEEHERYD -

Energy type
BE R 2 Bl

Energy consumption (MWh)
BE R E # Ck B B)

FY 2024/2025 FY 2023/20243

—E=-m/ —Eg2=-=/

—_Z2_Fh =S|

BB FE B B 3

Direct energy consumption
EEERERE
Indirect energy consumption
fE % g R B &
Purchased electricity
SNEEE )
Total energy consumption
RRHEREE

Total energy consumption intensity (MWh/property projects)

RERERETEERE M%EE)

N/A N/A

TE A ~E A
102,543.7 96,877.9
102,543.7 96,877.9
1,799.0 1,467.8
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The management of the Group remains committed
to enhancing the environmental awareness of our
employees and placing more electricity-saving
labels, to further encourage employees to reduce
unnecessary electricity consumption, minimise
energy use and reduce the impact of business
operations on the environment.

Energy Use Goals

The Group will be devoted to the promotion of
electricity saving within the residential estates,
strengthening the management of electricity use,
and successively purchase electrical appliances
when necessary to maximise energy efficiency and
avoid unnecessary waste of electricity, so as to
reduce the impact on the environment through
continuous monitoring, implementation and
optimisation of existing measures.

During the Reporting Period, the increased handover
of new residential development projects led to a
corresponding increase in electricity consumption.
Therefore, increased electricity purchased has
hindered the achievement of the targets set in the
last reporting period. Looking ahead, we will strive
to uphold the principles of sustainable development
and are committed to reducing or maintaining the
energy consumption intensity between 90% to 120%
of the level of the baseline year ended 31 March
2025 in the next reporting period.

Water Resource Consumption

As potable water is a precious resource on the
Earth, saving water is one of the goals of the
Group. The Group also makes efforts to reduce
electricity consumption generated from the water
supply, thereby reducing the Group's carbon
footprint and resource consumption. As the water
source of the Group is supplied by the government’s
water supply department, so there is no problem in
obtaining water sources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B - HERERRE

During the Reporting Period, while the total water HEHHEA BERAEELAK
consumption of the Group decreased by 0.8%, the ERF—EHREHRLD08% B
intensity surged by 14.8% as compared to the last AmExEBEBHB R BKEE
reporting period because of the reduction in the B E—®EHEF148% K&
number of property projects. The water resource EKRKERBRWAT:

consumption of the Group is as follows:

Water consumption (m?3)

FoKE((LFK)
FY 2024/2025 FY 2023/20243
—E=-m/ —Eg2=-=/
—_Z2_"Fh =S|

BB FE B R F R

Total water consumption 1,469,918.4 1,482,398.2
BAKE
Total water consumption intensity (m®/property projects) 25,788.0 22,460.6

BRKBEGLHE KR/ MEEEB)

The Group will actively promote water conservation AEBEEERMEEILIEE
in property projects under its management and NS BK B EEREA
encourage the recycling of water resources, such as K E R - B an AT LA AR 1 3R A K
the use of recycled water for sanitation and ETHAETR UAREABAKX
cleaning, and the use of appliances with higher ERaENERRmMmE -

water efficiency, etc.
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Water Efficiency Goals

The Group is committed to promoting the concept
of water conservation to property owners and
enhancing water management in offices to maximise
the water efficiency and avoid unnecessary wastage,
so as to reduce the impact on the environment through
continuous implementation and optimisation of the
existing measures mentioned above. Thanks to the
measures on water conservation, the Group successfully
achieved the target set in the last reporting period.
Looking ahead, we will strive to uphold the principles of
sustainable development and are committed to
reducing or maintaining the water consumption
intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the
baseline year ended 31 March 2025 in the next
reporting period.

Packaging Materials

In view of the Group’'s business nature, our
business activities do not involve any packaging
materials used for finished products.

Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

Currently, the Group mainly consumes electric
energy and water resources. In the face of the
increasingly severe environmental pollution, the
Group, as a part of the community, is committed to
implementing energy-saving measures at different
levels of routine operations, including:
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Saving electricity

Conserving water

¥ 1& Ak

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The resources and energy consumed by the
Group's main business activities are mainly water
and electricity, and the pollution caused by
business activities to the environment is mainly
GHG emissions. The management of the Group is
responsible for overseeing the daily operations by
reminding all employees of implementing the
Group's energy-saving and emission-reduction
measures, criticising and rectifying the waste of
resources, and avoiding unnecessary resource
consumption, in order to minimise the adverse
impact on the environment.

The Group delicately develops gardens and
greening space for each project by virtue of
professional greening management, such as
planting diverse flowers, grasses and trees, which
improves the microclimate in the community,
enriches the landscaping in the community, and
enables the property owners to experience the
biodiversity of the nature. One of the residential
estates managed by us has been honoured as the
“most beautiful courtyard” by the government.

58 AUX International Holdings Limited / 8 52 i IR 2 R A IR A F)
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A4. Climate Change Ad. |Ix 21t
The Group understands that climate change may REBTHRAGKE/EEHZE
bring different levels of impact and risks to its BERITRABRENZEMER -
business. As GHG emissions such as carbon dioxide BEABRTDERELAN S
and methane generated by the development of b ik A0 B kx &0/ = R 88 0 R OR
human activities accelerate the greenhouse effect, ERE RIRELHTROTET
the impact of climate change is becoming more B AR o
obvious.
In view of the trend of sustainable development ER AR B RN E B K B
and transition to a low-carbon economy, as well as KEHNBE URKREEZELER
the uncertainties associated with physical and EHEBRERMBERPRN T
transition risks arising from climate change, the BEM AEEHAAERERZR
Group recognises the importance of incorporating MARKBIEES TR RN E
climate factors into the decision-making process to HRESE/FEEFESZ - Btk
formulate an effective plan to address climate AEBERBHRERKEEZENLNE
change. Therefore, the Group has started to study ExE WHREBEREHBRBE
the potential impact of climate change and BHEIE/NANTCFD]) # &2
considered the potential climate-related risks with EERBEMRIZRAERR
respect to the recommendations of the Task Force BAREET R REHEN- T
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD"), HEMEELERERR  AREYRIR
so that the Group will be able to identify, assess B 8 AR B R RS AT

and manage various risks in a timely manner in the
future and prepare for the planning strategy of
addressing climate change.

In terms of physical risks, rising temperatures will HERBRRMS HE L AR
have short-term and long-term impacts on climate mERABEEARFTHUEXRR
patterns and seasonal weather, and increase the mRERNMRBOZE  LIEM
possibility of extreme weather events, such as the B A4 1R K R 1B L 2 AT RE - Bl 1A
more frequent occurrence of severe weather HERTEARR BE 58
events, including heavy rains, typhoons, high EAKERBLRAEHBERAE -
temperatures and floods. These extreme weather EEBIKRAREMHRKAER
events are likely to affect the Group's business ERAEENEBKLE BERA
operations, causing events such as natural disasters RXEMHEBEEBEZNE
that prevent its business from normal operation BERBHBREIFEIZER &
and lead to mandatory downtime, damage to HE® HE#FTENTERM
equipment, supply chain disruptions that affect the EFPRERKEE E MG mMEE
provision of services to customers and other events BRI BmERRMEE T
that increase operating costs. In addition, severe LT RBE - Hh A&
weather also poses threats to the safety of employees. ERHIAHEESLSRA LML H
In this regard, the Group has formulated guidelines on HiES-UHEEIRES XA
severe weather arrangements to reduce the risk of XERBEEIINOER S
injury and accidents. In addition, the Group has also AEBETBEBEBRBES RRAD
made arrangements in respect of severe weather work, T - BHXERESEERZEAEEZ
disaster prevention and emergency response plans, - BERMNMBEREREETNLT R
and enhanced its emergency response capabilities in BEURBREFEHRREBERLT
disaster prevention and mitigation under special By X B B FE = BB ) o

weather conditions through enhanced drills and
regular safety inspections.
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In addition, with the attention of many countries on Btk z b BB B % B RIEE L
climate change, it is expected that more climate =l E A ARBERTES
conferences and climate policy-related arrangements Reg@zm kR _L kI K MB B A&
will be arranged in the future, which may lead to oM SR A EEN L E
higher operating costs and different market risks for B B0 E H SRS R
the Group. In terms of the PRC's goal of achieving B2 oo gt AR BI2060F IR Ak R AN B 12
carbon neutrality by 2060, there is expected to be a mME FEHGEZETRINEEEEE
gradual tightening of regulations on emissions. As a MAERNBRE Bt REEA
result, the Group may face additional operating costs EEEHREMERE E}‘J M2 KA
as a result of a cost shift from its service providers E - PlmE QA KRR
such as power companies, water providers and waste BE W pE B Rk E A 7 Z 1 e
treatment and recycling companies. In this regard, ] E!’] BR % B 4& £ FH 5 & 18 N
the Group will keep abreast of changes in market NEERR -H AEEGK
information and energy policies to ensure the 7U BMIMmBSERERERBEEN
timeliness of the information while facilitating the & B LHEEEELEMEHNRE
formulation of relevant corresponding policies to TEDETABYEREKER
mitigate the risks. JE Bz o
The Group will continue to adopt best practices to FEBEREBRAZKEEERMU
minimise its own carbon footprint and incorporate RERLEENHRED - I E
resilience into its business operations so as to MBMEINEEHEEE R - %ﬁz Ht
effectively control the impact of climate change on 88 B B 1E Bl ix # b 75'5
the Group. P02
B. SOCIAL B. #&
The Group is aware that our business success depends on AEERABEB KB ARE
the cooperation and cohesion of our teams. Our teams BHNEEERBE D BHANEKRARR
are the most precious assets of the Group. Therefore, EEEEENEE - QU BMAE
based on the people-oriented core values, we are MABEBMZLEEBE BWAHORKE LR
committed to providing attractive remunerations, benefits HEENFH FEEEMN AE®
and welfare for employees, arranging reasonable working ITEREERE WREMEEILR
hours and holidays, and ensuring all employees enjoy ITEREe REETE E HY 2R 4 &
equal opportunity. The Group also holds internal activities E A EBOE B B L I 28 EmAK
on a regular basis and encourages employee participation SERZOLEEET %T Zl»‘ EE®
to enhance the Group's cohesion, strengthen employees’ R MARBEIHEERK-
recognition of the Group, and reinforce their sense of
belonging.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find any REmEEE REBEIREIR TJIE fa] &
breach of laws and regulations on employment, health BT H Fi@ BE BREL2 SFHITE
and safety, labour standards, product liability and N EmBEERRETNER EZ i 5l
anticorruption. Z B
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B1.

Employment B1. EfE
Our Employees EMPMmE T
As at 31 March 2025, there were a total of 880 NRZZE-_RAEF=A=+—H8 'K
employees (31 March 2024: 952 employees) of the EEHE80REE(ZTE_MF
Group. The Group believes that maintaining a A=+ —H:92%&E8) &
diverse and inclusive workforce in the future with EEMAEFE RRBFEF —E@Z T
respect and care given to its employees is very EMEBRMERNE T B I
critical for running a sustainable and successful EIXTESEM@EE HEYHURN
business. EE -—EAFBERKNER
mE+HEE-
As at
31 March
Number of Employees® 2025
R-ZZB-HF
BIAES =B=+-—H
Total my 880
By Gender LUt B & 2
Male 5 578
Female g 302
By Age Group LA ¥ 48 Bl Bl 2
<25 <258 58
26-35 26-35%% 195
36-45 36-455% 293
46-55 46-55 7% 269
> 55 > 557% 65
By Employment Type LEEER &%
Full-time £ 880
Part-time * B 0
By Geographical Region LU 3 & 2
Hong Kong 58 4
The PRC TR A 876

PRC are counted, as certain Hong Kong-based employees remain
essential for managing local business operations.

During the Reporting Period, the employee based in Hong Kong and the

d BEHRAAN ARBOEEE THEE A X
BEEDBEZ TEERTEANBNE THHK

mEER-
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Employee Turnover Rate

FY 2024/2025

—E2-nm/
—E-FH
BERXZE BBREE
Overall BERAX 29%
By Gender LAt Bl &1 2
Male F 27%
Female e 33%
By Age Group LERARE S
<25 <255 114%
26-35 26-357% 35%
36-45 36-45 1, 21%
46-55 46-555% 18%
> 55 > 557% 17%
By Geographical Region LUt 3 & 2
Hong Kong G 0%
The PRC FE A 29%

We constantly value our employees and advocate
team spirit among our employees. To further
strengthen the bonding of our employees, team-
building activities were held so as to enable our
employees and management to connect with each
other. With our consistent efforts in maintaining our
team relationship, we believe that we are able to
maintain our team and retain our talented employees.

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR
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Employee Benefits and Assessment

The Group deeply acknowledges that the Group's
development and success indeed rely on the efforts
of all employees, so the Group provides
competitive salaries to pay back the employees’
efforts. In addition to providing attractive
remunerations and benefits to employees, the
Group not only offers performance bonuses
according to the Group's business results and the
employees’ performance, but also distributes
holiday benefits on traditional festivals every year.
The Group also provides Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (“MPF") for employees in
accordance with the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong, and pays endowment insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work-
related injury insurance, maternity insurance and
housing provident fund for employees in accordance
with the Labour Law of the PRC.

In order to reward hard-working employees more
effectively, the Group has established a well-
organised performance management system to
efficiently motivate their sustainable development,
help employees make plans for their careers,
realise talent inheritance, and enable the Group to
develop toward the sustainable operation goal.
The Group implements monthly, quarterly and
yearly performance assessments to help employees
establish definite, measurable, achievable, position-
related and time-sensitive key performance
indicators of their own, supervise their progress on a
regular basis, and take appropriate improvement
measures if applicable. The Group will adjust the
remuneration of employees regularly by referring to
their assessment results and comprehensive
evaluation and by combining the Group's overall
business performance, so as to ensure employees
gain the best remunerations in proportion to their
efforts.
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A Harmonious Working Environment

The Group is devoted to creating a harmonious
and embracing working environment for employees
and to protecting them from any harassment or
discrimination. The Group treats its employees
fairly and equally regardless of their gender, sexual
orientation, disability, age, nationality or ethnic
origin, family status or other personal characteristics
that are protected by law. As for our systems for
recruitment, remunerations and benefits, holidays,
training, assessment, promotion, etc., we evaluate
the employees according to their abilities, skills,
qualifications and performances.

Work and Life Balance

To ensure our employees achieve a balance
between work and life, and maintain a balanced
and healthy lifestyle, our actual working time is
eight to ten hours a day and five to six days a week,
so that our employees can have sufficient time to
rest. The Group provides employees with relevant
paid leave in accordance with local laws and
regulations. The employees can enjoy annual leave
of five to fifteen days as well as other statutory
labour holidays according to their position level. In
addition, employees also enjoy compassionate
leave, marital leave, maternity leave, etc.
Employees with a newborn baby under one year of
age can further enjoy thirty-minute breastfeeding
leave twice a day.

Moreover, the Group provides a series of facilities
for employees, including a dining hall and
dormitory, so as to improve their sense of
belonging to the Group, help those employees
who come to work far away from home to achieve
work-life balance more easily, and alleviate their
economic burdens. In addition, the Group also
arranges after-work activities and dinners for
employees to promote communication among
employees from different departments and
enhance cohesion among employees through
enhanced communication.

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR
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Communication Channels for Employees

The Group attaches importance to employee
opinions. All employees and management are
encouraged to use our diversified communication
channels, such as email, forums, or bulletin boards,
to achieve horizontal or vertical communication.
Generally, when an employee has a complaint
about their work, we will arrange for a department
supervisor to interview them. Employees can also
file complaints against the relevant person or
department. If the complained person or
department fails to provide a satisfactory solution,
the complaint will be submitted to higher-level
departments step by step to ensure employees
receive clear feedback.

The Group encourages employees to raise reasonable
suggestions. The HR Department is responsible for
collecting suggestions from employees and
guaranteeing their accurate delivery.

Talent Retention

The Group's remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practices. Remuneration is
determined on the basis of the competency,
qualifications and experience of individual
employees. Our management has been constantly
reviewing the staff remuneration packages and
employees’ promotion opportunities. Adjustments
will be made, usually annually, to conform to the
market standard in order to retain talent and
ensure the remuneration packages are competitive
compared to other competitors in the industry. A
standard package includes basic salary and variable
incentive-based remunerations which are offered
based on each individual employee’s performance.
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B2.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of the employees are of vital
importance to the Group. The Group is committed
to providing a safe working environment for
employees and guarantees to fully comply with all
occupational health and safety regulations. All
offices and office premises of the Group are
equipped with adequate safety equipment, such as
fire-fighting equipment, to prevent fires and ensure
a safe working environment. The Group has
enhanced information and rules about occupational
health and workplace safety in the Employee
Handbook and has formulated policies about a safe
working environment, such as Special Measures
against Typhoon and Rainstorm, defining working
procedures and evacuation issues in severe
weather. Apart from this, the Group will invite fire
protection equipment suppliers to give lectures
about fire safety awareness on a regular basis and
provide fire drills for employees to ensure that they
are familiar with the necessary procedures if a fire
breaks out.

Any employee suffering from work-related injuries
is entitled to corresponding compensation benefits
in accordance with relevant national regulations. In
the case of Hong Kong employees, the Group will
report the case to the Labour Department in accordance
with section 15 of the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, and contact the insurance company for
settlement of claims. In the meantime, the Group
will also provide sufficient work-related injury leave
to allow the employee sufficient rest.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded 5
cases of work-related injury. The number of working
days lost due to work-related injuries was 127 days.
No work-related fatality case occurred during the
Reporting Period (FY 2023/2024: Nil; FY 2022/2023: 1).
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Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to participate in
all kinds of in-service training, and also provides
employees with various internal and external
training and development opportunities to help
them maximise their business potential.

The annual assessment results will be used to
provide suitable training for employees, aiming to
continuously improve the Group's talent quality
and working skills, motivate employees’ work
enthusiasm, and inspire them to face challenges. In
addition to considering the Group’s business vision
and target needs, the training and development
program also evaluates employee performance and
functional gaps, coordinates with the Group and
management to establish an education and training
framework, and plans internal and external courses
through physical or electronic learning methods.
These courses include new employee training,
professional training, management-level training at
various levels, environmental protection-related
training, training on the Group's core values, etc.,
providing employees with comprehensive training.
This enables the Group's employees to continue
improving their professional and managerial
competence, find platforms to showcase their
abilities, grow together with the Group, and
establish a stable cooperative relationship.

The Group arranges for new employees to receive
onboarding training, aiming to make the
employees know about the Group, master the
codes of practice, techniques and methods for
handling business, and adapt to the new
environment and new job quickly. In addition, the
Group also provides training on safety knowledge
and environmental protection knowledge for
employees, which helps establish their awareness
of safety and environmental protection. Apart from
the training on technical procedures, employees
can also participate in fire training so as to enhance
their awareness of fire prevention.
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Percentage of Trained Employees (%)

FY 2024/2025

— 22—/
i Sl o1
A8 IHH(%) M REFEE
Total By 99.6%
By Gender Bt B & o

Male 5 66%
Female pglid 34%

By Employee Category LEBERE S
General staff HEHRE T 78%°
Middle management TEEBEAE 16%
Senior management =2REBEAE 6%

FY 2024/2025

—E2-m
—EC-F
Average Training Hours (Hours) T 19 Z 9 A B (R B BMRFE
Total By 6.7
By Gender B 1% Bl &l 5
Male SM 6.1
Female 7% 7.9
By Employee Category NEEEHE D
General staff E@®ET 3.1
Middle management PEEEAER 19.3
Senior management SREBABR 17.4
In the future, the Group will continue to provide T - AEERKEERE TIRM
adequate training for its employees, so as to ARHOEI BRARABEILE
enhance their knowledge and skills while BEZNBEENRE T OE
contributing to the sustainable development and EREERRIES-
progress of the Group.
® Due to rounding, the percentage of trained general staff has been  © HREOEAA EXIEBREINADLEE
rounded up. Bl
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B4.

Labour Standards

The Group has established an employment and
welfare policy in compliance with the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the labour laws of
the PRC, and strictly prohibits the recruitment of
any candidate under the age of 18 to avoid the
recruitment of any child labour. The Group will not
recruit any child labour under the age restricted by
local laws, and the Group’'s HR Department will
require the job candidates to provide valid
identification certificates to confirm their actual
age at the time of the interview. Once any misuse
of child labour is found, the Group will immediately
suspend his/her work, send the child labour back to
his/her original residence, and deliver to his/her
parent or legal guardian, for which the Group will
bear the required transportation and accommodation
expenses, and pay the salary due for his/her actual
work. Any act of violence, with the purpose of
deliberately causing discomfort, threats and/or bodily
harm, as well as forcing employees to work, is strictly
prohibited by the Group. Our employees are
welcome to report to the management if they notice
any potential violation, or if they are experiencing
forced labour. The management will investigate the
matter and seriously take follow-up actions.

The Group has not experienced any labour
disputes or cases of forced labour during the
Reporting Period. The Group undertakes to
maintain strict compliance with the standard of
regulations at any time.

B4.

% T XA
REBET LA EEREFKE
—MEBERBEBEEEIE S E
BEEG WERZEREBEMEAR
185% H) FE 21 3 - LABH 1F 48 BE (T
ETI - AEBTEREFRER
EEABRREMNET  AELEA
NERBAERST T EREE
RIEBRO T 5 FBP XM AR
REEK iu“f’—El?‘fﬁubeﬁﬁi
T - AEBBIANEEZE LN
T IBZEIEDREFH
*HH’\TH\%*%“%}\W
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TEBEREETY -
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BS.

Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches great importance to
procurement principles. In the procurement of
materials and services, the Group has established
procurement policies and procedures to promote
fair and open competition. We ensure that we can
meet the best economic benefits in terms of price,
quality, delivery period and service when
purchasing materials and hiring services. As a
responsible organisation, the Group abides by the
spirit of the contract and complies with the
principles, objectives and contents of the contract
signed between us and the suppliers. During the
Reporting Period, the Group cooperated with a
total of 87 suppliers, all of which were located in
the PRC.

The Group has the responsibility to ensure that the
procurement of materials and services is conducted
in a highly professional manner and complies with
the established code of ethics, so that the
resources are used properly, and the suppliers will
have the confidence to continue doing business
with the Group. We must ensure that the suppliers
understand and comply with the Code of Conduct
and the procurement policies formulated by the
Group. The Group has established a list of selected
suppliers. Before any supplier is approved to enter
this list, we will review their company backgrounds
(including the recognitions, qualifications and
licenses they have obtained), product pricing and
supply terms. In order to standardise relevant
systems and processes, the Group has formulated
relevant work guidelines and standardised contract
forms, and conducts yearly evaluations on the
products and services of suppliers on a regular
basis to guarantee their compliance with the
Group's strict standards.

The list of selected suppliers will be reviewed at
the end of each year. Such a review involves an
evaluation of whether a supplier’s pricing, product
and service quality, efficiency, reliability, ability to
deliver goods on schedule, licence update and
technical capability are still in compliance with the
Group’s requirements and standards.
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Bé6.

HERERRS

The Group selects reputable and reliable suppliers to
provide high-quality, affordable and sustainable
products and services. The Group has a transparent
and independent procurement process to promote
competitiveness, which also serves the interests of
our shareholders and other stakeholders. The Group
aims to establish a vertically integrated supply chain
management system by integrating procurement
resources and developing supplier selection and
management mechanisms, thereby actively providing
comprehensive solutions to meet customer needs.
The Group expects to review supplier quality and
performance through relevant assessments and
reviews, and ensure communication in the procurement
process to accurately convey the Group's expectations
to suppliers. Although the Group’s main business does
not involve environmentally friendly products and
services in supplier selection, it still expects suppliers to
comply with relevant environmental standards and
regulations, and save resources as much as possible to
contribute to environmental protection.

Meanwhile, the Group encourages suppliers to
promote corporate social responsibility activities
and abide by corporate social responsibility rules
and environmental regulations. All business
transactions shall maintain high-standard ethics;
bribery or other illegitimate benefits must not be
provided or accepted; information relating to
business activities, structure, financial status and
performance shall be disclosed on a regular basis
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Product Responsibility

In order to maintain the Group's position in its
property management business and sustainability,
the Group strictly complies with the quality
standards of the industry to protect the Group's
reputation and public interests. The Group has
strictly complied with the laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters of its products and services.
No non-compliance incidents were identified
during the fiscal year.

Bé6.
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Quality Control

The Group is committed to providing superior and
reliable services to its customers. The Group
regularly reviews its service performance, policies
and procedures, including the improvement of
service quality, the maintenance of proper records,
and the adequacy of staff training to ensure the
provision of professional and attentive services and
to safeguard the Company's reputation and the
public interests. As the Group's business nature
does not involve product sales, there is no recall of
goods for safety and health reasons, nor is there
any recall procedure for products.

Customer Service Management

The Customer Service Department is responsible
for caring about customers actively, handling and
managing customer complaints, systematising and
refining customer relationship management,
standardising complaint handling work, and
enabling all complaints made by property owners
to be solved timely and reasonably.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a
total of 115 complaint cases regarding property
management services. All complaints have been
properly handled and resolved by the Customer
Service Department. In addition, the Group did not
receive any material non-compliance related to
products and services.

In order to standardise and regulate customer
services of operation units in various regions, the
Group has formulated normative documents such
as Property Owner’s Complaints Handling Sheet,
Standard Operating Procedures for Property
Owner’s Complaints Handling, etc. to constantly
improve its customer relationship management
level. In the future, the Group will continue to
maintain good relationships with customers by
providing superior services.
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The Group adopts the whole process customer AEEBRFE AN Y EER
service concept in project positioning, planning XBEBETREBEEM RE-F
and management of its property management BEHN2RBREPREES L&
business in the PRC, covers the customer FME R EREEEMNER
satisfaction indicator of related operation units in MEBEERBEINAHTZEESN
all regions into the scope of performance WEREZSE REFMa S
evaluation on these operation units, and constantly BORBTEHBUCERS -

improves our services in the interest of customers.

Management
according to law

The Group conducts lawful management and operation in accordance with the
requirements of government laws, regulations and policies, so as to ensure our
property’s safety and value increase. By virtue of normative approaches and with the
goal of pursuing the satisfaction of property owners, the Group provides efficient and
superior services for the property owners, and satisfies their requirements honestly
without fraud.

BREBFER ZH BRER KZEZEE AZEE BRASGEMELR R
HEBE-EHRENTFR UXITRERERNER RAEIRHESH - BE
MRS mEREXTER HEEHK-

Superior services

BER®

The Group develops business earnestly, makes unremitting pursuits and improves the
details to strive for perfection. The Group also makes full use of the internal and
external information about the quality environment, occupational health and safety,
and customer feedback. It constantly improves the quality, environmental and
occupational health and safety management system, keeps such systems always in
effect, and pursues endlessly a higher level of management and performance.

EXBLATEN TBER ZTEAH HIRKFEEXZ X2 MNARAIETD
BE8R%E %%&Jﬁkifmu&@gﬁ’]&ﬁ CAEERFERNELE RELB
ERELZ2EEBRAALIRITEARAY THELEENERNESER

Infinite innovation

IR A5

The Group will focus on infinite innovation, and uphold the spirit of infinite innovation
from business levels to management approaches. Employees of the Group shall have
the spirit of loving and respecting their jobs and being ready for innovation, and
attempting to achieve the synchronous development of both individual and corporate
values.

AEERZENERNAN EXCEELEEEFER FAGERAFNEM -
AEBEETEEEHUE ZRAFNEE BEREAABERCENRTER-

Sustainable
development

%"ﬁﬁﬁ

Standardised management is crucial to the Group's development. To achieve
development, the Group must attach importance to standardised management,
establish and improve its quality, environmental and occupational health and safety
systems, establish effective inspection and implementation mechanisms, and
guarantee the Group's steady and sustainable development.

%E%ﬁa@mx@?‘é WA SEREXRVBIESENHREEE BIYMT
ZEENEE RRETRBREREZEHNE BYARMNBEMEEHS A
%%Eﬂ?ﬁ%?
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Receiving a complaint

B R

!

Keeping records of the complaint

R B R 8%

v

Minor complaint

BHIRF

!

Making commitment

i R

!

Reporting to Officer
EHREME

!

Customer Service Officer
organises for resolution

=P R EEA SRR

v

Important complaint

EERF

!

Making commitment

g R

!

Reporting to Manager
EaRigE

!

Manager organises for
resolution paying return visits

RRIB AR BARR

v

Major complaint

ERKRF

!

Reporting to General Manager

ERRgE

!

Holding an office meeting

ARRLEE

!

General Manager organises
for resolution

BRI AR RAROR

v

Keeping archives and
paying return visits

BB ETEA
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Upon the receipt of the complaint from a property owner, at first, the
property butler will show sympathy for what the property owner is suffering
from on behalf of the department being complained, and keep detailed
records in the Logs of the Customer Service Department immediately. In
case of a minor complaint, it may be submitted to the department in the
form of a Work Contact Sheet.

EERIXIRFR DEEFEERAXRBERFBAAAEINEERT
RAfE YT EFPREFARIPEFFALE  ABEMRFA
DCITEB BB X X R FALM -

Complaint channels for property owners include:

o Reception desk switchboard o Customer service receptionist
E VA= Z R AT A

o QQ group of property owners o Official Weibo and WeChat
¥ EQQH account

B 77 8 kK1 %R

The Group employs students from high schools as temporary staff to
conduct sampling surveys on the satisfaction of the property owners about
our products and services, and collect customer opinions and suggestions
about the daily services, in an attempt to constantly improve the Group's
customer service level and property management quality. Moreover, the
Group listens to the voices of customers, actively collects customer opinions,
rapidly responds to customer needs, and devotes itself to continuously
improving customer service via channels such as hotlines, written
suggestions, property owners’ forums, social media, etc.

AEBERSTERBFELAEFRER T HXFTETERNRBEREE
WHERAE THASEENRFTRBETEFEREZZORE MU
THRASENEPREKTIRDEEERE - AEEERA
REER EHERE ¥ImE HIRXERBRZRBE HEERPLE B
BREEFER ARCDERFZE BIRNBKERETFPRBEIIE-
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B7.

Intellectual property rights

The Group recognises the importance of protecting
intellectual property rights and reinforces the
standards in the policies stated in the Code of
Conduct. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not experience any material infringement of
intellectual property rights and has taken all
reasonable measures to prevent any infringement
of third parties’ intellectual property rights.

Information confidentiality

The Group attaches great importance to the
confidentiality of sensitive information. Every new
employee is required to sign a confidentiality
agreement and strictly abide by its terms to ensure
that every employee understands the Group's
confidentiality requirements for sensitive
information, including customer information and
trade secrets within the Group. The Group strictly
prohibits any unauthorised disclosure to prevent
information leakage from any direct or indirect
means.

Anti-corruption

The Group understands the importance of
anticorruption and integrity. Therefore, the Group
prohibits any act of corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud or money laundering. The practice of good
moral integrity and anti-corruption mechanisms
ensures the Group's acts in all work are professional,
honest and fair.

The Group strictly abides by the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and requires all employees not
to directly or indirectly provide, undertake, require,
or accept any illegitimate benefits, nor carry out
other dishonest acts that breach good faith, laws,
or national regulations during business engagements.
This includes criminal offences such as corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering, as well
as other acts like providing illegal political
contributions, improper charitable donations or
sponsorships, offering or accepting unreasonable
gifts, entertainment, or other illegitimate benefits,
infringing business secrets, trademark rights, patent
rights, copyrights, and other intellectual property
rights, and engaging in unfair competition, etc. The
Group mandates that employees must report any
benefits received, and the Group will make the final
decision on their disposal.
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The Group has established a comprehensive anti-
corruption policy to strengthen business ethics,
which includes strictly regulating the behaviour of
employees and encouraging the maintenance of
good conduct, so that our employees understand
the importance of upholding ethical conduct and
practise it at work. As the cornerstone of the
Group's culture of integrity, the Group requires all
employees to be familiar with and strictly follow the
established anti-corruption policies. The Group
regularly provide educational materials related to
anti-corruption for directors and employees. We
will stay committed to enhancing the importance of
business ethics and the anti-corruption concept of
employees, to strengthen the practice of good
corporate culture in the future.

During the Reporting Period, neither the Group nor
its employees were prosecuted for corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

Whistle-blowing Channel and Policy

The whistleblower complaint shall truthfully report
the situation to the Administration Centre. Upon
receipt of the whistleblowing matter, the Administration
Centre will investigate the complaint. The Administration
Centre will keep the whistleblower’s personal information
confidential and will submit the case to the competent
external agency for disposal when necessary. The
whistleblower will undertake corresponding legal liability
for fabricating facts, falsifying evidence, or conducting
false charges or frame-ups by whistleblowing.
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BS.

Community Investment

The Group insists on the philosophy of giving back
to society. Apart from the continual and robust
operation of business development, the Group will
make active efforts to show the service spirit of our
core corporate values, integrate ideas of community
concern and participation, and continue devoting
them to all kinds of education, cultural and social
welfare activities.

Volunteer Services

The Group is committed to performing its
corporate civic responsibility, of which volunteer
service is an important part. During the Reporting
Period, a total of 368 employees of the Group
participated in approximately 3,031 hours of
volunteer services, including but not limited to
caring for empty nesters, celebrating traditional
Chinese festivals, and providing free carpet and fan
cleaning services, etc., to improve neighbourhood
and community relationships.

In the future, the Group will invest more resources
into various educational, cultural and social welfare
activities, actively participate in community
activities, and express the Group's concern for and
return to local communities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS DATA REBEEAE
FY 2024/2025 FY 2023/2024°
—g-m/ —E-=
—E-% —ZEg
BHEE BHEE?
GHG Emissions (tCOse) BERBHEHRM-_ELHREE)
Scope 1 - Direct GHG emissions EE--EERZRBUR N/ATE N/AT i B
Scope 2 - Energy indirect GHG EE--®FHERE
emissions RRER
Purchased electricity NEE N 63,628.4 55.249.5
Scope 3 - Others indirect GHG HE=-HMOHEERE
emissions
Paper waste disposed at landfills EENHEENER 31.3 304
Business air travel by employees EERLREIILLE 10.2 16.4
Electricity consumption for fresh water RERKRGKERNE D
and sewage processing 699.7 959.1
Total GHG emissions REREFNAE 64,369.6 56,255.4
Total GHG emission intensity BERBHEHATEM -8R

(tCO.e/property projects) EE/MEER) 1,129.3 852.4
Non-hazardous waste (kg) BEBENAR)

Total non-hazardous waste BEBEYMLE 6,529.5 6,331.3
Intensity of non-hazardous waste BEBRUNEE(RFR/

(kg/property projects) MEREE) 114.6 95.9
Energy consumption (MWh) REREHERE)

Direct energy consumption EREREE N/ATE R N/AT i
Indirect energy consumption M e R H %

Purchased electricity INEE N 102,543.7 96,877.9
Total energy consumption RREHEE 102,543.7 96,877.9
Total energy consumption intensity ERHEBZEKRER/

(MWh/property projects) MEER) 1,799.0 1,467.8
Water consumption (m?) HKE(XFXK)

Total water consumption mEKE 1,469,918.4 1,482,398.2
Total water consumption intensity (m3/ #EKRE(LF K/
property projects) MEEH) 25,788.0 22,460.6
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SOCIAL ASPECTS DATA HEE@EE

FY 2024/2025 FY 2023/2024
g/ =ZE-=/
—_ZE_Fh —F =M
BB FE BB FEE

Number of employees® BEIAHS
Total BAH 880 952
By Gender LAt Bl &l o
Male 514 578 641
Female M 302 311
By Age Group NEwRAR 32
<25 < 25%% 58 82
26-35 26-351% 195 209
36-45 36-4575% 293 320
46-55 46-5573% 269 305
> 55 > 555% 65 36
By Employment Type NEBENE S
Full-time i 880 939
Part-time B 0 13
By Geographical Region R & & 2
Hong Kong T8 4 3
The PRC A 876 949
Employee Turnover Rate EIRKE
Overall 2R 29% 43%
By Gender Bt B & o
Male B 27% 42%
Female M 33% 46%
By Age Group LEwRMAR & 5
<25 < 25%% 114% 93%
26-35 26-355% 35% 65%
36-45 36-4573% 21% 37%
46-55 46-557%, 18% 22%
>S5S > 555% 17% 39%
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FY 2024/2025

FY 2023/2024

—g-mS ZT_-=
—ZE_-H —F-
BREE M EE
By Geographical Region i E & 2
Hong Kong ' 0% 1,067%
The PRC FE A 29% 40%
Health and Safety BRREEZ2
Cases of work-related fatalities T = 0 0
Work-related injury T 5@z 5 16
Lost days due to work injury ITEMmMBERZIIERE 127 867
Development and Training BERREI
Total training hours for employees EIXIAERHK 5,880 6,851
Total employees trained =R 876 948
Percentage of employee trained 238 It Al 99.6% 99.0%
By Gender B Bl & 2
Male 5 66% 67%
Female Z M 34% 33%
By Employee Category LEBEAE S
General staff E@mB T 78%¢ 79%
Middle management FEEEABR 16% 15%
Senior management BRERAEBR 6% 6%
Average training hours TG
By Gender B Bl & 2
Male B 6.1 6.5
Female 7tk 7.9 8.6
By Employee Category NEEERES
General staff LTmET 3.1 4.0
Middle management FEEEAEB 19.3 18.4
Senior management SRERAER 17.4 21.9
Supply Chain Management HrEEEs
Total number of suppliers £t e 7 A B 87 158
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RE #HERER/KRS

FY 2024/2025

FY 2023/2024

—E-@mS —ET-=
—ZE_-H —F=
HREE M EE
By Geographical Region i & &l o
The PRC BE 87 148
Hong Kong R R 0 10
Product Responsibility EmEE
Number of products and service-related  # B R E m & IR % % 5F & B
complaints received 115 205
Anti-corruption RES
Number of corruption litigation cases ESFAREGHHE RFRAER
and the outcomes of the cases 0 0
Community Investment HERE
Corporate donations TrEEEZRY N/ATE R N/A iE A
Employees’ volunteer hours BEETIERH 3,031 1,832
Number of employees participated in EEBIFEREE AH
volunteer activities 368 526
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STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING CODE BRXFARE LS REBRE T
Part A: Environmental AT D BIE
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
ESGE 18 B I 12 Mt &
A1. Emissions
A1 BE R

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws Environment
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

EHERNAERBHEN MAKERELHOHET FFR
BEEBREVNELNBRR  RETHETABEAZE
MEREZELRROINER-

B
il

KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.  Air Emissions

KPIATABE R BB R EE- B R BE

KPI' A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, Greenhouse Gas Emissions
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

KPIAI2BERBAEBENECIEMAZE)REEMWER (0 AEREBHEMN
MEERER - 58 RmHHE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, Waste Management
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

KPIAISFELA A EREVHEVEABE)REEWER) EYEE

(WA BEESEMN BERETE) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, Waste Management
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

KPPAMMARMEEABREEEVREUBAREIREEWMER) EMERE

(WA BEESEMN BERETE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and Greenhouse Gas Emissions,

results achieved. Target for GHG Emissions
KPIATSH BB BE R EWE RS AR - BREREBHN RERE
P B R

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Waste Management, Waste
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved. Management Goals
KPlAMGHMEREERBEEEREYN I E REELEE BEVEE BEYWEERRE
R RTERR-
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s)
ESGE | 18 B3 B 12

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Use of Resources
water and other raw materials.

ERERERBREER KEEMRTEDOREK- &R & A

KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Energy Consumption
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

KPIA2 I BB E D MER R/ LMERRWE - Rah) BIRER
BREUUTATESAE)IREE(WABESE B -

BRIEETHE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Water Consumption
unit of production volume, per facility).

KPIA22BBFEKERBEE(NMNEBEEEMN  FEHIRBTE) - FEK

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and Energy Consumption,

results achieved. Energy Use Goals
KPI A2.3% it BE IR £ A3 20 R #5 i M ER 15 RO B R » BRRER BERERB R

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Water Consumption, Water
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and  Efficiency Goals

results achieved.

M SKBRERKREABEABE BSHRKEREUAR BK BKRFZER
IS H) R R -

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Packaging Materials Our business
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit activities do
produced. not involve any
packaging
materials used.
KPIA2SE K m PP AEEMENESUMAE)R(NER) B2XE9H Mo EBE
BEEBMEE- BAYRER
ERBEMF
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BB HERERBRE

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
ESGE @ HE B Mt &

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the Energy Efficiency, Water

environment and natural resources. Management
MEBTAHRREERAERENEAZENRREK - RS AKE R

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on  The Environment and
the environment and natural resources and the actions taken Natural Resources

to manage them.

KPILABIH M EB EHHRRERRARERNERATER BERXAER
EERNEREEBATZENTH-

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- Climate Change
related issues which have impacted, and those which may

impact, the issuer.

BRAREHOCERAREHBETAEEATENERR KT REZEL
HEEEMBRE-

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate Change
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,

and the actions taken to manage them.

KPIAMNE M ER R AR EHBTAEETENEAR RIKEL
REBEE REHTH-
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R HEREAHRS

Part B. Social

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
ESGE @ 1B B B &

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and Employment
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
ERFHMEEE BEREA ITERHE BRE FTSEK ER

g Zalt REGSAREAMEGTE REFOHREKRESF
HETABEAZENHBZEZEZRRAINER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age Our Employees
group and geographical region.

KPIBI1RMR - ERBEL FhRAN LK BRESNEE HMANEES
mE -

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and  Our Employees
geographical region.

KPIB1.2 MR - FiRAN R REDHWEERRLE HMANEE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations  Health and Safety
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a

safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

FHRHBZE2TIFERRARERERL2BELNEENR BRER 2
RRBTHETABEARZENHEBEEZRRAINESR -

KPI' B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
KPIB2IE T =8 M AB R b %X - fEmRELE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
KPIB22EI TZ#EARTFR & - fEmREZE

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Health and Safety
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

KPIB23f M AR MM B X R FE R 28K AREAER BREAL:2
TRERTE-
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
ESGE @ HE B Mt &

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Development and Training
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
FERTEERTIEBRENANBIRRENERR -Fl R NFI

AR & o

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and Training
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle

management).

KPIB31TRRMEFEBEEN(MSREEE TREEES) HERLFI
EoMEINEEB DL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee Development and Training
by gender and employee category.

KPIB32®Z MBI REEHEANE D BREE TKIINF FHREMFI

3 85 9 -

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and Labour Standards
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating

to preventing child and forced labour.
FEPLETR RS THOBRRRETHETABEKR ST EER
FTENHEBEEIRLANNER-

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
KPIB41f it i st B EPI M EE AR R ET RREISET - B ITHE

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Labour Standards
when discovered.

KPIB42ii i AR EZ R B AR ER ABABAMEKRE % ITER

R e

w
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R HEREAHRS

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
ESGE @ HE B Mt &

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the Supply Chain Management

supply chain.

ERHEENREIELGARBE- HEEEE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
KPIBS 1R mEl W HEEEMEA - e A=

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain Management
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.

KPIBS2f it EAIE A EENEDN WERTEBEN HEEERE
MEERHEE UARBHAEBIHORTRERT A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental  Supply Chain Management
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

KPIBS3 i BB M ERBERSNRER LR HERER

R EO UREERATRER -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally  Supply Chain Management
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

KPIBSA MM AR EZEHEARREZRARERER RS HEREE
MER ARBEBERTRERT A
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
ESGE @ HE B Mt &

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and Product Responsibility
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and
method of redress.
FHRMRHERNRENRERER S BES SH KL
BREEARBRDZNBRRRETHETABREARE
WHEBEEERBRIEER-

R
=l
il
[

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject Product Responsibility
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
KPIBGIEEXEEXEMABTRL2>ERHEEMM EmEE
BARKME DL

KPl B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints Product Responsibility
received and how they are dealt with.

KPIB6 2 BRAMNERMMEREWRFHREAREH T X EmEML

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and  Product Responsibility
protecting intellectual property rights.

KPIBo3f i St E (RIS E BB O - EmAE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Product Responsibility
procedures.

KPIB6AHH L E B E B2 K& & m Wi fF - EmEE

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Product Responsibility
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

KPIB6SHE M BB EERNRERALBRRX URKHBEBENT EREMT
NERFTE-
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s)
ESGE | 18 B3 B 12

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws  Anti-corruption
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
EEMLER R HAFMAERENRRLRETEHE REHD
TABEATZENHBZEIERRNNER-

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during

the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases.

KPIBTIR B EHAHBETAXEBEERLICELEN RES
BETFARGNHEBERFDER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Anti-corruption
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

KPIB7 2 fh B R BHEF UERBEBATELER RES

TE

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to  Anti-corruption
directors and staff.
KPIB/T3HW A MEFREIRHMREIZHI - k&S

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Community Investment
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure

that its activities take into consideration the communities’

interests.

FERNTR2ERTREENCEHLRFENEREEL HRRE
EHEETEMLBRAMEAHBEK-

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Community Investment
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

KPIBSIZXTEREB(IWHAE REFHE HIFTK BR HERHAE
Xib-BE)-

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the Community Investment
focus area.

KPIBS2EE TEHBMBHAERMEEXKHE) - e E
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@ bakertilly
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Level 8, K11 ATELIER King's Road
728 King's Road, Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

To the Board of Directors of AUX International Holdings Limited T +852 2525 0171
F:+852 2810 1417

enquiries@bakertilly.hk

Independent Assurance Report www.bakertilly.hk

AUX International Holdings Limited (the “Company") and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) Independent Assurance Report on selected Environment, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

We have been engaged to perform a limited assurance engagement (the “engagement”) on
the selection of consolidated ESG KPIs listed in Appendix 1 (the “Selected Information”)
disclosed in the Group's ESG Report (the “Report”) for the reporting period from 1 April 2024
to 31 March 2025.

Board of Directors’ responsibilities

The Board of Directors is responsible for the selection of the applicable criteria (hereafter
“Applicable Criteria”) and for the preparation and presentation of the Selected Information in
accordance with the Applicable Criteria. This responsibility includes the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation of the
Selected Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our independence and quality management

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"), which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity,
professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

Our firm applies Hong Kong Standard on Quality Management 1 “Quality Management for
Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related
Services Engagements” which requires the firm to design, implement and operate a system of
quality management, including policies or procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
Page 1 of 7
ASSURANCE + TAX * RISK & FINANCIAL ADVISORY + RECOVERY & INSOLVENCY

Baker Tilly Hong Kong is a full-service accounting and advisory firm that offers industries specialised services in audit and assurance, tax
and corporate services, risk and financial advisory, valuation, forensic investigation, corporate restructuring, recovery and insolvency.
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Our responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Selected Information based on the
evidence we have obtained. We conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance
with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements (HKSAE) 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information. This standard
requires that we plan and perform this engagement to obtain limited assurance about
whether the Selected Information in the Report is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Summary of work performed

We have undertaken procedures to obtain sufficient evidence based on risk and materiality
considerations. The procedures selected depend on the practitioner’s judgment. This
includes the assessment of the risks of material misstatements related to Selected
Information. The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature
and timing and are less in scope than for, a reasonable assurance engagement.
Consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is
substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had we performed a
reasonable assurance engagement.

Although we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls when
determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our assurance engagement was not
designed to provide assurance on internal controls. Our procedures did not include testing
controls or performing procedures relating to checking aggregation or calculation of data
within IT systems.

The Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) quantification process is subject to scientific uncertainty,
which arises because of incomplete scientific knowledge about the measurement of GHGs.
Additionally, GHG procedures are subject to estimation (or measurement) uncertainty
resulting from the measurement and calculation processes used to quantify emissions within
the bounds of existing scientific knowledge.

Page 2 of 7
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Our limited assurance procedures included, amongst others, the following work:

evaluated the suitability in the circumstances of the Company’s use of the
Applicable Criteria, as the basis for preparing the assured ESG information;
through inquiries of relevant staff at corporate and selected locations responsible
for the preparation of the assured ESG information, obtained an understanding of
the Company’s control environment, processes and information systems relevant
to the preparation of the assured ESG information, but did not evaluate the design
of particular control activities, obtain evidence about their implementation or test
their operating effectiveness;

tested a limited number of items to or from supporting records over assured ESG
information, as appropriate;

considered the presentation and disclosure of the assured ESG information;
performed analytical procedures on selected assured ESG information where
appropriate by comparing to the prior period results reported and made inquiries
of management to obtain explanations for any significant differences we identified;
evaluated whether the methodologies adopted by the Company for developing
estimates of selected assured ESG information where relevant, are appropriate
and had been consistently applied, but did not include testing the data on which
the estimates are based or separately developing our estimates against which to
evaluate the Company’s estimates; and

performed recalculations of selected assured ESG information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our limited assurance conclusion.

Our conclusion

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, nothing
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Selected Information and the

Report have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Applicable

Criteria.

Yours faithfully,

F@ﬂiﬁ&%ﬁWﬁbWﬂ

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 21 July 2025

Page 3 of 7
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Report of the Directors
ESEHS

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 15 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the financial year,
which includes a fair review of the Group's business, a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group, an analysis of the Group's financial key performance,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the
financial year and after the end of the financial year, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group's business,
can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on pages 8 to 14 and the Group's environmental policies
and performance can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 37 to 97 of this annual report. The
contents of the abovementioned sections form parts of the
business review as contained in this report of the Directors.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
may have a material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group recognises that employees are one of the
significant assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue
establishing a caring environment to employees and
emphasises the personal development of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers
and suppliers. The Group aims to continually provide quality
services and consumption experiences to its customers and
establish cooperation strategy with its suppliers.

Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-
friendly corporate environment that pays close attention to
conserving natural resources. The Group strives to minimise its
impact on the environment by reducing its electricity
consumption and encouraging recycling of office supplies and
other materials. For further details, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on
pages 37 to 97 of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
and the state of the Company's and the Group's affairs as at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 122
to 129.

TRANSFER OF RESERVES

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company before
dividends, of HK$24,004,000 (2024: HK$16,721,000) have been
transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available
for distribution to Shareholders, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Act (2022 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately HK$106,186,000 (2024:
HK$117,598,000).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 212 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no other movements in the share capital of the
Company, and there were no purchases, sales or redemptions
of the Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31
March 2025, there were no treasury shares held by the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases
from the major customers and suppliers during the year ended
31 March 2025 is as follows:

B E B R

EFWTME
SEMBERZ-

FTEEFRHAER

ERRAFBEARAEZME

TEEFREMEBARBEE_T A=A
EWL*EIJtiEWfEK%lﬁﬁ%&%E%Z

ERmT

Percentage of
the Group's
total revenue

Percentage of
the Group's
total purchases

AR E K HAEERE
BEBI wEBIH
The largest customer SN 6%
Five largest customers in aggregate A A X F & & 17%
The largest supplier SN ] 25%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate i K it fE i & H 55%

During the Year, other than Ningbo AUX Real Estate Co., Ltd
(which accounted for approximately 5.5% of the total sales for
the year ended 31 March 2025), in which Mr. Zheng Jianjiang
and Mr. Zheng Jiang indirectly hold 85.0% interests and 10.0%
interests, respectively, and Ningbo Mingzhou Hospital, which
is an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of a 30%-controlled
company held by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang (which accounted for
approximately 3.5% of the total sales for the year ended 31
March 2025), none of the Directors, their close associates or
Shareholders who to the best knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company
has any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest
suppliers or customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Jiang (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Hon Ki

Ms. Shen Guoying

Ms. Chen Lingxiao

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zheng Jianjiang
(re-designated from an executive Director to
a non-executive Director with effect from 1 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok
Mr. Bau Siu Fung
Ms. Lou Aidong
(retired from office with effect from 23 August 2024)
Mr. Chau Siu Lun
(appointed with effect from 23 August 2024)

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as addition to the Board. Any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation.

Accordingly, Ms. Shen Guoying, Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok and Ms.
Chen Lingxiao will retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting ("AGM") of the Company. All retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 15 to 18 of this annual report.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
then Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO"), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which the Directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register therein,
or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules were as follows:

(A) Long position in Ordinary Shares

EERBEETRAEREG HH
ROREEIFZEER XA

RZE_AF=ZA=1t—HB ARAEH
EELRERITBRAERARA REMEMA
BEABE(EZRESFRBERITESF K
HIERADEXVE) 2 Bt - HEER D RE
RETFTEERBESFLRPEHIEXVEE
TRBDEHEAMNEARB LB ZERAR
KRR (BERBREBEEFLBEGRINZFHRX
ERAEFHEFAERITRABEEZ
BELKR) IRBEFHFLRBMEGINF
3N AR ARG Az ELM 2 R R
KA RRE LW R R PTE R E S RIAM
EARRALMRAZEELRBENT

(A) BEBERZ2HFR

Percentage
of the issued

Long position share capital

Capacity/ in ordinary (approximately)

Name of shareholder Nature of Interest shares held (Note 1)
2 BITRAE

B2t

BEEEER (8 49)

BE%ER 5% EuHEE 2R (HfaE1)
Zheng Jianjiang (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 337,950,000 68.55%

corporation

BT (ff 5L 2) XA EE R

Notes:

1. On the basis of 492,984,000 shares of the Company in issue as at
31 March 2025.

2. These shares were held by Huiri Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability which is owned as
to 90% by Ze Hui Limited, a wholly-owned company by Mr. Zheng
Jianjiang.
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(B) Long positions in the shares and underlying sharesof (B) RAAQA T B ZIZE 2R A R BE R
associated corporation of the Company iAo

Approximately

Percentage of

Name of associated Name of Capacity/Nature of Number and the issued

Corporation Directors interest class of shares share capital

BERTREZ

MELEEB BEEns B/ REnttE BB REH LR SNER

Huiri Limited (Note1) Zheng Jiang Interest in a controlled 0.1 10%

corporation ordinary shares

EHZERERARMF) &I XREEERES B R

Huiri Limited (Note 2) Zheng Jianjiang  Interest in a controlled 0.9 90%

corporation ordinary shares

EOERERARAKF2) BRI XmiEER AR

China Prosper Enterprise Zheng Jiang Interest in a controlled 1,000 10%

Holding Co., Ltd. (Note 1) corporation ordinary shares
China Prosper Enterprise 8T XREERES B R
Holding Co., Ltd (#f & 1)
China Prosper Enterprise Zheng Jianjiang  Interest in a controlled 8,500 85%
Holding Co., Ltd (Note 2) corporation ordinary shares
China Prosper Enterprise BT XEEERS =R R
Holding Co., Ltd (K #2)

Note: M &7 -

1 Ze Hong Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Zheng Jiang, 1 BIXE2EHEENRARZELARRAA
was interested in (i) 10% of the issued share capital of Huiri ROARBHMEZERAGIEBZRKRAERAR A
Limited, being the holding company of the Company; and (ii) 10% BETRAMION: RHEBERERA
of the issued share capital of China Prosper Enterprise Holding 7] #) [/ K [ff /8 2 7] China Prosper Enterprise
Co., Ltd., being a fellow subsidiary of Huiri Limited. Mr. Zheng Holding Co., Ltd. B & 1T IR A W 10% + % &
Jiang was deemed to be interested in the shares of Huiri Limited B REZFHFRBEH BT EER
and China Prosper Enterprise Holding Co., Ltd. as held by Ze RAEARZEEZEARARAFENEBZERA
Hong Limited by virtue of the SFO. R A 7] & China Prosper Enterprise Holding

Co., Ltd By R EA 2 -
2. Ze Hui Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang, 2. HETEAETERBRNERARLD AR

was interested in (i) 90% of the issued share capital of Huiri
Limited, being the holding company of the Company; and (ii) 85%
of the issued share capital of China Prosper Enterprise Holding
Co., Ltd., being a fellow subsidiary of Huiri Limited. Mr. Zheng
Jianjiang was deemed to be interested in the shares of Huiri
Limited and China Prosper Enterprise Holding Co., Ltd as held by
Ze Hui by virtue of the SFO.

EEERERARAMARANZERAF)
90%& B # 17 Bk A (i) China Prosper
Enterprise Holding Co., Ltd. (f& B # ik 5 R &
AlEE XK B R F )8R E BITRAR
BERZ REZFHFRBAEHKRM BRI
EEHERREZEBEARAAMMBANEH
% & B R A 7] KChina Prosper Enterprise
Holding Co., Ltd. &9 % 1 # & # &= ©
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Apart from the foregoing, no other interests and short
positions required to be recorded in the register kept under
section 352 of the SFO have been notified to the Company.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of
persons other than the chief executive of the Company who
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Bk £t F SN A _”T\%ﬂi‘%ﬁf ‘A RS 8
F*ETEM%&HH f H%E’»SZ{ frEEr

BrRfR s

FERRAROREBRG 2%
wRAR

RZEZ_RAF=ZA=ZF+—H8 EAXRAIR
BEREAFLBEKMNEDBKHFE 2= M
Fratgk THAT(KRRARIZESITHRAER
SR ARBIRDEBEROS  HEBER
BELALBEKROEXVIEE2R3D KX
MARGBLRBRABEECESRABRT

Percentage
of the issued

Long position share capital

Capacity/ in ordinary (approximately)
Name of shareholder Nature of Interest shares held (Note 1)
EETRAE
B2
BEZTER (8 %)
BER®E B0 Rt E ZHR (Mfat1)
Ze Hui Limited (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 337,950,000 68.55%
corporation
EE AR A (M E2) RELAEER
Huiri Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 337,950,000 68.55%
fEHZERBRRAMGE2) EnHEA A
He Yi Ju (Note 3) Interest of spouse 337,950,000 68.55%
] B % (K 3£ 3) i 18 1 &=
Xu Xingen Beneficial owner 32,400,000 6.57%
®wER En#EA A
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Notes:

1. On the basis of 492,984,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31
March 2025.

2. Huiri Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with

limited liability which is owned as to 90% by Ze Hui Limited (which is in
turn wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang) and 10% by
Ze Hong Limited (which is in turn wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Zheng Jiang, a current executive Director). Each of Mr. Zheng Jianjiang
and Ze Hui Limited is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Huiri Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. He Yi Ju is the spouse of Mr. Zheng Jianjiang. Under the SFO, Ms.
He Yi Ju was taken to be interested in the same number of shares in
which Mr. Zheng Jianjiang was interested.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests and short
positions required to be recorded in the register kept under
section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than those transactions disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report of the
Directors, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year ended 31 March 2025 or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than those transactions disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report of the
Directors, during the Year, there was no contract of
significance (i) between the Company or its subsidiaries and
the controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries; or (ii) for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

ff it
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EEYIRE2EETHE)D B E AN R
10%Em - REZFRBEGHERD BRITEER
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BERGOMARDRHEAE -

3. ﬂxﬁ*ﬁtﬁéﬂilﬁiﬂﬁﬁiﬁ RIEEF R
PEGY WERLIERERSRBETELE
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this report of the Directors, at no time during the
year, the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
subsidiaries. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of
18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares or
debentures of the Company or its subsidiaries or had
exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 the Board is not aware of
any business or interests of the then Directors and their
respective associates that had competed or might compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interests which any such person had or might have with the
Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications,
competence and job nature.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board,
having regard to the Group's operating results and individual
performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors, employees and other eligible persons.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in
note 2(p) to the financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

2024 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “"2024
Share Option Scheme”) on 20 February 2024 which shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from that date and
accordingly have a remaining life until 19 February 2034,
subject to early termination by the Company in a general
meeting or by the Board. The purpose of the 2024 Share
Option Scheme is to (i) to enable the Company to grant
options to the eligible participants detailed below as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth and
development of the Group; (ii) to attract and retain personnel
to promote the sustainable development of the Group; and (iii)
to align the interest of the grantees with those of the
Shareholders to promote the long-term financial and business
performance of the Group. Under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme, the Board may offer to grant options to the following
eligible persons, being employees (whether full time or part
time, and including directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) from time to time,
including persons who are granted options under the 2024
Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into
employment contracts with these companies.
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A total of 49,298,400 Shares may be issued in respect of all
share options that may be granted under the 2024 Share
Option Scheme, representing approximately 10% of the total
number of issued Shares as at 20 February 2024 (the date of
adoption of the 2024 Share Option Scheme) and as at the date
of this annual report. Where any offer of options to a
participant under the 2024 Share Option Scheme would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options
granted to the participant under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme and all options and awards granted to the participant
under any other share schemes of the Company (excluding all
options that have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
2024 Share Option Scheme and all options and awards that
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of any other share
schemes of the Company) in the 12-month period up to and
including the offer date representing in aggregate over 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue, such an offer must be
separately approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting.

An offer shall have been accepted by a participant in respect
of all the options which are offered to such a participant when
the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly
signed by the participant together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company within such time as
may be specified in the offer (which period shall be up to 21
days from the offer date). The option period within which an
option may be exercised by a grantee may be determined and
notified by the Board to the grantee, which must not be more
than 10 years from the offer date of the option. In the absence
of such determination, the option period of an option shall
commence on the offer date of the option and end on the
earlier of (i) the date on which the option is cancelled or lapses
under the 2024 Share Option Scheme; and (ii) the expiration of
the period of 10 years from the offer date of the option.

The vesting period in respect of an option, which shall
commence on the date on which the grantee accepts the offer
of the option and end on the vesting date, shall not be shorter
than 12 months from the date of acceptance of the offer,
unless a shorter vesting period is set in accordance with the
provisions of the 2024 Share Option Scheme. The Remuneration
Committee (or, as the case may be, the Board) may further
establish performance target(s) in respect of specific grantees,
the attainment of which shall be a precondition for any exercise
of the options granted to the grantees concerned under the
2024 Share Option Scheme.
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The price per share at which a grantee may subscribe for the
share on the exercise of an option granted under the 2024
Share Option Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of
the Board, provided that it must be at least the highest of: (a)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date,
which must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

As the 2024 Share Option Scheme was adopted on 20 February
2024, the scheme has a remaining life of approximately 9 years.
Since the adoption date of the 2024 Share Option Scheme and
up to the date of this annual report, no option had been
granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme. Accordingly, as
at the beginning and end of the financial year, i.e. 1 April 2024
and 31 March 2025, 49,298,400 options were available for grant
under the scheme mandate of the 2024 Share Option Scheme.
As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the 2024 Share Option Scheme was
49,298,400 Shares, representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the share option scheme of the Group as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the

Group or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.
PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, the Company had a
permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at the date
of this report of the Directors, pursuant to which the Company
shall indemnify the Directors against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which any of them
may incur by reason of any act done in execution of their duty
in their respective offices, except such as they shall incur
through their own fraud or dishonesty. The Company has
maintained insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities.

EEARTERBE_ST_HEEREE
?ﬁu”jﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁﬂxﬁéﬁvT B AR 0 E’Jtﬂx{ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
HEFENEETET HEASEREQRKRHR
HWBEBMWMEREERESRB Xﬁﬁ
wE i’%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ’]qﬂlmfﬁ' ) B% 19 b’/\f%?%g
7B 8 AT AR & %EE%T/ %X PTE AW
?Eﬁﬁi MEHRTE: R HHEE
h

VEREE -

ED}uTmlJD])#@I

=

HR_ZE-_ONFEREFER_ZT_MF
“AZt+HTFUESR: EZEJriJTJé%EHﬁZ%
HWoF - 5 =T — /0 F B R 5T 2 & R
EHEEAFTFHRAES TERE-_Z =N
FTHEREFERETHERE AL R
B HREEMABERERBEI DT - MFE N
A—HBERZE-_RAF=ZA=Z+—H) R
BT /0GR E G S AT B R R

49,298,40017 HE I AT X B - R A F 5| A
M- RBRE-_Z-_NFBERKRES JHET
B A% 19 48 81 549,298,400 0% © 15 K & 7 B &
1T B A 10% °

IR R 9 E

SRAFRIBRESS] —BOMBEEZASE
EEREFEN RBEE_FT_AF=H
St BLEEE AEEBETIRFTHE
T fr] B 3R A 8 155 5% -

EEFHNBEMRX

REASERAN RBE-_FT_AF=
AZ+ " BLEBEEAFERAESTSREE
HERH ARXA-—BHE/SEFNNmFTA
ERHMEEFNBEKRX(ER R QA K
] 4691 - Tt WIEFNEETRETH
BERSMETNEMATEMELETMFL

RA-EBRH BX BERHA AQAZA
MEFL2HBEEES BEH ERF X

THETRAEEE) - A2FAERAER
AEDMIIBMNHBEENEZRTHRE
%%&%ﬁﬁﬂﬁk,\“{ﬂ%f&

Annual Report 2025 4 $§

109



Report of the Directors
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions between certain connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company and the
Group were conducted during the Year on a continuing basis
for which relevant announcements had been made by the
Company in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions (as disclosed in the
Company'’s circular dated 2 February 2024)

On 27 November 2023, Shuyi Property entered into property
management services framework agreements (collectively, the
"2023 Framework Agreements”) with each of (i) 2 & B3 M &
BREBEBRQF(H A ERER & FEEE@QTMWM
Mingzhou Healthcare Group Company Limited, formerly
known as Ningbo AUX Healthcare Group Company Limited)*),
("Ningbo Mingzhou Healthcare”) (the “2023 Framework
Agreement |"); (i) 2 7 H & F B & J(AUX Group
Company Limited?*) ( AUX Group Co.") (the "2023 Framework
Agreement II"); (i) ) = 2 BHEE R 1D B R 2 7 (Ningbo
Sanxing Medical Electrlc Co Ltd.*) ("Ningbo Sanxing
Medical”) (the * 2023 Framework Agreement I11"); (iv) % K &
% AT B ¥ A R 2 F(Ningbo AUX Real Estate Co, Ltd.*)
("Ningbo AUX Real Estate”) (the "2023 Framework Agreement
V), and (V) FER R T BT ER KM B R 2 7(Ningbo AUX
Electric Co., Ltd.*) ("Ningbo AUX Electric”) (the "2023
Framework Agreement V") (parties to each agreement
entering into such agreement for itself and as trustee for the
benefit of its subsidiaries from time to time) for the provision
of property management and other ancillary services by Shuyi
Property.

As at the date of the above agreements, (i) AUX Group Co.
was in aggregate directly held as to 100% by two companies,
each of which is held as to 85.00% by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang; (ii)
Ningbo Sanxing Medical was in aggregate directly held as to
approximately 49.28% by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang and the parties
acting in concert with him (including Mr. Zheng Jiang and AUX
Group Co.); (iii) Ningbo AUX Electric was in aggregate held as
to approximately 92.09% by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang, including
direct interests of 25.00% and indirect interests of
approximately 67.09% held through various entities; (iv)
Ningbo Mingzhou Healthcare was a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Ningbo Sanxing Medical; and (v) Ningbo AUX
Real Estate was indirectly held as to 85.00% by Mr. Zheng
Jianjiang, and Mr. Zheng Jianjiang indirectly holds
approximately 68.55% of the issued Shares. Accordingly, each
of AUX Group Co., Ningbo Sanxing Medical, Ningbo AUX
Electric, Ningbo Mingzhou Healthcare and Ningbo AUX Real
Estate was an associate (being a 30%-controlled company) of
Mr. Zheng Jianjiang, a controlling Shareholder of the Company
and hence a connected person of the Company. Therefore,
the transactions contemplated under the 2023 Framework
Agreements will constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Each of the 2023 Framework Agreements is effective for a term
commencing on 1 January 2024 and ending on 31 December
2026. Further details of each of the 2024 Framework
Agreements are disclosed below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

2023 Framework Agreement |

Under the 2023 Framework Agreement |, Shuyi Property
and its subsidiaries shall provide property housekeeping,
transportation and other ancillary services to Ningbo
Mingzhou Healthcare and/or its subsidiaries from time to
time for a term commencing on 1 January 2024 and
ending on 31 December 2026. The above transactions
shall be subject to the annual cap of RMB30.6 million,
RMB33.7 million and RMB41.5 million for the years
ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026,
respectively.

2023 Framework Agreement Il

Under the 2023 Framework Agreement Il, Shuyi Property
and its subsidiaries shall provide property management
services including maintenance, cleaning and security
services in connection with the offices, commercial
properties and car park units occupied by AUX Group
Co. and/or its subsidiaries for a term commencing on 1
January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026. The
above transactions shall be subject to the annual cap of
RMB1.2 million, RMB1.2 million and RMB1.2 million for
the years ended/ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and
2026, respectively.

2023 Framework Agreement Il]

Under the 2023 Framework Agreement IlI, Shuyi Property
and its subsidiaries shall provide property management
services including maintenance, cleaning and security
services in connection with the offices, car park units and
industrial park occupied by Ningbo Sanxing Medical
and/or its subsidiaries from time to time for a term
commencing on 1 January 2024 and ending on 31
December 2026. The above transactions shall be subject
to the annual cap of RMB13.5 million, RMB14.5 million
and RMB15.1 million for the years ended/ending 31
December 2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively.
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(iv) 2023 Framework Agreement IV

(v)

Under the 2023 Framework Agreement IV, Shuyi Property
and its subsidiaries shall various types of property
management services including management,
maintenance, cleaning and security services in
connection with the development projects of residential
properties and industrial park projects launched from
time to time and shopping complexes owned by Ningbo
AUX Real Estate and/or its subsidiaries. In addition,
Shuyi Property and its subsidiaries shall provide pre-sale
management services, sales offices management services
and unsold residential units property management
services and industrial park units property management
services to Ningbo AUX Real Estate and/or its
subsidiaries in respect of its respective residential
property development projects and industrial park
projects according to the project schedule and sales
phase. Vacant retail shop property management services
will also be provided to existing shopping complexes
owned by Ningbo AUX Real Estate and/or its
subsidiaries. The term of the 2023 Framework Agreement
IV shall be from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026.
The above transactions shall be subject to the annual
cap of RMB37.5 million, RMB31.5 million and RMB28.0
million for the years ended/ending 31 December 2024,
2025 and 2026, respectively.

2023 Framework Agreement V

Under the 2023 Framework Agreement V, Shuyi Property
and its subsidiaries shall provide property management
services including mainly maintenance, cleaning, and/or
security services in connection with the industrial park
properties owned or occupied by Ningbo AUX Electric
and/or its subsidiaries from time to time for a term
commencing on 1 January 2024 and ending on 31
December 2026. The above transactions shall be subject
to the annual cap of RMB8.6 million, RMB9.9 million and
RMB10.7 million for the years ended/ending 31
December 2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the transactions were entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms
or better and according to the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group and
confirming the matters set out in rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the
transactions disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, none of the related party
transactions disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements constituted a connected transaction or a
continuing connected transaction that was not fully exempt
from all disclosure, shareholders’ approval and annual review
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to
those continuing connected transactions conducted by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 which were not
exempt from the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the board

Mr. Zheng Jiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
AUX International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AUX
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 122 to 211, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% B AP 3R 5

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

HRESEHE

F%fk%.ﬁr%lﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁElﬁE%%Ileﬁ E
REAHEAVBBRRNEAZAEEN
%IHFJE%EIEEE?MF?% AERRAY
BHREMMAZEABETEREN -RMT
EHELEHREHEBNER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on this matter.

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables

EZRUREAHENGFERRRER

Refer to accounting policy note 2(i)(i) and notes 17 and 25(a) to the consolidated financial statements

WE 2B & AR B A 20)0) R AR
The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had trade receivables
with a total gross carrying amount of HK$61.3 million,
against which allowances for expected credit losses
("ECLs") of HK$8.9 million were recognised.

RZE_RAF=ZA=1+—RH EEEEGSESH
FEURBEERABERNIEEE L HPE®ER
BHEEER(EREEBRDREBIIBEEE T -

The Group's trade receivables arose from contracts
with customers, who are mainly property occupants
and property owners.
EEESRBHNEIRUFERBETF(EER
MEGERBAREX)ZRTNEL -

BB RENE17K25a)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EAONEERZSE

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowances
for trade receivables included the following:
BMFEESRUAERREEBEREANSE
ARFEBETIRE:

o obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating
to the assessment of ECL allowances;

. THRYFEEEAREEERB GG HER
WEARABEENRT BRI ETHERE:

o evaluating the Group's policy and method for
estimating the ECL allowances with reference
to the applicable accounting standard;

e Z2EFEAMEERFMH EHEEFME
HEEBERBEBOBEMT X
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BAD R S

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

HRESEEHGE)

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables (Continued)

EZRURARRBEFEBERBREE)

Refer to accounting policy note 2(i)(i) and notes 17 and 25(a) to the consolidated financial statements

FRE S HENE200) R FE BB IHEX N 17K 250)

The Key Audit Matter
HREFESER

Management measures the ECL allowances at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs of the trade
receivables based on the loss patterns for different
groups of customers, ageing of trade receivables and
historical loss rates.

EEERBIAREFPENEEERX BEHERK
FRERRIMABETEFEREEX LESEKRFKIESH
EHEEBENSECRAERHEEFRER -

We identified ECL allowances for trade receivables as
a key audit matter because of the significance of the
balances of trade receivables to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and that the
assessment of ECL allowances is inherently subjective
and requires the exercise of significant management
judgement.
BMBEESRRARBEREEERERRTER
HRESTFE DHARESRERKRERFHE
BERaBREeANEENL BRHEEEFEREE
BT RAE FEAFEMMPIREANER
) o
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAMEAONEEZSEE

° obtaining an understanding of the key data
and assumptions in the ECL model adopted by
management, including the segmentation of
trade receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and historical loss rates;

. THREERRKANEHGCEEERBEL B H
FRIBNRR BERBEAREERR
FBLRBEEREXDENE 5 EKRRIE:

° assessing the appropriateness of the estimate
of ECL allowances by examining the information
used by management to derive such estimate,
including testing the accuracy of the historical
|loss rates;

. PREHNEEERANHERAGEBER
BHANERH(BERAABEBRXREEE
BMNFIEEREEERBRGERESSAE:

o assessing the appropriateness of management's
basis of customers segmentation with reference
to the historical loss rates for customers in
different groups;

e S2EIAENEFMBEBAX
BEAUNSPBEEFRPNALEREST SR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% B AP 3R 5

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

HRESEEHGE)

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables (including amounts due from related parties)

EZRUREAHEBFEFRRA(ERERKEBE S XE)

Refer to accounting policy note 2(i)(i) and notes 17 and 25(a) to the consolidated financial statements

FRE ST EENE200)REFE BB IREX N 17K 250)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMRETEER EMNBEAONMNEEZSEE

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in
the trade receivables ageing report were
categorised in the appropriate customer group
as well as the appropriate ageing bracket by
tracing individual items against sales invoices
and other underlying documentation; and

FA LRI S R A8 B X B HEE
FIER HMEFEESIRERERKRS
NEBERABSPHEEENEFEANKREE
WIEER SR &

re-performing the calculation of the ECL allowances
as at 31 March 2025 based on the Group's
accounting policy and method.

B EEENSFERENT L EFNAE
HE-_ZT-_AF-A=+—HAWMEBEHEE
BREREE-
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BAD R S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% B AP 3R 5

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BAD R S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We a

Iso provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% B AP 3R 5

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’'s report is Chan Tak Kei (practicing
certificate number: P07070).

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
HBelEER |

2025 2024
—_E_FRHEF —E - mF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T & FAE T
Continuing operations BELSEEL
Revenue W A 4 330,625 363,849
Other revenue H fth g A 5 10,195 14,356
Other net loss Hih 18 6 (1,605) (109)
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAN 7(d) (32,255) (63,047)
Property cleaning expenses MEBZZAX (59,321) (68,146)
Staff costs 8 T KA 7(b) (123,738) (130,440)
Depreciation and amortisation o & & 7(d) (8,609) (9,117)
Property rentals and related expenses ¥ ¥ & K /8 @@ i X (566) (978)
Utilities expenses KEE (9,648) (8,879)
Repair and maintenance expenses HEEREZERX (18,844) (17,832)
Other operating expenses Hib & & X 7(c) (42,632) (34,229)
Profit from operations REEEHEAN 43,602 45,428
Finance costs B & KA 7(a) (1,759) (1,083)
Profit before taxation B B A0 & A 7 41,843 44,345
Income tax Fir 15 B¢ 8(a) (15,373) (15,163)
Profit for the year from FRASEKSEEKZF
continuing operations 26,470 29,182
Discontinued operation ERILEREEL
Loss for the year from FRAERLLEERER
discontinued operation 28(a) (2,466) (12,461)
Profit for the year F A F 24,004 16,721
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BEZ_AF=A=t—RULFEUELTRT)

2025 2024
—_E_-_FHE —E-_WMF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T & FA T
Attributable to shareholders KA FREREWN:
of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations KEFHBEELEER 26,470 29,182
Discontinued operation REDRIEEEED 28(a) (2,466) (12,461)
24,004 16,721
Profit/(loss) per share - Basic FREAN(FER)-EX K
and diluted #E 11
Continuing operations REFBEREED 5.4 cents 5.9 cents
Discontinued operation REBEKRIEEE XK (0.5) cents (2.5) cents
4.9 cents 3.4 cents

The notes on pages 130 to 211 form part of these financial F130E21ITEMNHN IR KZETBEHRED
statements. —#o e
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeEERHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE—ZF-_AF=A=T - HLEFEWUETXT)

2025 2024
—_E_RE —E-@MF
$'000 $'000
TER FAE T
Profit for the year FRER 24,004 16,721
Other comprehensive income FREMAZE KRR
for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HE RJfEEN D B EZ B m 2
to profit or loss: HE:
Exchange differences on translation of the B E H B IRINME QA 7 2
financial statements of subsidiaries MBERRZELZHR
outside Hong Kong (with nil tax effect) (TEBBTE) (3,247) (18,715)
Total comprehensive income for the year F A 2 | X 5 # & 20,757 (1,994)
Total comprehensive income for the year XA A A R R EH FE &
attributable to shareholders FEZEWEMT:
of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations KERBREER 23,223 10,467
Discontinued operation KEBERIELEER (2,466) (12,461)
20,757 (1,994)

The notes on pages 130 to 211 form part of these financial F130ZE21MEMNHNEBRZEVBEHRED
statements. — Z8.5 e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ZEMBERRR

At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
R-ZT-_AF=A=+—HUGABTERT)

2025 2024
—_E_FRHEF —E - mF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T & FA T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BE&ZHE 12 3,282 3,384
Intangible assets BILEE 13 14,520 21,616
Goodwill EES 14 52,227 52,534
Non-current time deposit FERHEHER 18(a) 54,784 -
Non-current rental deposits FEMEHEEZS 17 11 65
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE B 23(b)(ii) 2,047 2,645
12687 80,244
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 16 855 2,111
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk EMERKE 17 74,309 81,859
Restricted bank deposits ZRHETER 18(a) 9,930 8,492
Time deposits with original maturity R | 85 B #8 8 = & A & & £
over three months Fx 18(a) 207,651 57,759
Cash at bank and in hand RITFRERFERS 18(a) 103,793 298,651
.. 396,538 448,872
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables 25k EMENKIE 19 152,644 97,704
Contract liabilities arna’ 20 62,119 63,873
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 3,083 5,913
Amount due to the JE A5 92 I A% R 3k 18
controlling shareholder 22 4,070 5,694
Loans from the KEZEEBREER
controlling shareholder 22 38,320 -
Current tax payable Bl HA FE 1t B 18 23(a) 3,858 5,236
T $ 0200 178,420
Netcurrentassets =~~~ *®®E®@E 132444 270452
Total assets less current liabilities EE BB R A B & & 259,315 350,696
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mAMEMRRE

At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
R-ZZT-_AF=A=+—HBUGABTETR)

2025 2024
—E_ARHF —E-mFE
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T & x FE T
Non-current liabilities EFBERE
Loans from the KEIEREKREER
controlling shareholder 22 - 104,840
Lease liabilities HE&E 21 185 114
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIE B F 23(b)(ii) 8,411 15,780
. 00 8596 120,734
NET ASSETS EEFHE 250,719 229,962
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRF#E
Share capital f& 24(b) 4,930 4,930
Reserves it 1% 245,789 225,032
TOTAL EQUITY RERE 250,719 229,962

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors R -ZZ A F XA+t HKES2 I E

on 27 June 2025. o % T B -
Chan Hon Ki Shen Guoying
Director Director
BEFE EF

The notes on pages 130 to 211 form part of these financial F130ZE21MEMNHNEBRZEVBEHRED
statements. — Z8.5 e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z_AF=A=t—RALFEUELTRT)

(Accumulated

losses)/
Share Share Capital Statutory Exchange retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
T RHER)/
k& RoEE EXGE EERE EXGE REEA Eh
(note (note (note (note
24(c)(i) 24(c)fii) 24(c)fiv)) 24(c)fiii)
(H
2e)f) 2(c)fii) 2(e)fiv) 24(c)fii)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TEn TER TEn TER TER TER TERL
Balance at 1 April 2023 R=%z==
] A-BzeB 0 W2 20 246 (180 GTes 231956
Changes in equity for the year %_EHZ_S; EEFJJ: -
ended 31 March 2024: {Eﬁ é g
Profit for the year RRER - - - - - 16,721 16,721
Other comprehensive income FREMZERE
for the year - - - - (18,715) - (18,715)
Total comprehensive income FREENEAS
for the year - - - - (18,715) 16,721 (1,994)
Tensfered tosatuoy reserce. HAEEEE S S S s S UL I -
Balance at 31 March 2024 ~ R=%=R%
ZR=t-Bz&H 4,930 249,542 2,500 26,381 (30,519) (22,872) 229,962
Balance at 1 April 2024 R=2=RmF
B-Bz&H 4,930 249,542 2,500 26,381 (30,519) (22,872) 229,962
Changes in equity for the year a_éﬂz_g; ﬁEEFJL .
ended 31 March 2025: éﬁ é g
Profit for the year FREH = = = £ g 24,004 24,004
Other comprehensive income for FREMZENE
the year - - - - (3,247) - (3,247)
Total comprehensive income for FR2ELEESD
o - R R R S g di) | oo |
Balance at 31 March 2025 R=F-5F
ZR=t-Bz&R 4,930 249,542 2,500 26,381 (33,766) 1,132 250,719

The notes on pages 130 to 211 form part of these financial F130E2NEMH T BN ZET H R KD
statements. — e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

ERERER

n'F

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZT-_AF=A=t—HLEFEWUEBTRT)

2025 2024
—_E_-_F8F “E-NMF
Note $'000 $'000
B &E T &z FE T
Operating activities ReEEZH
Profit before taxation from SHEIKEETE
continuing operations B T Al & A 41,843 44,345
Loss before taxation from BRIEKEER
discontinued operation B %% A = A 28(a) (2,466) (12,461)
39,377 31,884
Adjustments for: #ROI B EELAE
Bank interest income R 1T A B YA 5&28(a) (8,465) (8,832)
Finance costs 7 & KA 7(a)&28(a) 1,778 1,445
Depreciation e 7(d)&28(a) 1,601 2,031
Amortisation 55 7(d) 7,008 7,088
Loss on disposal of property, plant & ¥ % - B F k& #
and equipment &5 18 6 89 79
Reversal of impairment losses on & 5 JE W 58X I8 8 1B & 18
trade receivables # [0 7(c) (1,553) (189)
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)  [& ¥ & 18 /(U 25) 7% 5 39 (26)
Changes in working capital: EEE®EH:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEem (3 m) 1,250 (898)
Decrease in trade and B 5 &k E M E KRB R D
other receivables 8,745 4,826
Increase in restricted bank deposits = R #i] R 17 17 1% hn (1,496) (3,846)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 & HMEMRIEE IS
other payables ORi 4 1,087 (12,423)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHBaBERY (1,386) (6,074)
Decrease in amount due to the JE A< 2 B AR R OEROIR DR
controlling shareholder (2,559) -
Cash generated from operations RKZELXHE 45,515 15,065
The People’s Republic of China EXRZzHhEARHLM
(“the PRC") corporate income (ThBENDDERBER
tax paid (15,469) (12,146)
The PRC withholding tax paid BBz E R (7,994) =
Net cash generated from RETHELERSFH
operating activities 22,052 2,919
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GEBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BEZ_AF=A=t—RULFEUELTRT)

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-OF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 TER T T
Investing activities REEH
Payment for the purchase of BEDWE BELEXRBNXK
property, plant and equipment (922) (668)
(Increase)/decrease in non-current SEBDE E HA F B (1 ),
time deposits Ve (55,088) 56,940
Increase in time deposits with original [R 2| B8 B & = & A A £ &
maturity over three months iEHAF SR8 AN (151,066) (58,391)
Interest received 24 F B 8,465 8,832
Net cash (used in)/generated from R EZFE (FTA) ELX£R S
_investing activities ] AE ... Gssenm 6713
Financing activities METEE
Proceeds from loans from the ERERERZAERIE
controlling shareholder 18(b) 19,500 30,420
Repayment of loans from the ERBERERZER
controlling shareholder 18(b) (86,020) -
Increase in amount due to a related  F& {5 B Bt 75 50 I8 32 A0
party 18(b) 53,911 -
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHEH XL H 18(b) (3,440) (11,506)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EffHHEMH &/ F 53 5 18(b) (40) (401)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEFE (FTA) EL£R S
_financing activities = . (o895 18,518/,
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BRERBELEBEBYORD)
and cash equivalents 0 E FE (192,648) 28,145
Cash and cash equivalents atthe FHNRERKRBELZEEY
beginning of the year 298,651 286,435
Effect of foreign exchange IEEXSFH 2 E
rate changes (2,210) (15,929)
Cash and cash equivalents at FREERELSEEY
the end of the year 18(a) 103,793 298,651

The notes on pages 130 to 211 form part of these financial F130E21ITEMNHN IR KZETBEHRED
statements. —#o e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A= 5 B 3% R R Y 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

AUX International Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 14 January 2013 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) (as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Companies
Law”). The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "Group”) is principally
engaged in operation of clubbing business and restaurant
and bar outlets, provision of property management

services and related value-added services.

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

130

(a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS"), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is the
historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRS that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG B IS IR AR MY AT
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABITERR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued the following amendments
to HKFRS that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (“2020 amendments”) and
amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Non-current liabilities with
covenants (2022 amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group's results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date
on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

(f

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
any impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is tested annually for impairment (see
note 2(i)(ii)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets arising from leases of underlying
property, plant and equipment (see note 2(h)), are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4o A B

7 N =]

Bt R HR AR M 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

2

134

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives, and is
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Over the shorter of their
economic useful life or

— Properties leased for
own use

terms of the leases

— Furniture, fixtures and 2 to 10 years

equipment

— Leasehold Over the unexpired

improvements term of leases

— Motor vehicles 3to 5years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
value are reviewed annually and adjusted if

appropriate.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
(where the estimated useful life is finite) and
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Expenditure on
internally generated goodwill and brands is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The
following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for
use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Customer relationships 4 years
(clubbing business)
— Property management 10 years

contracts and related
customer
relationships

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is
the case if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4o A B

7 N =]

Bt R HR AR M 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

2

136

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value item, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not
capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is recognised
using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability, and are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
|losses (see notes 2(f) and 2(i)(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
=k E L

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

nVT\
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138

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses ("ECLs"”) on the
financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Generally, credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls between the contractual and
expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates if the effect
is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation
thereof; and

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of
ECLs that result from default events that
are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date (or a shorter period if
the expected life of the instrument is
less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from all possible default events
over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

The group measures loss allowances at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-months
ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting
date; and

- other financial instruments for which

credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring
over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

2

EXSTHEE)

() FEFREREEREMA
(i) BT ARFEFREEA

BAEEEES TR
BHEEBEDRBRT
ERHE

_ 2@ B EHEEEIE:
WEBHEI2M@ A (K
BEBHME WIAEM
TEHFHLRI2HEA)
RNAREBAEMENS
tmEHRMEBHEER
BEBD R

- BEAGFEHHNEHE
EER:-KBEME
EEREAMNERR
BHFHAMRME A E
BEWMENEMHME
HWEREEBR-

AEBEZRAE
BEHEEBEN:
EEEG BT %T@J
wRAEE RNI12@ A ' E
f‘fJEﬁT‘:A%EquEE’JIﬁEi

- EERRBAIEEER
AEHRABERON
[ ) B ¥t R &I
ABELZNNEM S
MIA-

BIRBARERGHEE
E’JJESTET%‘%—QBE%E
EEFEHNBHEER
Eﬁ?ﬁﬂ’]@%ﬁ%‘l‘%D

Fﬂ>

Annual Report 2025 4 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
=k E L

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABITERR)

nVT\

2

140

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets
(other than inventories and deferred tax assets)
to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units ("CGU"s). Goodwill arising from a
business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU
is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal. Value in use is
based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss. They are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0}

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of
the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see notes

2(i)(i) and 2(i)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed
in a subsequent period. This is the case even if
no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed
only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the

estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(k)

n

(m)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue (see note
2(s)). A contract liability is also recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive non-
refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised (see
note 2(1)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and
only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method and including an
allowance for credit losses (see note 2(i)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently,
these borrowings are stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with note 2(u).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade
and other payable are stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and other short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(i)(i).

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits are provided by the
Group under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme as defined contribution retirement
plan in respect of the operations in Hong Kong.
Under such scheme, forfeited contributions
(by employers on behalf of employees who
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) may not be used by the employer
to reduce the existing level of contributions.
The employer’s monthly contributions to the scheme
are at a maximum of 5% of each employee’s monthly
salary, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000.
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A RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Retirement benefits (Continued)
Contribution relating to the staff in the PRC
are made to the PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC. Under such schemes,
forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may
not be used by the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

The cost of all these schemes is charged to
profit or loss of the Group for the years
concerned and the assets of all these schemes
are held separately from those of the Group.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustment to the tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q)

Income tax (Continued)

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are
determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when
the probability of future taxable profits improves.

In all other cases, the measurement of deferred tax
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods or the provision of
services in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a
gross basis. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it
considers whether it obtains control of the
products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group's
ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes. Revenue is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the customer for more than
12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.
The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS15 and
does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if
the period of financing is 12 months or less.

(i) Sale of food and beverages, tobacco
products, living consumption and
festive products
Revenue from sale of food and beverages,
tobacco products, living consumption and
festive products is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and accepts
the products.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of food and beverages, tobacco
products, living consumption and
festive products (Continued)
Prepayments from customers in respect
of the membership schemes operated
by the Group which are considered to
be unearned at the reporting date are
shown as contract liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial
position.

Revenue from club operations
Revenue from club operations (including
entrance fees, cloakroom fees and event
rental income) is recognised when the
services have been provided to the
customers.

Sponsorship income
Sponsorship income is recognised
when:

- the promotion events have been
held; or

- the services have been rendered,
and it is probable that sponsorship
income will be granted.

Property management services income
Revenue from the provision of property
management services is recognised
over the period of services provided to
the property occupants/owners.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(b) Revenue from other income

(i)

(ii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 2(i)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and
that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

2
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired are
translated into HKD at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

Hong Kong dollars)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of
a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at
the date on which an operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held-for-sale, when a group of
assets ceases to be used or when an entity has
disposed of an operation.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued
operation, the comparative statement of profit or
loss and OCl is re-presented as if the operation
had been discontinued from the start of the
comparative year.

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group's

parent.
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R MWK

(Expressed in

(ABTTHRTR)

Hong Kong dollars)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)

154

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

(vij The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and
based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

In measuring ECLs for trade and other receivables, the
Group takes into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

4

156

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the
operation of clubbing business and restaurant and
bar outlets and provision of property management
services and related value-added services.

Revenue represents the amount received or
receivable from the sale of food and beverages,
tobacco products, living consumption and festive
products, revenue from other club operations
(including entrance fees, cloakroom fees and event
rental income), sponsorship income and income
arising from provision of property management
services and related value-added services.

Further details regarding the Group's principal
activities are disclosed in note 4(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

(CONTINUED)

(i)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 Wz Kk 5 38| & (&)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) Wz (4&)
Disaggregation of revenue (i) HHFWKE
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BRESREPHWEMNE
customers by service lines and geographical BomRBEEFPEHZEK
location of customers is as follows: moHFET
2025 2024
—E_Ff _—_ZT-_NF
$'000 $'000
TET FAET
Revenue from contracts with & & Bf % 3} & % Al
customers within the scope of F15HEEE RN MWK B
HKFRS 15 EFEHZHBA
Continuing operations HEREXK
Revenue from property MEEBEEH K=
management contracts’ — B A
- Mainland China 295,132 298,300
Revenue from property By EERMEREIEE
management related value- HE % H U s>
added services* — B A
— Mainland China 35,493 65,549
330,625 363,849
Discontinued operation ERIEREER
Revenue from club and restaurant & F7 & B B2 & & Wz~
operations* — Hong Kong —&B# - 14,968

*

#

The revenue is recognised over time.

The revenue is recognised at a point in time.

The Group's customer base is diversified and
no individual customer had transactions which
exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue during
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 nil).

*
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N

R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

4
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date
For property management services, the
Group recognises revenue as the services are
provided that correspond directly with the
value of performance completed. The Group
has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS
15 to its revenue from property management
contracts for not to disclose the remaining
performance obligations under the Group's
existing contracts as these contracts do not
have a fixed term.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by a mixture of both business lines
(products and services) and geography. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the most senior executive management of
the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has identified
three reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

W

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

RE MWK

Hong Kong dollars)

(CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued) (b)

Segment Business
Continuing operations

Provision of property
management services

Property management
— Mainland China

Sales of living
consumption and
festive products and
provision of household
cleaning services and
repair services in the
community

Property management
related value-added
services — Mainland
China

Discontinued operation

Sales of food and
beverages and tobacco
products from
operation of clubbing
business and restaurant

Lifestyle entertainment
— Hong Kong

and bar outlets

The lifestyle entertainment business in Hong Kong
was ceased to operate and classified as discontinued
operation and the related information has been set
out in note 28.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's senior executive management monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and lease liabilities attributable to
the sales activities of the individual segments
and borrowings managed directly by the
segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)

B

160

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/
(loss) is “adjusted EBITDA" i.e. “adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as
including investment income and “depreciation
and amortisation” are regarded as including
impairment losses on non-current assets. To
arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group's earnings
are further adjusted for other revenue, other net
(loss)/gain and items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as directors’ and
auditors’ remuneration and other head office or
corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, management is
provided with segment information concerning
revenue, interest income from bank deposits
and interest expense from borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their
operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 W#H K5 H&E(HE)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) o EHE(HE)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) oHExE BEREME(E)
(Continued)
Information regarding the Group's reportable REBEE_ETE_AFR_F
segments as provided to the most senior —WME=ZA=+—BLHF
executive management of the Group for the EZ2EBRDSE RS FXR
purposes of resource allocation and assessment T EAEERESTRE
of segment performance for the years ended 31 BERMERASEAR
March 2025 and 2024 is set out below. ENH2ERFERN T X
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
e BRLBEEE
Property
Property management related Lifestyle
management value-added services entertainment
- Mainland China - Mainland China Subtotal - Hong Kong Total
. BYZER
VEL R BBZHERE . 1341 .
-RERE -hERE Nt -ER it
2025 024 2025 004 2025 2004 2025 04 2025 04
Z8-RE -R-ME CECEE -F-ME CECEE -R-ME CECRE CEoME CECRE CEoQF
$'000 §000 §000 $000 §'000 $000 §'000 $000 $'000 §000
féx  TEx  TEx  TEr T T T T TA7 Thn
Revenue from external customers % FEFFHEHAR
and reportable segment revenue PESEEPLON 295,132 8300 35,493 8559 330,625 33849 1498 330,625 8817
Reportable segment profit/loss) ~ TH% 2 5%/ (&)
(adjusted EBITDA) (5 2ERITDA) 52,506 49,109 3,024 235 55,530 51,448 (2,455) (1297) 53,075 B40
Interest income from bank deposits T F HF| 8 M A 8,285 8,646 3 3 8,288 8679 - 5 8,288 8,684
Interest expenses fexd (809) (10) - - (809) (10) (19) (362 (828) (372
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (7.924) (8,180) - - (7.924) (8,180 - 2) (7.924) (8182
Reportable segment assets TREIDEE 452,870 512212 3,803 153 456,673 519,748 - 463 456,673 524,385
Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year (note) 922 1,004 - - 922 1,004 - - 922 1,004
Reportable segment liabilities TREADER 210,993 152911 250 614 211,243 153591 10,100 11,243 163,691

Note: Additions to non-current segment assets consist of

additions to property, plant and equipment.

Wi FEFRRBDMBEEERER
EME BB RZHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B S AR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Wm ko RS (A
(b) 2 B¥HE (A
(i) ATHEDHWaE - B

ER BERBGBZHEK

2025 2024
—E-HAFE T _NWF
$'000 $'000
FE T 5T
Revenue I &=
Reportable segment revenue and # & & & % 7% 7] 3f &
consolidated revenue from D EB M KA W
continuing operations (K1 7t 4(a))
(note 4(a)) 330,625 363,849
2025 2024
—E-HE —E_WMF
$'000 $'000
T & TFE T
Profit or loss from BELSEEERANR
continuing operations 8
Reportable segment profit KEREEIINBEF Z
derived from the Group's A ¥ E o s A
external customers 55,530 51,448
Other revenue H U 25 10,195 14,356
Other net loss H BB FE (1,605) (109)
Depreciation and amortisation e N (8,609) (9,117)
Finance costs Bh & K AN (1,759) (1,083)
Unallocated head office and AoEBHIREPERE
corporate expenses (11,909) (11,150)
Consolidated profit B A% A AR & 5 A
before taxation 41,843 44,345
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(CONTINUED)

(b)
(ii)

Segment reporting (Continued)

W koHRE(E)
(b) 2 EWI;E(HE)
(il THREDHWKzZ - & F =

Reconciliations of reportable segment

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

ER BERBEBZHEK

(Continued) (&)
2025 2024
—E_-_RE —ETE-mFE
$'000 $'000
TER FE T
Assets & E
Reportable segment assets ARESHEE 456,673 524,385
Deferred tax assets R I & E 2,047 2,645
Unallocated head office and AOoEBBREPEEE
corporate assets 64,689 2,086
Consolidated total assets GLEEERE 523,409 529,116
2025 2024
—_E_HE —E_MF
$'000 $'000
T & FETT
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities ~ AT & o H A & 211,243 163,691
Current tax payable B BR fE % 18 3,858 5,236
Deferred tax liabilities BEEMRBEEE 8,411 15,780
Unallocated head office and AOoEBBREPEAERE
corporate liabilities 49,178 114,447
Consolidated total liabilities BEBEEE 272,690 299,154
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WHEK D IP:MKE(EF)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) o & HE(H)

(i) b 13 & #

(iii) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers and (ii) the
Group's property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and goodwill (“specified non-
current assets”). The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the

TRIBEEBOX & @%ﬁé
5B & PR R 15 M & K (i)
AEBE®ME- F%&uﬂ%‘
BREERBE(EEFE
RBEEDMEREZE
Fto T PP M E IR TR
AR 753 B ¥ X E BT

o -somx BELEXE

services were provided or the goods delivered.

The geographical location of the specified non- ME BHEFRRDEEL
current assets is based on the physical location WMEBUEMLREEZCER
of the asset, in the case of property, plant and iﬂl gﬁ REEEERRE B
equipment, the location of the operation to AN S ) I A N A
which they are allocated, in the case of Aiﬂz%ﬁ
intangible assets and goodwill.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RNEBEF RS K E REXRDEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZE-0f —ToWNF ZB-EF —ToMF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TER FET TER FHT
Continuing operations HFEREXYR
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & /& (F7 & i) - - - M4
Mainland China H A 330,625 363,849 69,617 77,120
330,625 363,849 69,617 77,534
Discontinued operation DREREER
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & 7 (F7 & i) - 14,968 - -
330,625 378,817 69,617 77,534
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

5 OTHER REVENUE FROM CONTINUING 5 BHELKE XK H MK
OPERATIONS

2025 2024
—E-HRFE Z—ZFT-_QmMF
$'000 $'000
FET T T
Bank interest income ;AT R B WA 8,463 8,827
Government grants (note) AT #E Bh (BT 2E) 523 1,566
Others H 1 1,209 3,963
10,195 14,356
Note: The amount represents government grants received from various B st Ze BB S BUTESPR M BAT B -
PRC government authorities in connection with the fiscal subsidies ERMMTCEREMBED RMES XM
for providing financial support to enterprises and paying wages to T & &Y BF B %8 Bf -

the employees.

6 OTHER NET LOSS FROM CONTINUING 6 B ERLY XK HEMEBRFEE
OPERATIONS

2025 2024
—E-HE T _WF
$'000 $'000
TER FAET

Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWXE BMEERXEEIE
and equipment (89) (79)
Net foreign exchange loss & % E 18 % 5 (1,516) (30)
(1,605) (109)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IERRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION FROM 7 BEKSYEXBRBHAEF
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Profit before taxation from continuing operations is FECEEBRBAEMEMEBR (G
arrived at after charging/(crediting): A) T3 & A :
2025 2024
—E_-_RHE —E_WMF
$'000 $'000
T & T FAE T
(a) Finance costs (a) ®ERK
Interest on loans from the KEERBRRERZ
controlling shareholder =N 935 1,044
Interest on amount due to a FE TR B 5 SR IE /) A B
related party 803 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEZHE 21 39
1,759 1,083
(b) Staff costs (b) B I RA
Contributions to defined FE #FOGR RET B R
contribution retirement plans (B %)
(Note) 20,401 21,046
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ILERHMEN 103,337 109,394
123,738 130,440
Note: No forfeited contributions were used by the employers to reduce MBI EPAETMIUERABREESE
the existing level of contributions for the year ended 31 March —E_RFZAZ+-HLEFENREA
2025 (2024: Nil). The balance available to be utilised as at 31 HAKF(ZZE_WF - E) - R=_ZFT_-H
March 2025 was Nil (2024: Nil). FZA=+—R AHPIBNERBT(Z

TomFEF)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION FROM 7

Hong Kong dollars)

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

FECEXRBRN

EVIRN v

Bl & A (&

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-QF
$'000 $'000
T & FHE T
(c) Other operating expenses () HMEEREX
Reversal of impairment losses on 25 EKKRIERAE
trade receivables (note 25(a)) &5 18 # [ (M 7£ 25(a)) (1,553) (189)
Auditors’ remuneration % 8 A & B
— audit services —BZR® 1,937 1,965
— audit related services — Bl iz M B w9 AR 7% 633 773
Office expenses wnILE 896 902
Entertainment expenses X¥HKEEFE 1,637 1,728
Travelling expenses =R E 975 1,108
Legal and professional fees FEMEEXEBH 2,997 4,934
Security costs Rz E 16,473 4,152
Gardening costs Ib EEE 4,676 4,536
Government surcharges BT B o & 2,838 2,686
Bank charges RITFES 551 465
Community event costs HEREEER 4,202 3,875
Others H 6,370 7,294
42,632 34,229
(d) Other items (d HMaEAE
Depreciation charge (note 12) WweESXHMiE12)
— owned property, plant -BEVE BER
and equipment R 767 755
— right-of-use assets - EREEE 834 1,274
1,601 2,029
Amortisation (note 13) B (K AL 13) 7,008 7,088
Cost of inventories sold (note 16) BEEGFTERANMZE16) 32,255 63,047
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

8 INCOME TAX FROM CONTINUING 8 HREeBHZTTITNEERLKEER
OPERATIONS IN THE CONSOLIDATED Fr 18 #
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Income tax from continuing operations in the (a) HEBBRPHNFTEREER
consolidated statement of profit or loss B
represents:
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —E-QNF
$'000 $'000
THET FE T
Current tax - PRC Corporate HFEE-—FECERSH
Income Tax
Provision for the year FREEB 14,113 13,059
Current tax - PRC withholding tax EIHiH E-RE W A 2
on dividend income HhE TR
Provision for the year FREB 7,994 -
Deferred tax IE i 1|
Origination and reversal of ERnEHEES RED
temporary differences (6,734) 2,104

15,373 15,163
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

8 INCOME TAX FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Income tax from continuing operations in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (Continued)

Pursuant to the current rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands
("BVI"), subsidiaries of the Group are not subject
to any income tax in these jurisdictions.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, as the
subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong either
sustain a loss for taxation purpose or do not
generate any assessable income.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law,
the PRC's statutory income tax rate is 25% (2024:
25%).

Among the branches of Shuyi Property Management
Services Co., Ltd (“Shuyi”) in the PRC, the Chengdu
Branch was entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15%
under the Enterprise Income Tax Preference Policies
for the Western Development. The directors are of
the view that it is highly probable that the Chengdu
Branch will be entitled to the same preferential tax
rate and 15% is adopted in estimating the tax
provision for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

Dividends payable by subsidiaries of the Group in
the PRC are subject to a 5% withholding tax.

Management considered that the retained profits
of subsidiaries in the PRC might be distributed in
the foreseeable future. Consequently, deferred tax
liabilities of $4,780,000 (2024: $10,376,000) for
temporary differences relating to undistributed
profits of subsidiaries were recognised as at 31
March 2025.

8 HMAEBBEXRTHNFER

S

P 5 B (&)

(a)

RERBRPTHNRBALCEXYR
FRE®E: (&)

REFEHELEABRAES
(EBRZBEEBDNRATRI R
ERCOASEKERBHBERZ
EREERBMNEMAEHR-

HRAEERBEENWEB QA
REHBBENMS HREEIE &
EAXAMNERBRKA  WEZEZ
T_RAFERZ-ZFT_MF = A
S+ HLEFETRREEY
TR AR BN G T L EE -

RIBEPBECEMSHE P RZE
FEBFHTH R B25% (T U4 :
25%) ©

FE—MERBERQG(E—])
zﬁ@TEP B #  A B AR & 7
HENDEMS %mﬁﬁﬁﬁz
EFT HI5%MEERM K F
REKED ANEREBAEE
*{E%HTI%FHH%E’]TR
(E T -_ARFEN-

+— ¢¢r;z
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Tiﬁiﬂﬁ)@ @Eﬁmmﬁ
gt st B A F R DR &
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H*JrfElﬁEszsEEmIE:éL
4,780,000 ( = & = M % :
10,376,000 JT) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR M T

(Expressed in

(ABTTHRTR)

Hong Kong dollars)

8 INCOME TAX FROM CONTINUING 8 HKEABEZXRIHNEELEXERK
OPERATIONS IN THE CONSOLIDATED Fr 8 % (&)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation the between tax expense and (b) REBABRRTENTERE £

170

accounting profit from continuing operation at

applicable tax rates:

BREMIREHERNEHROT :

2025 2024
—E-HFE Z—ZT-WF
$'000 $'000
TER FET
Profit before taxation PR 7t Al & A 41,843 44,345
Notional tax on profit before R 7 B & N BY & A IE
taxation, calculated at the rates (R 18 B A& #1205 7 &Y
applicable to profits in the BRAMEHE
jurisdictions concerned 11,902 12,195
Tax effect of THNBAEIOBRBEEE
non-deductible expenses 2,928 2,143
Tax effect of non-taxable income FERBBANBRBZE (134) (103)
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERRAVEEENON
not recognised %R E 82 272
Tax effect of profits subject to ZEXHPEEERER X 2HF
preferential tax rate in the PRC B RS R 2 (1,832) (1,644)
Tax effect of withholding tax on HARBEME QR RD K
undistributed profits of the FMEEMH BB 2R
PRC subsidiaries (5,567) 2,300
PRC withholding tax on fig B WAz # B8 0B
dividend income 7,994 -
Actual tax expense ERBEERX 15,373 15,163
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 9 EEFHIMH

S2RE B XA &P 538301 15 & A F(H
BEENaBEMRMNF2HBEENE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed with reference to
section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information EHBWO TR
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2025
—BE-RE
Salaries, Retirement
Directors'  allowances Discretionary scheme
fees and benefits bonuses contributions Total
Fe 2 B ARG E
Exne REA RRA f# % @
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T TR T TR THEx
Chairman and executive director TERHTES
Zheng Jiang 1IN 2,000 - - - 2,000
Executive directors HTES
Chan Hon Ki [P - 1,800 - 18 1,818
Shen Guoying B & - - - - -
Chen Lingxiao 3= - - - - -
Non-executive director FHTES
Zheng Jianjiang (re-designated BRI (§=F-HF
from executive director to FoA-AEAHTEE
non-executive director with BEBFHTEE)
effect from 1 December 2024) 1,600 - - - 1,600
Independent non-executive BUFHGES
directors
Poon Chiu Kwok & B 250 - - - 250
Bau Siu Fung Mg 250 - - - 250
Lou Aidong (retired with effect ~ EER(E-F-W&
from 23 August 2024) NAZ+=ZHEEF) 99 - - - 99
Chau Siu Lun (appointed with BrB(E-F-_MmE
effect from 23 August 2024) NAZ+=AEEZH) 151 - - - 151
Total @& 4,350 1,800 - 18 6,168
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FREMBHRRMET
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A T RR)
9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 9 EE=% (&)
2024
“EopEE
Salaries, Retirement
Directors' allowances  Discretionary scheme
fees  and benefits bonuses  contributions Total
5o 28 BIREE
EERkn REF WE®L {3 @it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FET TER FET TEL TEL
Chairman and executive director TEXHTES
Zheng Jiang g1 2,000 - - - 2,000
Executive directors HTES
Zheng Jianjiang (appointed with ~ BB T (- F /M4
effect from 1 January 2024) —-H—HEEZH) 450 - - - 450
Chan Hon Ki REL - 2,092 - 18 2,110
Shen Guoying B % - - - - -
Chen Lingxiao 3= - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHGTES
directors
Poon Chiu Kwok &R 250 - - - 250
Bau Siu Fung whg 250 - - - 250
Lou Aidong EER 250 - - - 250
Total H 3,200 2,092 - 18 5,310
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

10

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 10

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
of them (2024: two) were directors whose emoluments are

RE WAL

hE&EeFMALH=

HAANE(ZE

THE MAREFT HHFMAME

disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in ORI E - HMHME(—E_MFE: =4)
respect of other two (2024: three) individuals are as AT®HFEM@zEm T :
follows:
2025 2024
—E-_HFE Z—ZETEMF
$'000 $'000
FTRERT TET
Salaries and other emoluments FahEMFEFM(BREREE
(including housing allowances, other & 8 + E )2 85 &
allowances and benefits in kind) EWEF) 3,009 3,222
Discretionary bonuses B 15 € 4T 1,536 -
Retirement scheme contributions R K ET 8 K 137 134
4,682 3,356

The emoluments of the two (2024: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

ME(ZCZE-_MOF: =ZR)KSFHFMA

THHFEHEATHER:

2025 2024

—_E_RE —E_MF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

N A &

$Nil to $1,000,000 = 7% T £ 1,000,000/ 7T - 1

$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7t = 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 2
$3,500,001 to $4,000,000 3,500,001 7% JT = 4,000,000 7T 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

11 PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE

174

(a)

(b)

Basic profit/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic profit/(loss) per share is
based on the profit of $26,470,000 (2024: $29,182,000)
and loss of $2,466,000 (2024: $12,461,000) attributable
to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
arising from continuing operations and discontinued
operation respectively and the weighted average
number of 492,984,000 (2024: 492,984,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted profit/(loss) per share

The diluted profit/(loss) per share is the same as
basic profit/(loss) per share as there were no dilutive
potential ordinary shares in existence during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR

11 8 R

(a)

(b)

A, (& 8)

SREFEBRN(FB)
iﬂx%mﬁﬂ/(ﬁﬂémg‘ ViN
NEEEREEREEEREF
ZE%«M%%Q&IQ BRI &5
7% % 726,470,000/ 7T( =& — P4 4F -
29,182,0007% 7T ) K &5 18 2,466,000 7
7T(=ZF Z /U4 : 12,461,0007 7T)
AR FANE BT BERMETS
[i% $1492,984,0000% (= & — 4 F :
492,984,000 ) 5H E FT 15 -

SREBEEAN(FR)
FREBERM(EE)E
$xm7ﬁ/(ﬁéﬂa)$ﬁﬂ Itk

15 A
EFER- F

PEREEN
—

T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMERRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A TR R)
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 WE - BMERKRE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) SRMEEH K
Properties Furniture,
leased for  fixtures and Leasehold Motor
ownuse  equipment improvements vehicles Total
EERN BE- EE  ARWE \ )
HEW% e % HE @
I 0 I 0 N N
TET TAER FET AR TEL
Cost: KA
At 1 April 2024 RZE-_NEMA—H 57,140 21,954 37,273 272 116,639
Additions NE 682 909 - 13 1,604
Disposals & (56,945) (16,482) (36,929) (24) (110,380)
Exchange adjustments EHE (1) (38) (2) (1) (42)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-R1F
L =A=t-R 76 . 6343 ¢ M2 260 7821
Accumulated depreciation EHFTERFEER
and impairment losses:
At 1 April 2024 R-_E-_NERAE—-A 56,430 19,371 37,273 181 113,255
Charge for the year EREX 834 725 - 42 1,601
Written back on disposals it & B HOR (56,945) (16,393) (36,929) (24) (110,291)
Exchange adjustments ELRAE (1) (22) (2) (1) (26)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RF
e SAET-R 3681 M2 % 4539
Net book value: EEFE:
At 31 March 2025 RZE-R1F
=A=t-H 558 2,662 - 62 3,282
Cost: BA:
At 1 April 2023 W-_E-_=€@NA-H 65,425 22,013 37,730 262 125,430
Additions " E 1,331 644 - 24 1,999
Disposals H& (9,547) (335) (442) - (10,324
Exchange adjustments ERAER 69) (368) (15) (14) (466)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-_ME
S E)ﬁ ;f - El 77777777777777 5 777, 17470 77777777 2 71197574 777777777 3 77127773 7777777777 27772 77777777 17176&3797 i
Accumulated depreciation R FERBEFA
and impairment losses:
At 1 April 2023 WR-_E-_=€NA—-H 64,755 19,125 37,730 139 121,749
Charge for the year FRHEL 1,274 708 - 49 2,031
Written back on disposals 5 & B iR (9,547) (256) (442) = (10,245)
Exchange adjustments R (52) (206) (15) ) (280)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME
T ZA=t-8 40 1931 yas LI 113,255
Net book value: EEFE:
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_MF
= A== 710 2,583 - 91 3,384
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

12

WX BERR

(b)

% (&)

CHREEE
EREEERBBEERRNM

assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: ENBREFESTOT :
2025 2024
—®2-aRF _—_T_WHF
$'000 $'000
TER FE T
Properties leased for own use, EERMNEEY X
carried at depreciated cost TEXARY R 558 710

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

EFRaTBRIANEHEABO
XHEBAMMT

2025 2024
—E-RF ZEMF
$'000 $'000
FE T FE T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use A EE X IB#EEE
assets by class of underlying asset: fERIMWITEE A :
Properties leased for own use EERRNEED % 834 1,274
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZMNE
(notes 7(a)&28(a)) (K1 7#E7(a) % 28(a)) 40 401
Expense relating to short-term leases EE A EHF B M = B 424 1,113

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets
were $682,000 (2024: $1,331,000). This amount
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new or renewed agreements for
office premises entered into during the year.

Details of total cash outflows for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 18(c) and 21, respectively.

Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use properties
as its premises for staff quarters and office
premises through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMERRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A TR R)
13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13 B EE
Property
management
contracts and
related
Customer customer
relationships relationships Total
NEEREN
REREE
BEEBRE B# @t
$'000 $'000 $'000
TER TER TEL
Cost: RA:
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-ZFENA-H 1,174 74,291 75,465
Exchange adjustments B g _ (4,182) (4,182)
AtSIMarch2024 R=F-RE=A=t-R 4 0109 7,283
At 1 April 2024 R-Z-_MEMA-H 1,174 70,109 71,283
Exchange adjustments [E 3 - (409) (409)
AtSIMarch202s ] R=%2-0%=A=t-R 14 69700 70874
Accumulated amortisation EHEBERBESE:
and impairment losses:
At 1 April 2023 R-BE-Z€WmA-H 1,174 43,956 45,130
Charge for the year ENEY _ 7,088 7,088
Exchange adjustments ¥ g - (2,551) (2,551)
A3 March 2024 R=F-B%=A=t-R 1 8493 49,667
At 1 April 2024 R-Z-_MEMA-H 1,174 48,493 49,667
Charge for the year ENEY _ 7,008 7,008
Exchange adjustments EH e - (321) (321)
AtSIMarch 205 R=2-8%=A=t-R 1174 55180 6354
Net book value: EEEE:
At 31 March 2025 R-F-RE-R=+-H - 14,520 14,520
At 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=ZA=+-A - 21,616 21,616

The amortisation charge for the year is included in

“depreciation and amortisation” in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

AERBHERGARGBREROM

ENEHEIA-
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

14 GOODWILL

Cost:

At 1 April 2023
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2025

Accumulated impairment losses:

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

Carrying amount:

At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill
The Group's goodwill arose from the acquisitions of

Shuyi in May 2017.

The goodwill is attributable to (1) the workforce of Shuyi
and the potential growth of the property management
industry in the PRC; and (2) the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth and the assembled workforce

of Mini Club.

178 AUX International Holdings Limited / 8 5 i IR 2 A IR A F

(S
$'000
FHE T
—F#mMA—H 62,930
(3,135)
=A=+—BRK
mA—H 59,795
(307)
R== —hE=ZA=t-H 59,488
—F#mMA—H
F=A=+—8H
FWA—BK
—=—1 fZA=t-8B 7,261
RZE_RAF=ZA=Z+—H 52,227
—E_MWME=ZRA=+—H 52,534
BEEENBRSEACENNREDNR
AEBBEDNETEHFRNR T — 1 F
AAWBEBE —mEE -
BERXRAME — B ITEBRKMNAESP
BYEEETENBEERE: UAKQ

EHHBRAENFZ WAERER
Mini Club &) 2 8 A F -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABITERR)

14 GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 14 BEEREE(H)
Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill BEEENESELCENNRAENR
(Continued) = (,.‘EH)

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's CGUs identified as FMEIEZEFAEEMBNZREE
follows: _’il_ﬁf_L ZZDT :

2025 2024

—E-HFE —E-_MMWHE

$'000 $'000

TER TE T

Property management business XEBEK 52,227 52,534
Operation of restaurant and bar KEERRBEMMm

outlets* - -

52,227 52,534

*

The recoverable amount of the related CGU was lower than the
carrying amount of it and therefore the related goodwill was fully
impaired during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Property management business

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
estimated weighted average growth rates of 3% (2024:
3%) which is not higher than the forecasts included in
industry reports. The growth rate used does not exceed
the long-term average growth rates for the business in
which the CGU operates. The cash flows are discounted
using discount rates of 21% (2024: 21%). The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the relevant segment.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the operation of
property management business continued to be profit-
making and thus no impairment indicator for the
respective goodwill has been identified.

* HERSELEMM AT RE S HEERE
mE AEEEREERNEBE % = —
FZA=Z+-—BLFETZBRE-

MEEEEK
ReELEEMHT KB SEERE
AEEFESE- Md'”%xﬁﬁffﬁﬂfx%:
BEMEZ A FHRUBEE 2H
Hehe BELFTFEHNBEERED
BRMEMEFEE R EXIN(ZF
THF:3%)EE ETaRITER
EhwEA -FTANMRETEBRE
CPEAENRKLEMEEBRN KRR T
HEEE - BeRENFTREZ21%(Z
T _WNFE %R -AAFTRERR
Tl U REMBEE>H 2BEBETER

Ao
ZoN

BE_ZF_AF=-A=+t—BLFE"
MEEREBLELERBAN E
tRAmEYELRBE-
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iR B A R AR MY AT
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABITERR)
15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 RBRBARANKRE
The following list contains only the particulars of TRERHIIBAEBELE BEEXE
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets BEEATE  MBAR ZHB K
or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is SHEINAN - FEHEERODZBNRE
ordinary unless otherwise stated. AR -
Proportion of ownership interest
FaERERLA
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Group's Held Held
establishment and issued and  effective by the by a
Name of company operation paid up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
EMA L/ ERfR A£Ey K23 KEAD
AAEE AIREESE CARRAH® REEE  BE  $A IERE
New Pride Corporate Limited® BVI 101 shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
ABEIES 101 % 100% 100% - REER
Cheerful Raise Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100%  Provision of administrative
service to
group companies
EAERLA B 15 100% - 0% RMEBRARETHE
B R
Club Kingdom The Central Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100%  Holding of trademarks
Group Limited
R 1 100% - 100% HAEFER
Success Deal Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100%  Operation of
clubbing business
R 1] 100% - 100% HEEMER
Starry Chance Limited* Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EERRAA BR 15 100% - 100% HEER
Shuyi** The PRC 5,000,000 100% - 100%  Provision of property
shares management services
B Gl 5,000,000 % 100% - 100% RENFEERS
Po Tai Holdings Limited* Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ERERARD A R 15 100% - 100% REZER
Legend Management Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% - 100%  Operation of restaurant
and bar outlets
BR 10,0008 100% - 100% BEEBLEECHD
Ningbo Po Tai Hengmao Trading ~ The PRC 10,000,000 100% - 100%  Sales of living consumption
Co. Ltd* shares and festive products
EREFEREHARDA® HE 10,000,000 & 100% - 100% HEEEAm
Shuyi and Ningbo Po Tai Hengmao Trading Co. Ltd are the wholly * B-—REFEXEXESBERQAAT —
foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC. The company name in FRAPEZINEBEECEX - XAE A
English are the direct translation of the registered Chinese name BAIMEXKRB 2 EEDE  EHEA -
for the purpose of identification.
X KPMG are not the statutory auditors of these companies. - E2FHEFMEFALIFZERANE
iE A% AP -

180

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B R AR M R
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABITERR)
16 INVENTORIES 16 7 &
2025 2024
—E-RHE Z—ZE-_WHF
$'000 $'000
THET FHET
Living consumption and festive HYXERHENEERSE
products for property management HEOHEETAmLRE BE®
related value-added services 855 2,111
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as BRAAXTAABERINTFEEZR
an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: AN RN
2025 2024
—E-_HFE Z—ZET_NHF
$'000 $'000
TER FAET
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFENKREME:
from:
Continuing operations REFBEREED 32,255 63,047
Discontinued operation KEBRIEEEEB - 6,493
32,255 69,540
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AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

17

182

NON-CURRENT RENTAL DEPOSITS AND 17
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FHNHEERESUREGRE
fi /& I 5K 1H

2025 2024
—E_AREF —E-_mF
$'000 $'000
F#&x FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Rental deposits HEZS 11 65
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables, net of loss ESRWAEBE MBREBEE®
allowance (note) (M 7Z) 52,438 59,680
Deposits, prepayments and Re TENKREBEREMER
other receivables 18 21,871 22,179
74,309 81,859

Note: At 31 March 2025, trade and other receivables of the Group
included amounts due from entities controlled by Mr. Zheng
Jianjiang, the Company's controlling shareholder, of $924,000
(2024: $4,888,000) and entities over which Mr. Zheng Jianjiang has
significant influence, of $1,643,000 (2024: $6,052,000). The
amounts represent property management fees receivable arisen
in the ordinary course of business.

The amount of the Group's deposits, prepayments and
other receivables expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after more than one year is
$11,000 (2024: $65,000), which mainly represent rental
deposits for staff accommodation and office of the
Group. All of the other trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expense
within one year.

AUX International Holdings Limited / R = S Bl 2 BB R AR

EE

ZNES

R_E_RAEF=ZA=Z=+—HB XAX&EEZ
ZoREMEKRKEREREKRARR Z
BRRGE T EAEEFNERBREAER
BEAXENER 2 XIHE - 5 5 /924,000
B (= T — W 4 :4,888000% T ) K&
1,643,000 7T( = T — P4 4 : 6,052,000
T HAEBARBEEBBEPELEZ
FEWMEERS -

BEHKN - FRIKMELER

RAXWKRE  FARNFIEREMEK
FIAH) & FE 11,0008 (=T Z U5
65000/ 7L)  HX B SRR AKEE
IBEEEMAENEZEHERS -

B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

17 NON-CURRENT RENTAL DEPOSITS AND 17
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade receivables (which are included in trade
and other receivables), based on the date of revenue
recognition and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

FHNHEEREUREGRE
ftb & W 3% 7H (&)

fR iR o AT
RBEHR FAE S REMEKK
ENMEZRERRZBEIKANA
HARIGERBRBEROEKE DN
m

2025 2024
—E-HRE Z—ZZFT-_QWMF
$'000 $'000
THET FETT
Within 1 month — M AN 17,034 28,856
Over 1 month to 3 months BE—@E@RARE=1@A 12,736 13,084
Over 3 months to 6 months wR=EAZEXEHA 5,769 6,796
Over 6 months to 1 year BRANEAE—F 9,340 5,267
Over 1 year —F LAk 7,559 5,677
52,438 59,680
Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit FEBEEREXELESRIWREE
risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note ENEERRBRZE - FTFBEHNRK
25(a). & 25(a) ©
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WIN

R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

184

(a)

(b)

BeRATEEYUAREMER
EREEH

The analysis of cash and cash equivalents is as (a) RBERBRESEEFEWIHNMT:
follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE Z—ZE-_WF
$'000 $'000
TER FHET
Deposits with banks and cash RITERRFERS
on hand 376,158 364,902
Restricted bank deposits (note (i) X R &l 8 77 77 3K (A7 72 (i) (9,930) (8,492)

Time deposits with original maturity REI BB A= AN £H

over three months EHF R (207,651) (57,759)
Non-current time deposits JE BN B 7E R AF K (54,784) -
Cash and cash equivalents in the meReRERNR &

consolidated cash flow statement R & & E Y 103,793 298,651
Notes: B i
(i) Restricted bank deposits represent the cash collected from (i) STREBITERERDEEL, £

property occupants/owners for the repair and maintenance TUBBES ERE-TFEZHE
fund maintained by Shuyi. kREES-
(ii) Included in deposits with banks and cash in hand of the (ii) R-_ZE-_RAF=-A=+—H8 &K%
Group, $263,543,000 (2024: $363,594,000) are denominated EMROTEREFER 2P BE
in Renminbi at 31 March 2025. Renminbi is not a freely 263,543,000 (= T = M F:
convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of 363,594,000 7T) - M AR ¥ 5H1E -
mainland China is subject to exchange restrictions ARBITZAEHRHAIBRNER M
imposed by the Government of the PRC. Bt BERMEDNZASFEK
JiF S0 BE BR i o
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEITBFELAGHNYEE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TEH M AEBRETHME
liabilities from financing activities, including both EHBEEH BRERESEIER
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from SR BETHMELENERE
financing activities are liabilities for which cash ,Ej HeEnetRNkxKBEERE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EeRAEBREARES R E
the Group's consolidated cash flow statement as ERNOEZEZRETHELEN
cash flows from financing activities. HEenmEnNZZEAGE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

BeREASSEYUAREMR
ERhEER (A

METBRELEEENY R

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b)
financing activities (Continued)

Amount due to  Loans from the

arelated party controlling Lease
(interest-bearing) shareholder liabilities Total
EfEEE REER
RHEGE) BRREH HESE @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TR TERT THET THET
(note 19) (note 22) (note 21)
(B E19) (W i#22) (K i21)
At 1 April 2024 R-Z-_MEMA-A - 104,840 6,027 110,867
Changes from financing cash flows: HRERERED:
Proceeds from loans from the controling  REZBRBRE M F G FE
shareholder - 19,500 - 19,500
Repayment of loans from the controlling  EEHE R R R E
shareholder - (86,020) - (86,020)
Increase in amount due to a related party & 4 B & 77 7 83 11 53,911 - - 53,911
Capital element of lease rentals paid EREERENASH S = = (3,440) (3,440)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREEREMMEHSD - - (40) (40)
Totel changes from financing cash flows  BERSRERDRE ! =T L) G40 3
Exchange adjustments BARE L (27 S U (299
Other changes: EmE
Interest expenses (notes 7(a)828(a)) F 8 (87 52 7(a) R 28(a)) 803 - 40 843
Increase in lease liabilities from entering & W B ] 1L 37 8 & 2 10 A9
into renewed leases during the year HEAE - - 682 682
Increase in trade and other payables EREFREMZTEEMN (803) = = (803)
foizlotecranocs B ARRDEE S R T i |
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RE=fA=+-H 53,613 38,320 3,268 95,201
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AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18 HEe LHAESZEYWUREMR

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEETBFRMEEEENYRAE)

financing activities (Continued)

Amount dueto  Loans from the

a related party controlling Lease
(interest-bearing) shareholder liabilities Total
ENBEER KA ER
HEGE) REER HEEE B3t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FET THIT THET THT
(note 19) (note 22) (note 21)

(19 (W it22) (Wi21)

At 1 April 2023 R=B=-Z%#MmA-AH - 74,420 16,216 90,636

Changes from financing cash flows: BRER&HEH:

Proceeds from loans from the BEREERERER

controlling shareholder - 30,420 - 30,420
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERHER&MEEHH - - (11,506) (11,506)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EFHEE &M A B85 - - (401) (401)
Total changes from financing REFENELDER
Cashflows e 040 mson 18513
Exchange adjustments ERBE I 14
Other changes: 8.
Interest expenses (notes 7(2)828(a) ¥ B 3t (#f #7(2) K 28(a)) - - 401 401
Increase in lease liabilities from FERRETIHAEL N

entering into renewed leases HEER

during the year = = 1,331 1,331
Totalother changes Awkoesw - .- M 1%
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_ME=ZA=1+-H - 104,840 6,027 110,867
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AR B AR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18 R4 KBS ZEBEYURHEME

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(¢) Total cash outflow for leases

(c)

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for

leases comprise the following:

ERhEER (A

HERERHAR

REEFARERERTNE

BEREATRE:

2025 2024
—_E_HE —E-_MmMHF
$'000 $'000
FE R FE T
Within operating cash flows EREHRE RN (424) (1,113)
Within financing cash flows TRERS AR (3,480) (11,907)
(3,904) (13,020)

These amounts relate to the following: ZEeHETIZERA:
2025 2024
—E-RHFE Z—ZET_MF
$'000 $'000
T &t FAE T
Lease rentals paid B~ Ee (3,904) 13,020

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19 EZ K H#MEFKE
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-_WMF
$'000 $'000
T &t FAET
Trade creditors 2 5 kN RIE 20,846 22,824
Deposits received from property REMEEE EFPFKBZ

owners/occupants "% 13,462 14,589
Receipts on behalf of utilities companies X & 2 F = % 2 &) WK 13,300 15,510
Amounts due to related parties & < B8 Bt 5 3k 1B 56,724 1,524
Other payables and accrued charges  H il JE 5k 1B K [E 51 & A 48,312 43,257
152,644 97,704
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

20

188

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be
settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

The amounts due to related parties represent balances
due to entities controlled by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang, the
Company's controlling shareholder, which are unsecured
and repayable within one year.

The amount due to related parties of $3,111,000 are
interest-free and the amount due to a related party of
$53,613,000 is interest bearing at 2.8% per annum.

19 ESREMENREGE

FHAmEESREMENRERR
—FABBRBRERKEE-

EAERB T XBE(EERMNANRQBE
BRBCRE BT Al B 8 2 & 85)
SREER 2ERAR-—FREE-

JE <+ BA B 5 ZX 1B 3,111,000 7T A R B
KB mMEN— B @B S RE
53,613,000/ 7t B #&2 F F| E2.8% 5 & °

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing HEREHAR FAZESIREMER
analysis of trade creditors (which are included in trade REMESENRELRZZEZABHN
and other payables), based on the invoice date, is as BRE o M0 -
follows:
2025 2024
—E-_HFE Z—ZET-_MF
$'000 $'000
FET F 5 T
Within 3 months =@ AR 15,804 13,756
Over 3 months to 6 months BB =@EA=N1EA 4,243 8,019
Over 6 months to 1 year HiENEAE—F 354 549
Over 1 year —F N E 445 500
20,846 22,824
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20 6N EE
2025 2024
—E-HFE Z—T_@MmF
$'000 $'000
T % x 5 T
Billing in advance of performance T8 UK B 49 3k 1B 62,119 63,873
The amount of revenue recognised in the year ended 31 BHE-_Z_hF=A=+—BILEE"
March 2025 that was included in the contract liabilities R-_E-_=ZFMA—HiABGLAEE
balance at 1 April 2023 was $63,873,000 (2024: LM ERUWZE S 5 A63,873,000
$74,035,000). BT (=ZF = g £ : 74,035,000 JT) °
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FREMBHmRMET
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A TR R)
21 LEASE LIABILITIES 21 HEAE
At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities were repayable as R_E_RAF=ZA=+—H BEEZ
follows: MmEEBEHNT:
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-mFE
$'000 $'000
FET FE T
Within 1year  T®WN 3083 5,913
After 1 yearbut within2years ~~~~ —%#®@Ewm%x 18 114
3,268 6,027

22 LOANS FROM THE CONTROLLING 22 marﬂiﬂiﬁﬁ A& E AR
SHAREHOLDER AND AMOUNT DUE TO Bk R R T
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The loans from the controlling shareholder are KEEBRBRRERSEER
unsecured.

At 31 March 2025, the current portion of the loans is RZEBEZ_RAF=A=+—H ERZ
interest-free and repayable within one year. MBS REERENR—FANEE-
At 31 March 2024, the non-current portion of $52,360,000 RZE-_ME=ZA=+—H BXRZ
was interest-bearing at 2% per annum and repaid in full 3k Bl 85 =F 952,360,000 7T 1% F | & 2%
during the year. The remaining non-current portion of FFERERFAREMEE 2T A
$52,480,000 was interest-free and partially repaid during HY & 43 52,480,000 T & % B Kk E R
the year. FALHEE-

The amount due to the controlling shareholder, FERERBRRRERESNE)RE
representing the interest payable, is unsecured, non- KR RERBER—FANERE:

interest bearing and repayable within one year.
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A IERRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

23

190

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

REMBRRRPIOAEHR

Current taxation in the consolidated statement (a) HGZEMBERRRPPVENBHRIERE :

of financial position represents:

2025 2024
—E_RFE Z—ZTE_-_WUHE
$'000 $'000
TERT FET
Provision for PRC Corporate Income F A # B 1 ¥ F7 15 5 & &
Tax for the year 14,113 13,059
Provisional PRC Corporate Income B BT R XREH
Tax paid (10,255) (7,823)
Current tax payable B BA fE A % 18 3,858 5,236
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N

M BRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

23

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred
tax (assets)/liabilities
The components of deferred tax (assets)/
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

23 HEMBMRRKRDHNHFEH(H)

(b) ERRELEBBE(EE) BE:
(i) BEZHBEEE) EEE4
B &85 B & B
REEEMENRRERAER
MEBEEHREEE) 8EA
BXER o R FA R &g
™

Impairment Amortisation Undistributed
losses on trade Accrued  of intangible profits of
receivables expenses assets  subsidiaries Total
EFEWTA WEAR
WHEESR EiER EVEERE AIREN @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TEL TEL TET AR TER
Deferred tax arising from: EEHBER A
t1 April 2023 RZFZ=%
mA—H (4,316) (139) 7,584 8,585 11,714
Charged/(credited) to REBEEER
profit or loss from BEBmk/GrA)
continuing operations 1,571 5 (1,772) 2,300 2,104
Exchange adjustments ERHE 226 8 (408) (509) (683)
At31March2024and ~ RZT-M%
1 April 2024 ZA=T-BR
“E-lE
E A—H (2,519 (126) 5,404 10,376 13,135
Charged/(credited) to SEREER
profit or loss from B ‘:F‘ nk/GrA)
continuing operations 591 (5) (1,752) (5,567) (6,733)
Exchange adjustments ERHE 12 - 20 (29) (38)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-R%F
ZA=+-H (1,916) (131) 3,631 4,780 6,364
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iR e B 3R 3k MY EE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A T RR)
23 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23 SEHBMRRARDPHAESH (&)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised: (b) CHEIRELEHBEE) 8E: (&)
(Continued)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement (i) ZEHBEMRERER
of financial position
2025 2024
—E-_RE Z—ZT-_NF
$'000 $'000
T & FETT
Net deferred tax assets REETBERIRRNER
recognised in the consolidated E’] L IER IR E S
statement of financial position (2,047) (2,645)
Net deferred tax liabilities REATBEMRILRANER
recognised in the consolidated  #)IE & %{ 18 & & F %8
statement of financial position 8,411 15,780
6,364 13,135
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () ABAELEHREEE

192

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2(q), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses and
temporary differences arising from property, plant
and equipment amounting to $186,670,000 (2024:
$186,364,000) and $14,394,000 (2024: $29,277,000)
respectively as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which such losses and temporary
differences can be utilised will be available in the
relevant entities. Included in unrecognised tax losses
are (i) losses of $183,046,000 (2024: $183,046,000)
from Hong Kong operations that can be carried
forward indefinitely, and (ii) losses of $3,624,000
(2024: $3,318,000) from the PRC operations that will
expire in five years from the year in which they arose.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

Hong Kong dollars)

24 EXREK #HE

Movements in components of equity (a) AR EH
The reconciliation between the opening and AEBEGZEREZEDSEAKS
closing balances of each component of the Group's DHOMBRERO H RN
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated FREEREHXR - FUNEFRY
statement of changes in equity. Details of the I NYNCIR G = e (a
changes in the Company’s individual components BFBEHI DT
of equity between the beginning and the end of
the year are set out below:
The Company FANAN-T|
Share Share  Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
Rx 4 & R E# -
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TER TETL TET TER
Balance at 1 April 2023 R-ZB-=fMA-ANEH 4,930 249,542 (121,617) 132,855
Change in equity for the yearended B Z_-Z-ME=ZR=+-H
31 March 2024: LEERERD:
Loss and total comprehensive income  FAEBLR2AK LS
for the year - - (10,327) (10,327)
Balance at 31 March 2024 and RZZE-ME=A=+-AK
1 April 2024 “E_MEMA-HMEH 4,930 249,542 (131,944) 122,528
Change in equity for the yearended BZ-Z_ZE=ZR=+-H
31 March 2025: LEERERS:
Loss and total comprehensive income  FAEBLR2AK LS
for the year - - (11,412) (11,412)
Balance at 31 March 2025 R-ZB-RZE=A=1+-A0H
&5 4,930 249,542 (143,356) 11,116
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 24 EXK #1E(E)
(b) Share capital (b) B
2025 2024
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
B#%#E ¢8E BOHUE Gk}
'000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
T & THER Tk TET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each MREE0.017% T
Tk 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Ordinary shares, issued EER BRORAR:
and fully paid:
At the beginning and the end of REDRER
the year 492,984 4,930 492,984 4,930

194

(c)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to

receive dividends as declared from time to time

and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings

of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company'’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of
the Company and proceeds received from the
issuance of shares of the Company. Under the
Cayman Companies Law, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company would be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of the business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

Hong Kong dollars)

24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents the cash paid
for the acquisition of subsidiaries contributed
by the former controlling shareholder in
September 2010.

(iii) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in note 2(t).

(iv) Statutory reserve

The Articles of Association of Shuyi require the
appropriation of 10% of its profit after tax each
year, based on its statutory audited financial
statements, to the statutory reserve until the
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital of
Shuyi. The statutory reserve may be capitalised
as the paid-in capital of Shuyi.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate amounts of
reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company were $106,186,000
(2024: $117,598,000).

Dividend

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024
$Nil).

24 BEXRNK f##E(AE)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BENEER B SO (H)

(i) BEXf#E
EXAEREREAERER
R-ZZE-—ZTFNARKE
MEARMXNMNEAES-

(iii) B 5% f#fE
EXRFBERBEBIINE
BHMEBREMEENRA
ShNIE Z= B B IE MR
2Nz A BURETT -

(iv) J:E f##
E-dEBERMAUEXRE
FREEZERELZYB
WA ER B R TR
0%BMALZERE BEEH
HEINE -ZMEARN
50% A ERBBEAE AR R
E-mERRAE-

1

N>

=

a5 R B
R—_E-_RFEF=ZRA=+—H" 7
HAYREFARAEZERENHE
A $£106,186,000/ L(— & — 1Y
£ :117,598,0007% 7T) °

B’ E
EFTRERNBE 2T
F=ZA=Z+—8 2K E&(
ZEET) e

LE]d
A=
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and
by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its
debt position. The Group's strategy was to
maintain the equity and debt in a balanced position
and ensure there was adequate working capital to
service its debt obligations. The ratio of the
Group's total liabilities over its total assets at 31
March 2025 was 52% (2024: 57%).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group's business.
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

Hong Kong dollars)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposure to this credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
restricted bank balances and cash and bank
balances is limited as the counterparties are banks
with sound credit standing.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group, as where there is credit exposure to the
Group, it is spread over a diversified portfolio of
customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables in connection with operation of
clubbing business and restaurant and bar outlets is
limited because the counterparties are financial
institutions, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk.

In respect of trade receivables relating to the
provision of property management services,
individual credit evaluations are performed on
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates.

25

% ERE

EREMIARF

8 (&)

(a)

FERR
FERREHFIARABTAN
,\Eﬁﬁ%\ﬁlzﬁ‘i@ﬁﬁfméﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ
- AEBEEERBRIERR
E/\\f’f%[;ﬂﬁz, IEoﬁf%@E%‘JE
EERRIFBEEZXSFEE

a =5
B L B

MR RZEFEEBRITEER
2 B AR 17 ZKE@IxﬁE%HE
THEB RS RIRITE % TR
XHEERRBRBR-
REBUVEEREMNEFEARE
EEREERRER-
BEZEWKSE
AEBZEERRETEZEER
FHEASMMEE MIEZXER
KEMETEXBMRAMEZE - A
RAEEBBENEERRD B
RETENEFAEG WAEHE
TEEREFEERR-

AEBEgHR ERELEEMAT
XBEBENEZREFTAMRE
ENEERBRAER TTHREF
TNHASERSAEBEREER
B T B

FEREDEZEEREEHEN
B EWHKEME @5 EEF
BHHHEEEBRE - ETEBN

EPET METBITEHHER
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 i EREEREMI AN
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) FERKGE
(a) Credit risk (Continued) BESEWEGE)
Trade receivables (Continued) AEERSEARZ2HBEHEE
The Group measures loss allowances for trade FEMNSETEZESHERKE
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, ZEEBEE ANDEREEDRE
which is calculated using a provision matrix. ETEE -
The following table provides information about the TREINEBAEBEEE 2 E
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade ERBRURESENZREZE
receivables: HEEBENEE:
2025
—E_REF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHER=X AR EE BEEE
% $'000 $'000
% TER THERT
Property management Y FEHE
Less than 1 year past due  #1 Hi b 50 — 4 0% - 4% 45,067 1,875
1-2 years past due BH— E W F 20% 7,662 1,496
2-3 years past due BEME = F 84% 3,289 2,777
3-4 years past due mE == NF 80% 1,514 1,205
More than 4 years past due # Hi & 1@ /Y 4 73% 2,082 1,510
59,614 8,863
Property management HYEEEEB L
related value-added 1% 8 R 7%
services
Current (not past due) Bl AR (5K %81 H) 0% 1,687 =
61,301 8,863
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RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 B EREERESM T A D F
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (#&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) =EEREKE)
Trade receivables (Continued) EZENKFEE)
2024
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TE B 5 18 K WA E &5 18 B
% $'000 $'000
% FB T F %5 T
Property management YFEHE
Less than 1 year past due  #1 Hi b 50 — 4 0% — 4% 54,993 2,037
1-2 years past due BH— E W F 43% 8,054 3,442
2-3 years past due BmEWE = F 63% 2,660 1,680
3-4 years past due BmHEH =M 4F 95% 1,546 1,461
More than 4 years past due # Hi & 1@ /Y 100% 2,780 2,780
70,033 11,400
Operation of clubbing HESHERE EE
business and restaurant KB 8 P s
and bar outlets
Less than 1 year past due  #1 Hi 50 — 4 0% 2 -
Property management HYEEEHEB L
related value-added 118 IR 7%
services
Current (not past due) Bl AR (5K 81 H) 0% 1,045 -
71,080 11,400

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

%EHHEEHET% NBERFNE
REELERAE YRBELH
B R B AR E AR AT
REMRALEANEEMRRROE
quT_,%f"‘?HHWE’Ji&/Hﬂkﬂ EZ
Bl H ZE ZETH

O]
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AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 B EREEREM I A Q¥
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERKRGE
Trade receivables (Continued) EZENEE)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect ¢ W EWE SERNEEBEE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: gEmT
2025 2024
ZTE-REFE _—T_NMF
$'000 $'000
THET FAET
At the beginning of the year R E 1) 11,400 20,559
Impairment loss reversed (note 7(c)) B # [0 2 & & & 18
(Kt &t 7(c)) (1,553) (189)
Written off | (931) (7,900)
Exchange adjustments & % 38 & (53) (1,070)
At the end of the year R E R 8,863 11,400
(b) Liquidity risk (b) RBELRARK
Individual operating entities within the Group are XEEARE /E'JU rKEERABES
responsible for their own cash management, including BeHeER PEASAHY
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the & § & B EXENEH
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, e &m kKM E i” BB TEE &

HEXNKTE BEBLAFTES

subject to approval by the parent company’s board

200

when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group's policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its relationship
with finance providers, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions or
controlling shareholder to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B AR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay:

25

(b)y REBESEMGE)

HHEEREEREMIARNT
8 (&)

TRIIFTAEEZBRAEBERR
EHRNBTANIBBER 1
DREGHNATRASRER
BRaHMER(K mBFR A
REREHROEAN ) HE
ORISR/ QPSRN S I -
NHROKRFBEHEME L :

7

2025
“E-nfE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRFRAERL

Within ~ More than ~ More than Carrying

1year  1yearbut 2 years but amount at

oron less than less than After 31 March

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2025

R-2-1fF

-ERY -EUEE RMENLE ZR=t-8

REX MWERT EEQT AENRLE @t REE

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

TER TER TER TER TER TER

Trade and other payables B A R E B A 152,829 - - - 152,829 152,644

Lease liabilities BERR 3,098 188 - - 3,286 3,268
Amount due to the R ERERSE

controlling shareholder 4,070 - - - 4,070 4,070
Loans from the controlling ~ REZRBEEEH

shareholder 38,320 - - - 38,320 38,320

198,317 188 - - 198,505 198,302
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AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABTTHRTR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25

202

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MEERRBEERESMIAAY
& (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) "RBELEKE)
2024
“EomE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANATRRERN
More than ~ More than Carrying
Tyearbut  2yearsbut amount at
Within 1 year less than less than After 31 March
or on demand 2 years Syears Syears Total 2024
R-ZF_RE
-ER% -ENLEE MENELE ZA=+-H
BREX  RENT  RENT  RENE @it EmE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL
Trade and other payables ~ ZH R At [ 5B 97,704 - - - 97,704 97,704
Lease liabilities BEAR 5944 115 - - 6,059 6,027
Amount due to the controlling fE 7 1t % & 5
shareholder 5,694 - - - 5,694 5,694
Loans from the controlling ~ REZRBEEEH
shareholder 1,047 105,279 - - 106,326 104,840
110,389 105,394 - - 215,783 214,265
(c) Interest rate risk () FEEMK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from lease liabilities, loan from the controlling
shareholder (interest-bearing portion) and amount
due to a related party (interest-bearing) as
disclosed in notes 21, 22 and 19 respectively.
Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. The Group does not
use financial derivatives to hedge against the
interest rate risk. The Group's interest rate profile
as monitored by management is set out in the
following table.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B AR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

% ERE
8 (&)

EREMIARF

(CONTINUED)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) () R ZEK(E)
2025 2024
ZEC_RE ZEINE
Effective Effective
interest rate $'000 interest rate $'000
EBRA=R TERL EBRAZ THET
Fixed rate borrowings: ENEEE:
Lease liabilities HERE -5.8% 3268  4.2%-58% 6,027
Loans from the controlling shareholder R BB R R & i 0% 38,320 2.0% 52,360
Amount due to a related party JE 1 7 B 2.8% 53,613 N/A -
Total borrowings BER 95,201 58,387
The Group's interest-bearing financial liabilities at AREEBRBREHRNET B © @
fixed interest rates at the end of reporting period BEEE N X) &R # 5K m &
are lease liabilities loans from the controlling ENREZERKRENHEHEAE
shareholder and amount due to a related party that B R ER BT RIE - 5 A
are measured at amortised cost, and the change of REEHW P EHFEANEEMBEF
market interest rate does not expose the Group to ER o A W2 WA K G
interest rate risk. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis b B0 BLRRE 9 AT ©
has been presented.
(d) Currency risk (d) E % & k&

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through borrowings and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currency
giving rise to this risk is Renminbi.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in HKD,
translated using the spot rate at the year end
date. Differences resulting from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations
into the Group's presentation currency are
excluded.

AEBAENINERRE 2K
QM?I\M#@WF?&&E@%N
ﬁ% BIAR B HER&EE le]ﬁb
BB ZEEEE - Bt AR
$H?‘§E‘J SHEBAARKE-

(i) H & %R
TERHFAAEER RS H
ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬂau*ﬁ%gﬁglﬁ
EEB AN E G ED
Eﬁ%éméﬁi,\%ﬁﬁf?zi
MEERR - S25 88
EREe@EXABFLEAND
HEXBRERBBETLIER-
BEBIXBZHBERR
RAEBE2NERMEL

MEBRBDTTAHE-
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A IERRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 B EMEBEE LRSI AN YE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (#&)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (dy E¥EkKE)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

(i) EiE % ERE(&E)

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in HKD)
[ B Sh % = B

(ML % T & R)
2025 2024
—E-RHFE Z—ZE-_NF
Renminbi Renminbi
AR AR
$'000 $'000
TERT FETT
Cash at bank and in hand WRITERERFERR 340 351
Net exposure arising from CHRBEENBEM
recognised assets and liabilities E 4 Z B B F & 340 351

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's profit after tax (and
retained profit) that would arise if foreign
exchange rate to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B AR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(CAB TR

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(d)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

% ERE

8 (&)

EREMIARF

(d) E¥EKGE)
(i) BBEE 7 W (F)

2025 2024
e 2 —E-m#E
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
increase in increase in
Increase/ profit Increase/ profit
(decrease) after tax (decrease) after tax
in foreign and in in foreign and in
exchange retained exchange accumulated
rate profit rate losses
BR B 10 A R ERER
SHEE % KH%@EHU O EE [E & 2 EA
ERHATER)  RD)/#m EAH/ATE)  CED)/Em
$'000 $'000
TERT FRET
Renminbi ARE 10% (34) 10% (35
(10%) 34 (10%) 35
Results of the analysis as presented in the above FRFAESMERERZE
table represent an aggregation of the FIE B AE EREE
instantaneous effects on each of the Group KA ENEAEEERKRT
entities’ loss after tax and accumulated losses EEEREFTEERRE
measured in the respective functional currencies, BARBOTEXZEBRAE T
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling Wi E-
at the end of the reporting period for presentation
purposes.
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the R E D R E SN E E X
change in foreign exchange rates had been LEBHERAREFTEAR
applied to re-measure those financial SERBEHRRBEESH
instruments held by the Group which expose HEENERROSETIA
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end BEESERNAIFBETZYT
of the reporting period, including inter- R BB E 2 B REM
company payables within the Group, if any, B)ot oM T BHE Hﬁ A
which are denominated in a currency other EB 2 HmRBEKAE
than the functional currencies of the borrower. SEZRINEEBRMEEZ
The analysis excludes differences that would EH-MOoMBR_-_ZT M
result from the translation of the financial FARREEET

statements of foreign operations into the
Group's presentation currency. The analysis
has been performed on the same basis for
2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of
the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company's directors as disclosed in note 9 and
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed
in note 10, is as follows:

25 BBEABREERESBMIAAY
& (&)

(e) DAFEFE
AEBRBHEHNEAARZ @@
TECEAMESRER-_ZT-H
FR-_FE-_NMF=ZA=Z+—H
ZRAFEEZERNRNK-

26 EXNBEBARS

(a) TEEEEBAEFHFM
AEET2EEBEABNHME
BXATHWEIRMBENKRRQF
EELMEFIOMBENE T &
SEHEHMESNFKE)NT

2025 2024
—E-RFE ZET-_MWMF
$'000 $'000
T#&x FE T

Salaries and other short-term e hEMEHEERA
employee benefits 9,625 8,938
Discretionary bonuses I 15 12 4L 1,536 -
Retirement scheme contributions [ NEY RO 173 167
11,334 9,105
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with other related parties
In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions:

26 EXNBEBAERZ (H)

(by RBEMBBLTZXS
BRATBHRREMBOAEE
ZR 5 MR AN E R R
TETTINERXRS:

2025 2024
—E_-_RHEF —E-WMHF
$'000 $'000
F & x FHE T
Property management services RKEBBE T Z2MEEERE
income from related parties (note) 4 A (K &F) 50,622 63,293
Short-term lease income received KB @B TN EHMEES
from related parties (note) L ONCIF:D) 1,805 880
Services fee received from related 7] B8 B 75 Y ER A9 AR 7% & (FY #1)
parties (note) - 565
Non-operating income from related 2K B B Bt 77 89 3F 48 &
parties (note) We N (K &) 8 -

Notes:

The related parties represented the entities owned or controlled
by Mr. Zheng Jianjiang, the controlling shareholder of the Group.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the
above transactions were carried out on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary course of
business.

(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions
The property management services income from
related parties disclosed in note 26(b) includes
$50,622,000 (2024: $63,293,000) which constituted
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are
provided in section “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the directors.

In addition, short-term lease expenses and services
fee paid to related parties disclosed in note 26(b)
constituted connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

i 32

BB R AEEERRREBT L
BAHREG TR -

ARREERR LBRXSHTHE
BEEBERFTRE —RBERK

VAL

(c) HBEEXZEBEMNLTRAZ
B A%
£ XXM FE26(0) BT B B 2R B B8 B
2 EE R R WA F - 50,622,000
BT (= — 104 ¢ 63,293,000/ JT)
B EMBUNEUAZERATE Z
BEBRERS - £EmHREF14A
EMEXKBHECRESTERE
RIS ERERS] — &5 H-

e 4N E XXM sE26(0) T R 2 B
NEAB TN EHRER IR
BEEKLETMHRBBEUAZTFR
EZ2HEBERZ - AM BRZE
T HERFE1AATOMNIETE T 2 &
BREKFE HERPET ™M
BAUBEUAZEZHEBRTE -
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AR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

27 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 27 AGEEZHMBRIEE
FINANCIAL POSITION

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZFT-NWHF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5% F&x FE T
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment  # % - B =B & & & 412 414
Investments in subsidiaries RITE AWK E 15 10 10
. 422 424
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables E b pE Uk I8 228 123
Amounts due from subsidiaries  J& U Fft B A 7 3 18 123,769 124,694
Cash at bank and in hand ROGFEREFRERRS 303 1,128
124,300 125,945
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H b JE T 3B 2,689 3,419
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN INGIE @ 10,463 -
Lease liabilities ME&AE 269 422
. 13,421 3,841
Net currentassets ~~~ #"BRE®E = 110879 = 122,104
Total assets less current EEHERABAEE
_liabilittes . ms01 - 122,528
Non-current liabilities EkRBEE
Lease liabilities 7 e 18 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 111,116 122,528
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFEE 24(a)
Share capital % 7R 4,930 4,930
Reserves & & 106,186 117,598
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 111,116 122,528
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RE IS RRMEE

(Expressed in

(CAB TR

28 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Hong Kong dollars)

On 29 December 2023, the Group announced that the
lifestyle entertainment business have been experiencing
a downturn in recent years. In view of the outlook of the
business, the Board of Directors decided not to renew
the tenancy agreement of Zentral upon expiry in June
In addition, the
restaurant and bar outlet also ceased to operate in view

2024 and ceased the operation.
of the imminent expiration of the relevant tenancy
agreement. Accordingly, this business was classified as

discontinued operation.

(@) The results of discontinued operation are as

gl

35:5@‘1‘ Az-+hB &%
MEBTBREEBEIF —ERER
¢ii ERAREBZAIZ EEFgR
TE fE Zentral B9 10 & % & _7_|EI¢
/‘Tﬁﬂ,ﬁﬂ?éK@%‘f%@ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ% lid
SNoBREREERFEIBRE A &
EREMEPMAMmIAEILEEE AL %
X¥BE B RERIELEER -

o

\ml} | \

a) ERUEBEZHBEREWOT:

follows:
2025 2024
—E_HFE Z—ZZT-WMF
$'000 $'000
FET FE T
Revenue B A - 14,968
Other revenue H 4 e A 8 45
Other net gain H b= %5 - 835
Cost of inventories sold BEERFEKA - (6,493)
Staff costs 8 I KA (1,156) (11,744)
Depreciation and amortisation #r & & # 85 - )
Property rentals and related expenses ¥ % 1 & & 18 # 51 x£ (778) (2,986)
Advertising and marketing expenses & & & & 5 % - (3,349)
Utilities expenses KEE (20) (333)
Repair and maintenance expenses  # & R # # X - (150)
Other operating expenses EfEeRx (501) (2,890)
Loss from operations REEE (2,447) (12,099)
Finance costs B & KA (19) (362)
Loss before taxation Br B Al B 1B (2,466) (12,461)
Income tax Frig &t - -
Loss for the year from FRAERLERE
discontinued operation XKEE (2,466) (12,461)
Attributable to: LT A+ 4L
Equity shareholders of the Company 7&K 2 7] # 7 IR & (2,466) (12,461)
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R MWK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AT RR)

28 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) The cash flows of discontinued operation are as

follows:

28 ERIEREXRK(H)

b) ERLEBEXHNREADOT:

PARTIES

2025 2024
—E-_RE Z—ZT-_NF
$'000 $'000
TER FAET
Cash flows used in KEEHHMARE RN
operating activities (6,829) (14,624)
Cash flows generated from KEEHEENR SR
investing activities 2 5
Cash flows used in MEEZBRARE RN
financing activities (2,700) (10,520)
Net cash flows I & mF R (9.527) (25,139)
29 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING 29 EEZRKRARERA
At 31 March 2025, the directors consider the immediate RZE-_RAF=ZA=Z+—"H EFFR
parent and ultimate holding company of the Group to be RAEENEEBERAARKEER
Huiri Limited and Ze Hui Limited respectively, both are AR RERBZERAERAG R
incorporated in the BVI and beneficially owned by Mr. EEERAA -MEAAIEREBE
Zheng Jianjiang. None of these parties produces LEETMKRILEBABREIRLER
financial statements available for public use. mEA - RETERBITEFREITHLAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REBBEHRRM T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA T R 7R)

30 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 30 B#8Z=-Z_-_®H#f%=ZH=+—AH
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS LtFEEEMERRERBNE
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE Ao EARZBENTESR
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 =
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the BHEZSZUKmRE2NEBH FE
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended CHMACSERMEZERBEEZ
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended —THF=ZRAR=Zt+—HLEFEHKRE
31 March 2025 and which have not been adopted in BHEHMARZEMBREENZ %ﬁ
these financial statements. These developments include AR ER -EHR BT AE

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBE#ER
ZERR
MEFTHEBEX

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange
rates — Lack of exchangeab/'//ty

EREGERBE2IR ZEF

1 January 2025

(EFXREFBHEE RS AIXB M —E-_AF—A—AH
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement

of financial instruments

EEMBREENEIRZER 2@ T AL =

1 January 2026

A

\i*ﬂ*El

~

EEVBRERNETR M TAE - RE-HMT AN BRAEZEG
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
EEMBHREENSA RN ZFERE-ZENS —T-_RE—-HA—H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
EEVBRELERNEBR HERXNZINRKE —_T-_t+F—HF—H
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
EEMBHREEANE R TALXALBELNE L A #E —_T-_t+tF¥—HF—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEBEFFBZEEBITIRERAER

HEEBEE - L5RIE A& H
wZ%%%P@EZ%bnT&%ﬁuTE@JT’;

what the impact of these developments is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has

concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a HEEVBERREREATE HEAR
significant impact on the consolidated financial AR BHREEAFISHEKRIN A RTE

statements except for HKFRS 18, where the presentation DJr ZEBEREMERRNES T K -
of the financial statements is expected to change.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
LEMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and
liabilities of the Group for the five financial years is as follows:

AEERBERTEMBERENREAAREE
BakBAEBEMELT:

Year ended 31 March
@:EHE-I--EI&EE*

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“EHF ZR-WF ZEZ=F T T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FET FAET FET FET

(note) (note)

(Fff &%) (B =%)
Revenue A 330,625 378,817 397,092 357,239 302,907
Profit from operations B EER T 41,155 33,329 43,883 20,833 9,444
Income tax expense TS’k X (15,373) (15,163) (18,006) (18,591) (15,679)
Profit/(loss) for the year & Wi I,/ (E 18) 24,004 16,721 24,136 (108) (8,621)

At 31 March
R=A=+—8

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

—E-RE —E-_NE —ET-=Ff —ZT--_F —ET-—&

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FEL FEL FEL
Total Assets BEE 523,409 529,116 537,740 602,338 447 247
Total Liabilities BAaE 272,690 299,154 305,784 358,448 311,556
250,719 229,962 231,956 243,890 135,691

Equity attributable to: AT ATEEER:
- Owners of the Company —ZA R B # A A 250,719 229,962 231,956 243,890 135,691

Note: As described in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group's lifestyle entertainment business has been discontinued during
the year ended 31 March 2024. No reclassification has been made in
financial summary to distinguish the results of continuing operations and
discontinued operation for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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